Chapter 9 Geoengineering: Methods, Associated Risks and International Liability



Alexander Proelss and Robert C. Steenkamp

Contents

9.1	Introductory Remarks	420
9.2	Definition of Geoengineering and Terminology	422
9.3	Categories and Risks of Geoengineering	424
	9.3.1 Solar Radiation Management	424
	9.3.2 Carbon Dioxide Removal	433
	9.3.3 Risks Associated with Geoengineering	439
9.4	Current Regulatory Landscape for Existing Geoengineering Methods	449
	9.4.1 Specialised International Instruments (Potentially) Applicable	
	to Geoengineering	450
	9.4.2 Rules and Principles of Customary International Law	468
9.5	Responsibility and Liability for Damage Caused by Geoengineering Activities	471
	9.5.1 State Responsibility	472
	9.5.2 State Liability	479
	9.5.3 Operator Liability	487
9.6	The Way Forward: State Responsibility and Liability for Geoengineering Damage	488
9.7	Conclusion	494
Refe	erences	494

A. Proelss $(\boxtimes) \cdot R$. C. Steenkamp

University of Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany e-mail: alexander.proelss@uni-hamburg.de; robert.steenkamp@uni-hamburg.de

The authors would like to thank *Wil Burns* and *Tracy Hester* for their valuable comments on a draft version of this chapter.

9.1 Introductory Remarks

Climate change arguably constitutes one of the greatest risks to the long-term health of the world's environment. In 2015, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) highlighted that the Earth's climate system has consistently been warming since the 1950s and that a "large fraction of anthropogenic climate change resulting from CO₂ emissions is irreversible on a multi-century to millennial time scale, except in the case of a large net removal of CO₂ from the atmosphere over a sustained period".¹ Initial responses to climate change revolved around States attempting to reduce, rather than remove, greenhouse gas emissions.² However, as the global economy expands, greenhouse gas emissions have continued to rise and cooperative arrangements aimed at reducing emissions have had limited, if any, impact. If recent predictions are to be believed, the remaining "carbon budget" needed to prevent average global temperatures from increasing by more than 1.5 °C may be exhausted by 2030.³ Climate Analytics estimates that the current Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) made by States under the Paris Agreement⁴ indicate that average global temperatures will rise by 2.8 $^{\circ}$ C by 2100—almost double the stipulated efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels mentioned in Article 2(1)(a) of the Paris Agreement.⁵ The recent IPCC Special Report on 1.5 °C Global Warming concludes that without "increased and urgent mitigation ambition in the coming years, leading to a sharp decline in greenhouse gas emissions by 2030, global warming will [cause] irreversible loss of the most fragile ecosystems and crisis after crisis for the most vulnerable people and societies".⁶

2

As the effects of climate change become more apparent and the need for action becomes more urgent, it is unsurprising that scientists, governments and policy-makers have begun considering climate change strategies that go beyond the reduction of greenhouse gases. This is especially true in the context of contemporary environmental law where commitments to protect the environment are sometimes held to imply that States should consider innovative actions.⁷ In this regard, geoengineering (at times also referred to as 'climate engineering', or 'climate-altering technologies')⁸ is emerging as a potential response to tackling climate change.

¹Alexander et al. (2013), p. 28.

²Schipper (2006).

³Rogelj et al. (2016), p. 635. See also Brent et al., p. 2.

⁴Paris Agreement, 12 December 2015, C.N.92.2016. Treaties-XXVII.7.d (entered into force 4.11.2016) (hereinafter Paris Agreement).

⁵Climate Analytics (undated).

⁶Taalas and Msuya (2018), p. vi.

⁷Reynolds (2014), p. 430; Corry (2017), p. 300.

⁸The terminology used is not coherent. The IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5 °C refrains from using the term 'geoengineering' (see Masson-Delmotte et al.

The term 'geoengineering' is somewhat difficult to define since it encompasses a **3** wide range of dissimilar techniques with varying methodologies, costs and risk levels.⁹ However, it is generally accepted that geoengineering can be understood as the deliberate and large-scale manipulation of the Earth's climate to counteract anthropogenic climate change.¹⁰ There are several methods of geoengineering but, for the present Chapter, individual methods can be classified into one of two broad categories: (1) solar radiation management (SRM) and (2) carbon dioxide removal (CDR).

Before turning to an examination of the differences, risks and methods associated with the activities that fall within these categories, it is important to point out that there exists an inherent tension in the development/deployment of current geoengineering methods and the potential risks that such development/deployment may entail. On the one hand, various geoengineering methods seem to promise considerable benefits, including contributing to the overall mitigation of anthropogenic climate change.¹¹ On the other hand, the potential benefits to the environment and society in general may be offset by the potential harm that one and the same geoengineering method poses.¹² Risks associated with geoengineering include environmental disruptions such as droughts; permanent damage to the ozone layer; an increase in acid rain; negative effects on ocean ecosystems; as well as political and social risks associated with human security. Furthermore, curbing the effects of climate change could lead to 'moral hazard' and deter States, as well as private stakeholders, from carrying out more costly and sometimes internationally mandated climate change mitigation measures.¹³ With a wide array of political, environmental, social and economic risks at play, questions arise as to the compatibility of geoengineering operations with international law. This is especially true given that there are currently no binding international regulations in force that specifically focus on geoengineering as current regulation primarily relies on existing multilateral agreements established for other purposes.¹⁴

^{2019,} Annex I, p. 550). Similarly, the Carnegie Climate Governance Initiative (2019) is attempting to limit use of the term 'geoengineering' to specific situations (see https://www.c2g2.net/whats-ina-name-why-we-became-c2g/ and explanation of core terms: https://www.c2g2.net/terminologyguide/; accessed 1 Apr 2022). As far as ocean-based interventions are concerned, the terminology used in multilateral fora has recently shifted to 'ocean-based negative emission technologies' and 'ocean interventions for climate change'. See IMO Doc. LC/SG 44/3/Add.1, 29 March 2021, Marine Geoengineering: Advice from GESAMP Working Group 41 to the London Protocol Parties to Assist them in Identifying Marine Geoengineering Techniques that it Might be Prudent to Consider for Listing in the New Annex 4 of the Protocol.

⁹Bodle et al. (2014).

¹⁰Royal Society (2009), p. 1.

¹¹Bodansky (2013), p. 540.

¹²Scott (2013), p. 313; Reynolds (2014), p. 427.

 $^{^{13}}$ ¶ 49 *et seq* for an analysis of the risks associated with current geoengineering methods. See also Horton et al. (2013).

¹⁴Talberg et al. (2017), p. 229.

Additionally, and unlike the ambiguous distribution of responsibility associated with CO₂ emissions, the deliberate and large-scale development or deployment of geoengineering methods may be attributable to identifiable actors.¹⁵ The difficulties inherent in measuring, as well as attributing where possible, the effects of deploying a particular geoengineering method may lead to an increase in potential conflicts surrounding international liability and compensation. It is largely accepted, therefore, that the deployment of any geoengineering technology needs to be done against the backdrop of an existing and effective governance regime that includes international liability.

6

7

5

This Chapter is divided into five Subchapters. Following the introduction in Sect. 9.1, Sect. 9.2 briefly examines the definition of geoengineering before turning to a survey of the categories of geoengineering together with each category's associated methods in Sect. 9.3. This latter Subchapter provides an analysis of the major environmental and other risks associated with geoengineering. Section 9.4 analyses the international legal rules and principles that are currently relevant or have the potential to be relevant in the context of large-scale geoengineering activities. This Subchapter provides an overview concerning the key regimes that may be called on to govern geoengineering proposals, including the London Convention/Protocol,¹⁶ the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS), the outer space treaty system as well as customary international law rules and principles associated with the prevention of harm from activities that may have significant and adverse impacts on the environment. Using those liability regimes identified and examined earlier in the study, Sect. 9.5 highlights the options available for international responsibility and liability for damage caused by geoengineering activities. This Subchapter also includes a discussion of the challenges in attributing responsibility and liability for geoengineering activities and concludes with an examination of what a potential geoengineering liability regime may consist of.

9.2 Definition of Geoengineering and Terminology

For the present study, it is important to note from the outset that the terms 'geoengineering' and 'climate engineering' are used interchangeably.¹⁷ Where specific differences between these terms are intended, such intention is expressly stated. Additionally, this Chapter adopts the accepted view that geoengineering does not

¹⁵Lawrence et al. (2018), p. 5.

¹⁶Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter, 29 December 1972, 1046 UNTS 120 (entered into force 30 August 1975) (London Convention); Protocol to the Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter, 14 November 1996, 36 ILM 7 (Protocol to the London Convention).

¹⁷See Rickels et al. (2011, p. 7) for a potential distinction between the term 'geoengineering' and 'climate engineering'. However, this distinction is not utilised within this study, primarily since such a distinction is based on intention rather than a difference in content or meaning. In the present

include 'traditional' mitigation or adaptation strategies, including industrial carbon capture, nor does it include strategies that do not involve deliberate intervention in the climate system, including conventional afforestation and avoided deforestation.

There are currently several accepted definitions for the term 'geoengineering'.¹⁸ The Royal Society defines geoengineering as the "deliberate large-scale manipulation of the planetary environment to counteract anthropogenic climate change".¹⁹ The parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) view the term as referring to "technologies that deliberately reduce solar insolation or increase carbon sequestration from the atmosphere on a large scale that may affect biodiversity (excluding carbon capture and storage from fossil fuels when it captures carbon dioxide before it is released into the atmosphere)".²⁰ For the present Chapter, these definitions are used to conclude that for any proposed activities to be classed as geoengineering they must be:

- Deliberate;
- · Aimed at addressing anthropogenic climate change;
- Of such a large-scale that the implementation of any particular geoengineering method is designed to significantly counteract the effects of anthropogenic climate change;²¹ and
- The activity falls within one of two broad categories: solar radiation management or carbon dioxide removal.

It is relevant to mention that the above definitions of geoengineering are not without problems. Most notably, some argue that the benefits, associated risks and potential cost portfolios of individual methods are too varied to be referred to under one umbrella term.²² Such arguments may be countered by the fact that a collective term provides both a degree of commonality and advantages in the development of governance regimes. However, such terminology may also create a false impression as no geoengineering methods have thus far been undertaken beyond small-scale field experiments.²³ Needless to say, what qualifies as geoengineering is currently still being discussed, and the term should be viewed as referring to "a contested

study, therefore, the only concern for the definition of geoengineering is that the relevant activities are undertaken deliberately.

¹⁸GESAMP (2019), pp. 16–17.

¹⁹Royal Society (2009), p. 1; see also Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012), p. 23 for a similar definition.

²⁰The definition is contained in a footnote to Decision X/33 on Biological Diversity and Climate Change adopted by the 10th Conference of the Parties (COP) to the CBD, https://www.cbd.int/ decision/cop/?id=12299, accessed 1 Apr 2022. Even if it may sometimes be difficult to distinguish between nature conservation and climate intervention on the basis of intent, conventional measures of nature conservation cannot be held to potentially negatively affect biodiversity in terms of the CBD definition.

²¹Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012), p. 23.

²²Heyward (2015).

²³Boettcher and Schäfer (2017), p. 267.

concept that unites a set of heterogeneous proposals for how a targeted intervention into the climate system might be achieved".²⁴

9.3 Categories and Risks of Geoengineering

10 In line with the definition of geoengineering outlined above, this Chapter distinguishes between different methods of geoengineering based on their inclusion in one of two broad categories. Which method falls into which category generally depends on whether the method aims to "treat the 'symptoms' of climate change by altering the Earth's radiation budget without reducing greenhouse gas concentrations, or whether [the method] aims to treat the 'cause' of climate change by reducing the greenhouse gas concentrations that have changed the Earth's radiation budget".²⁵ It is important to highlight from the outset that the present Subchapter does not offer an analysis of every available method of geoengineering.²⁶ Rather, this Subchapter offers a discussion of a select few methods which have been selected for their potential value in shaping a future geoengineering liability regime (see Sect. 9.6). The following discussion highlights, first, the purpose of each category and, second, the methods selected and associated with each category. It is also important to keep in mind that the present Chapter only briefly highlights the categories and associated methods and does not offer an in-depth study of the scientific aspects of each method. The relatively descriptive analysis offered here is done to set the foundation for (1) a legal examination into the potential gaps surrounding geoengineering governance, and (2) allow for a discussion of important issues to consider in the context of international liability for geoengineering activities.

9.3.1 Solar Radiation Management

11 The first category of geoengineering considered here is referred to as solar radiation management. The ultimate aim of SRM is to limit or stabilise warming caused by the increased levels of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere by reducing the amount of solar radiation the Earth absorbs.²⁷ SRM methods do this by increasing the

²⁴Boettcher and Schäfer (2017), p. 267.

²⁵Rickels et al. (2011), p. 37.

²⁶For a detailed analysis of the available CDR and SRM methods, see generally Royal Society (2009); Rickels et al. (2011); Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012). For a detailed analysis of various SRM and CDR methods associated with marine geoengineering specifically, see GESAMP (2019).

²⁷Royal Society (2009), p. 23.

reflectivity of the Earth (i.e. planetary albedo) to reduce the amount of sunlight that reaches the Earth's surface and that, in turn, would decrease average global temperatures.²⁸ There are predictions that SRM methods, especially stratospheric aerosol injection (SAI), would be relatively inexpensive to deploy and are designed to have an immediate impact on global temperatures. This is in contrast to CDR methods (¶ $32 \ et \ seq$), which are predicted to be expensive and involve a substantial delay between their implementation and desired global climate impact.²⁹ The relative speed of deployment and predicted effectiveness of SRM methods may be an important consideration should anthropogenic climate change become immediately dangerous to those communities and species most vulnerable to increasing temperatures.³⁰ However, it requires particular mention that despite expectations that SRM methods will rapidly counterbalance the effects of increasing greenhouse gases, such methods do not directly address the root causes of anthropogenic climate change (i.e. increases in greenhouse gases such as CO_2).³¹

Methods common to SRM can be deployed in three spatial zones, namely, space, including mirrors and other solar reflectors; the atmosphere, including SAI, marine cloud brightening (MCB)³² and cirrus cloud thinning (CCT); and the Earth's surface, including sea ice restoration and desert reflectors.³³ The following Subchapter limits itself to a discussion of five SRM methods. The first three methods examined in this Chapter (SAI, MCB and CCT) are currently the most discussed, with field testing already taking place in some cases, and are, therefore, important for a discussion regarding the international governance of geoengineering. The fourth method, the restoration of sea ice, is a relatively new technique and its effectiveness and environmental impacts are largely unknown. Furthermore, employing this method is also complicated by the ecologically and politically sensitive areas in which it would take effect (such as in the Arctic). However, these particularities involving sea ice restoration offer an opportunity to assess how new approaches (broadly falling under the umbrella category of SRM) can be regulated. The fifth and last method discussed in this Subchapter, space-based solar reflectors, has several implementation challenges but is discussed here for the purposes of international liability, especially taking into account the liability regime established by the Space Liability Convention discussed in Chap. 11.³⁴ Therefore, this study incorporates an

²⁸Hester (2018), p. 225; Royal Society (2009), p. 23; see also Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012), p. 26.

²⁹Lawrence et al. (2018), p. 9.

 $^{^{30}}$ Talberg et al. (2017), p. 231; \P 56 *et seq* concerning human rights risks associated with geoengineering.

³¹Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012), p. 26.

³²MCB is a sub-method of marine sky brightening (MSB). Since MCB is the most developed and researched form of MSB, focus is placed on MCB. However, the principles and risks associated with MCB are by and large applicable to all MSB methods in general.

³³Lawrence et al. (2018), p. 9.

³⁴Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space Objects, 29 March 1972, 961 UNTS 187 (Space Liability Convention).

examination of all three of the above-cited spatial zones where SRM methods could be deployed.

13 Before examining these five methods, two points must be highlighted for this Subchapter. First, the specific risks associated with SRM in general are discussed below (¶ 49 *et seq*) while those risks associated with each of the considered methods are discussed here. This means that the risks associated with SRM in general are also applicable to all the specific methods discussed in this Subchapter. Second, it must be borne in mind that the specifics of deployment and the overall impacts of each method will depend on factors such as geographic location and whether the method is applied at the Earth's surface, in the atmosphere or in space.³⁵

Stratospheric Aerosol Injection

- 14 Currently classified by some as one of the most promising geoengineering methods for cooling the climate, SAI involves the introduction of aerosols into the stratosphere to increase the reflection of sunlight.³⁶ The introduction of such aerosols has the potential to mimic the cooling effects that have been observed after large volcanic eruptions or—at lower atmospheric altitudes—in cities with air pollution.³⁷ Given the research surrounding volcanic eruptions, the focus on SAI has thus far been on the use of sulphate aerosols; however, this does not preclude that other types of aerosol particles may be preferred in future.³⁸ Recent models suggest that the sensible use of SAI has the potential to reduce temperature and precipitation anomalies at both regional as well as sub-regional levels.³⁹ The features of SAI were recently highlighted in the IPCC Special Report on 1.5 °C Global Warming where it was concluded that "SAI is the most-researched SRM method, with *high agreement* that it could limit warming to below 1.5 °C".⁴⁰
 - Despite the above-mention advantages, any study on international liability requires an examination of the potential risks and side effects of current SAI technology. The risks and side effects of SAI identified in the following are in addition (in whole or in part) to the general risks associated with SRM discussed below (¶ 49 *et seq*). The first risk associated with SAI is related to the fact that the injected aerosols have the potential to damage the ozone layer. Ozone depletion has profound consequences that range from higher rates of illness in humans, such as skin cancer and cataracts, to dramatic climatic changes and crop failures.⁴¹

³⁵Royal Society (2009), p. 23.

³⁶Schäfer et al. (2015), p. 41; see also Reichwein et al. (2015), p. 145.

³⁷Crutzen (2006), p. 211; Royal Society (2009), p. 29; Brent (2018), p. 161. See also Cardwell (2022).

³⁸Royal Society (2009), p. 29. This is particularly important to keep in mind since some of the negative impacts caused by sulphate usage may be mitigated or even avoided if aerosols other than sulphates were to be used in SAI (Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity 2012, p. 48).

³⁹Irvine et al. (2019).

⁴⁰de Connick et al. (2018), p. 350.

⁴¹Robock et al. (2008), p. 1; Saxler et al. (2015), p. 115; see also Burns (2010), p. 291.

Continued depletion of the ozone layer also endangers marine ecosystems, biochemical cycles and has resulted in estimates that efforts to close the ozone hole above Antarctica could be delayed by approximately 30 to 70 years.⁴² In addition to the potential dangers to the ozone layer, SAI could also alter precipitation patterns and water cycles—potentially exacerbating water scarcity in certain areas and worsening El Niño events.⁴³ Certain models predict that SAI may negatively affect the monsoon cycle, resulting in droughts and crop failure with a consequent increased risk of famine.⁴⁴ Should such side effects materialise, SAI may intensify the effects of climate change itself. Lastly, and despite ongoing research into SAI, there still exists considerable scientific uncertainty regarding its implementation. In the absence of any past observations that could serve as benchmarks, doubt remains as to whether it is possible to reliably estimate probabilities for the occurrence of a certain type of damage stemming from SAI.⁴⁵

Additional difficulties surrounding the implementation of SAI are related to the mechanisms through which aerosols could be injected. Current mechanisms for the injection of potential aerosols include high-flying aircraft, stratospheric balloons, artillery shells and rockets. High-flying aircraft and stratospheric balloons are currently believed to be the most effective and economically feasible. However, both of these proposed mechanisms are currently underdeveloped and identifiable issues include the need for dedicated fleets of high-flying aircraft since the altitude ceiling of commercial aircraft is too low. Regarding tethered stratospheric balloons, issues here involve the safety of transporting several megatons of aerosol particles through hoses that may stretch several kilometres.⁴⁶

Often classified as the most researched method of SRM, the risks associated with SAI highlight the critical importance of developing a robust and comprehensive liability regime.

Marine Cloud Brightening

MCB is an SRM method that aims to disperse aerosols (most commonly sea salt particles) into low-level clouds which form over the ocean.⁴⁷ Sea salt particles have been identified as a major source of cloud condensation nuclei, which enhance "cloud droplet number concentrations" and therefore reduce cloud droplet size. This ultimately results in a cloud having a higher number of smaller droplets (as opposed to fewer larger droplets) and, given that more smaller droplets have a larger total surface area than fewer large droplets, this increases cloud albedo.⁴⁸ MCB offers a similar advantage to other SRM methods in that it promises increased

⁴²Tilmes et al. (2008), p. 1204; see also Heckendorn et al. (2009), p. 1.

⁴³Saxler et al. (2015), p. 115; see also Schäfer et al. (2015), p. 44.

⁴⁴Robock (2008), p. 15; see also Saxler et al. (2015), p. 115.

⁴⁵Saxler et al. (2015), pp. 116–117.

⁴⁶Lawrence et al. (2018), p. 10.

⁴⁷Schäfer et al. (2015), pp. 44–45.

⁴⁸Brent et al. (2019), pp. 7–8.

reflection of solar radiation with a potential secondary benefit that it may also prolong the lifespan of a cloud, further enhancing its cooling capacity.⁴⁹

19 MCB has been described as a "significantly less risky option" than SAI, however, MCB's primary risks are still centred around scientific uncertainty regarding its deployment and overall effectiveness.⁵⁰ Brief mention should be made of the fact that in 2020, a research team led by the Sydney Institute of Marine Science and Southern Cross University conducted the first outdoor MCB field test above Australia's Great Barrier Reef. The aim of the field test was to evaluate "a delivery mechanism comprised of 100 high-pressure nozzles that can spray nano-sized sea-salt particles into the air", at a time when the Great Barrier Reef was undergoing its third mass coral bleaching event in five years.⁵¹ This MCB field test is part of a long-term programme facilitated by the Australian Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program (RRAP) "to develop, test and risk-assess novel interventions to help keep the [Great Barrier] Reef resilient and sustain critical functions and values".⁵²

Despite limited local testing, the potential effectiveness of MCB has only been assessed with global-scale models, which have poor spatial resolution and exclude any assessment on the scale of individual clouds.⁵³ Moreover, clouds are considered among the most complex and least-understood components of the climate system and the effect that large-scale MCB may have on global precipitation patterns is not fully understood.⁵⁴ In this regard, enhanced precipitation over low-latitude land areas may increase agricultural productivity in some areas while increasing the risk of floods in others.⁵⁵ Certain models predict that those areas where MCB deployment could result in decreased precipitation include South America (as an identified key target area), which could have detrimental impacts on the Amazon rainforest.⁵⁶ Additional risks posed by MCB to the environment include the fact that reduced ocean temperatures and available sunlight "could potentially alter the carbon uptake of the oceans directly by changing seawater chemistry and indirectly by changing phytoplankton production"—possibly impacting other biogeochemical cycles and ocean ecology, including potentially drastic changes to fisheries and other

⁴⁹Brent et al. (2019), p. 8; see also Rickels et al. (2011, p. 42) highlighting that this secondary benefit has recently been challenged.

⁵⁰Scott (2013), p. 328.

⁵¹Carnierge Climate Governance Initiative (2020).

⁵²Website of the Reef Restoration and Adaption Program (RRAP): https://www.gbrrestoration.org/ home, accessed 1 Apr 2022. The RRAP Concept Feasibility Study identified MCB as one of 43 "interventions" requiring further exploration (see Bay et al. 2019). The decision to select MCB and the other 42 "interventions" was done on the basis of their functional objective, delivery method and possible deployment scale. That said, the role that international governance (particularly international responsibility and liability for environmental damage) played in selecting the interventions appears, at first glance, minimal.

⁵³Brent et al. (2019), p. 8.

⁵⁴Schäfer et al. (2015), p. 45.

⁵⁵Schäfer et al. (2015), p. 46.

⁵⁶Bala et al. (2010), p. 916.

aspects of marine food webs.⁵⁷ Lastly, while the primary purpose of MCB is to increase cloud albedo, under certain circumstances the method has been shown to reduce rather than increase albedo.⁵⁸

The above-identified risks offer challenges specific to the deployment of MCB **21** itself. However, the underlying reason for the above risks are rooted in issues associated with effectiveness and uncertainty and are, therefore, not far removed from those risks that SAI methods face.⁵⁹ For this reason, the potentially applicable international laws surrounding the governance of SAI and MCB would be largely indistinguishable.

Cirrus Cloud Thinning

The third SRM method discussed in this Subchapter is CCT. Perhaps less so than SAI but comparable to MCB, CCT appears to be a technologically feasible and relatively inexpensive geoengineering method. In order to understand the purposes of CCT, it is important to briefly note that clouds generally reflect some incoming shortwave radiation whilst trapping a certain amount of outgoing longwave radiation.⁶⁰ This has resulted in the understanding that the location and high altitude of cirrus clouds result in such clouds having a warming effect—meaning that their dispersal, by scattering ice nuclei, could reduce global warming.⁶¹ The presence of such ice nuclei in the atmosphere "would result in fewer, but larger ice particles being produced during cirrus cloud formation, thus causing them to sink more rapidly".⁶²

The primary advantage associated with CCT is that the material and costs involved in its deployment are relatively minimal. The ice nuclei would only be needed in low quantities and, unlike SAI methods, could be deployed using available commercial aircraft.⁶³ Recent studies related to CCT have, as with other methods, highlighted the scientific uncertainties and unpredictable consequences of CCT. Some of these studies have concluded that despite significant increases in scientific understanding of CCT in recent years, this method of geoengineering does "not achieve a significant climatic effect",⁶⁴ whereas other studies point to evidence that CCT could lower average global temperatures by up to $1.4 \,^\circ$ C.⁶⁵ Further complicating the picture of its usefulness, certain other studies have found that CCT, not unlike

⁵⁷Partanen et al. (2016), p. 7607; Brent et al. (2019), p. 8.

⁵⁸Robock et al. (2013); see also Ahlm et al. (2017), p. 13071; and Brent et al. (2019), p. 8.

⁵⁹Lawrence et al. (2018), p. 10.

⁶⁰Factors that affect whether short- or longwave radiation are blocked by clouds include the latitude of the clouds, their altitude and particle size. However, the deciding factor in determining whether a cloud locks short- or longwave radiation seems to be a cloud's latitude (Rickels et al. 2011, p. 42). ⁶¹Revnolds (2019a).

 $^{^{62}}$ Rickels et al. (2011), p. 42.

⁶³Rickels et al. (2011), p. 42.

Kickels et al. (2011), p. 42.

⁶⁴Lohmann and Gasparini (2016).

⁶⁵Storelvmo et al. (2014), p. 4.

MCB, carries with it the risk to increase, rather than decrease, average global temperatures. This risk is attributable to the over-seeding of ice nuclei that would result in optically thicker cirrus clouds which, in turn, provide a net warming effect instead of cooling.⁶⁶

The constraints associated with large gaps in currently available scientific knowledge, including environmental side effects and overall effectiveness, means that an in-depth analysis of this method is unnecessary for this Chapter. Needless to say, it is predicted that any development or deployment of CCT methods will need to be bound by the same international governance regime applicable to SAI and MCB.

Restoration of Sea Ice

As far back as 1965, it was suggested that threats associated with climate change could be addressed by "spreading very small reflecting particles over large oceanic areas" to increase the ocean's reflectivity.⁶⁷ In recent years, a few studies have concluded that microbubbles or foam created at the surface of the ocean has the potential to increase ocean albedo.⁶⁸ Findings in these studies suggest that the creation of such foam and microbubbles at the ocean's surface has the potential to substantially reduce average global temperatures, with particularly positive impacts in the ice-covered polar regions.⁶⁹ In this regard, the Ice911 Research project, which focuses on the Arctic, requires brief mention.

26

24

25

A new proposal by this research team suggests placing certain types of sheet or granular material (such as a hollow glass microsphere solution) on Arctic ocean surfaces.⁷⁰ It is envisaged that the use of such material or solution (described as having a low subsidiary environmental impact) would increase ice reflectivity in the region and consequently reduce currently projected temperature increases.⁷¹ In February 2020, the Ice911 project, recently renamed the Arctic Ice project, began field-testing in Winnipeg, Canada.⁷² It has been predicted that the use of this hollow glass microsphere solution has the potential to increase Arctic ice volumes by up to one per cent per year, as well as substantially reduce regional temperatures.⁷³ Supporters of this project have labelled this method as "soft-geoengineering" as it

⁶⁶Lohmann and Gasparini (2017); Kristijánsson et al. (2015), p. 10,809.

⁶⁷President's Science Advisory Committee (1965).

⁶⁸In this regard see the following studies: Evans et al. (2010), p. 155; Crook et al. (2016), p. 1549; and Seitz (2011), p. 365.

⁶⁹Brent et al. (2019), p. 9; see also Desch et al. (2016), p. 107, where another method of restoring ice in the Arctic is discussed. This latter research study indicates the possibility of "enhancing Arctic sea ice production by using wind power during the Arctic winter to pump water to the surface, where it will freeze more rapidly". This study concludes that "where appropriate devices are employed, it is possible to increase ice thickness above natural levels, by about 1 m over the course of the winter".

⁷⁰Field et al. (2018), p. 884.

⁷¹Field et al. (2018), p. 882.

⁷²Arctic Ice Project (2021).

⁷³Field et al. (2018), p. 896.

has less associated risks and is easily withdrawn from use compared to other geoengineering options.⁷⁴

However, as with all methods of geoengineering currently under discussion, the 27 long-term effects of increasing ocean albedo are not well known. Potential environmental impacts associated with such methods are numerous—including the potential to exacerbate ocean acidification, negatively influence ocean species as a result of changing temperature effects and reduced sunlight as well as potentially changing global and or regional precipitation patterns.⁷⁵ Considering the use of such (or similar) methods in the highly sensitive polar regions carries with it increased environmental risks,⁷⁶ where the disruption or a slowing of ice melting patterns may impact fragile ecosystems and the habitat and migration patterns of Arctic or Antarctic species found nowhere else on Earth. Apart from these environmental concerns, the proposal of the Arctic Ice Project discussed above may also pose human rights issues associated with indigenous peoples. Some commentators have expressed concern that the indigenous peoples of the Arctic have not consented to or do not fully appreciate the extent that geoengineering research and deployment in the Arctic may have on local ecology, which ecology may already be under pressure from existing extraction projects related to oil and gas wells and other forms of mining.⁷⁷

The restoration of sea ice by increasing ocean or ice albedo (as in the Arctic Ice project) has received considerably less attention than other methods of geoengineering. In the absence of detailed scientific information, the uncertainties regarding this method of SRM make any evaluation of potential cost and effective-ness that much more complex.

Space-Based Solar Reflectors

The last method of SRM detailed in this Chapter involves the installation of reflective mirrors between the Earth and the Sun to reduce incoming solar radiation.⁷⁸ Installation options include placing mirrors between the Earth and the Sun or in orbit around the Earth. Additional options include deploying either a 'cloud' of reflective spacecraft or an artificial equatorial ring of passive particles.⁷⁹ Not unlike other SRM techniques, the use of space-based solar reflectors offers to compensate for much of the warming caused by anthropogenic CO₂ emissions in a relatively short amount of time.⁸⁰

⁷⁴Geoengineering Monitor (2018).

⁷⁵Robock (2011), p. 383; Brent et al. (2019), p. 9.

⁷⁶The fragility of the Arctic is exemplified by findings that it is warming at twice the rate of the global average (see Clark and Lee 2019, p. 8490).

⁷⁷Geoengineering Monitor (2019).

⁷⁸Lunt et al. (2008), p. 1.

⁷⁹Kosugi (2010), p. 242; Pearson et al. (2006), p. 46; see also Scott (2013), p. 329.

⁸⁰Rickels et al. (2011), p. 40.

However, it must be noted that this method has several disadvantages and is not considered in the same light as the previously discussed methods, primarily due to the associated practicalities, material needs and energy costs. Indeed, an informal meeting concerning space-based solar engineering in November 2019 found that "space-based solar geoengineering is not a plausible near-term goal or aspiration".⁸¹ The main disadvantages associated with this method are that whenever a section of the reflective material is in the Earth's shadow, no radiation would be reflected. Additionally, current predictions indicate that uniform shading caused by the reflective system would be difficult to achieve and, depending on the location of its deployment, the position of the reflector may have to be continuously corrected to fully realise the intended benefits.⁸² The use of reflectors in space also comes with several environmental risks, including potentially irreversible damage to the hydrologic cycle as well as the Atlantic deep-water formation.⁸³ Finally, the material used would need to be of sufficient mass to ensure that it is not immediately pushed out of orbit once deployed-particularly difficult given that there is considerable lightpressure force exerted by the very sunlight such a system is designed to scatter.⁸⁴ However, the material requirements to produce sufficient mass for the components of a reflective system naturally results in greater costs for both development and deployment. These many disadvantages resulted in the United States House of Representatives Committee on Space and Technology noting that "due to high projected costs, technological infeasibility and unacceptable environmental and political risks, the solar radiation management (SRM) strategy of space-based mirrors should be a low priority consideration for research".⁸⁵

31

The numerous prohibitive constraints associated with costs, timescales, practicalities and environmental side effects results in an in-depth analysis of this method being unnecessary for this Chapter. Current proposals for this SRM method rely on extensive future technological developments as well as a dramatic reduction in material transport costs.⁸⁶ That said, it is important to highlight that the implementation of this method of SRM is different to the previously discussed methods (deployment in space versus atmosphere/surface-based deployment) and the applicable governance regime is therefore predicted to have some notable differences.

⁸¹Keith et al. (2020).

⁸²Rickels et al. (2011), p. 40.

⁸³Rickels et al. (2011), p. 40.

⁸⁴Royal Society (2009), p. 32.

⁸⁵U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Science and Technology (2010).

⁸⁶Lawrence et al. (2018), p. 13.

9.3.2 Carbon Dioxide Removal

As with the individual SRM methods examined above, it bears mentioning once 32 more that the risks associated with CDR generally are discussed below ($\P 65 \ et \ seq$) while those risks associated with individual methods are discussed here. CDR methods aim to slow or reverse the current increase in future atmospheric CO_2 concentrations, accelerate the natural removal of atmospheric CO₂, and increase the storage of carbon in land, ocean and geological reservoirs.⁸⁷ For this reason, CDR technologies are increasingly referred to as "negative emissions technologies" (NETs) or, as is often the case, the two terms are used synonymously.⁸⁸ There appears to be international consensus that NETs are "rapidly becoming a prominent feature of the international climate governance landscape", and CDR methods have already progressed further than SRM methods in that field testing has occurred on a comparably large scale.⁸⁹ In response to this, CDR methods have attracted the bulk of the attention of the international community, which has opted in favour of establishing a "moratorium" on large-scale ocean fertilisation, a method that is detailed below (¶ 35 et seq). Despite this, however, the IPCC has recently concluded that all "pathways that limit global warming to 1.5 °C with limited or no overshoot project the use of CDR" and that CDR methods will "in most cases achieve net negative emissions to return global warming to $1.5 \,^{\circ}\text{C}^{"}$.⁹⁰ NETs are also seen by the IPCC as well as the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)⁹¹ as important in achieving the climate goals set in the Paris Agreement. This necessitates an understanding of the associated methods (discussed below) as well as detailed knowledge of the gaps in the current governance structure (¶ 71 et seq).

CDR approaches are based on the fact that CO_2 is naturally sequestered by way of certain physical, chemical and biological processes. The physical processes involved here include either accelerating the ventilation of the ocean by increasing circulation or by directly transporting CO_2 to the deep sea.⁹² The chemical processes involve the natural and chemical weathering reaction with rock or soil (i.e. CO_2 becomes bound to minerals in rock and soil, meaning it is removed from the atmosphere).⁹³ Lastly, the relevant biological processes involve marine phytoplankton on the surface layers of the ocean which, by way of photosynthesis, convert approximately half the Earth's CO_2 into organic carbon. After completion of its life cycle, a small portion of the biomass of marine phytoplankton sinks to great depths or the bottom of the

⁸⁷Stocker et al. (2013), p. 98.

⁸⁸McClaren (2012), p. 489.

⁸⁹Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,114.

⁹⁰Allen et al. (2018), p. 17.

⁹¹United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2017), p. 65.

⁹²Rickels et al. (2011), p. 45.

⁹³Rickels et al. (2011), p. 46.

ocean before remineralisation processes transform the organic material into CO_2 , nutrients and other chemical forms.⁹⁴

34

With these physical, chemical and biological processes in mind, CDR technologies aim to increase or enhance the natural sequestration of carbon as even a small increase in the ability of natural processes to act as CO₂ reservoirs may result in a large decrease in atmospheric CO₂ content.⁹⁵ This can be done in a number of different ways but, for the present Subchapter, those methods associated with biological and physical sequestration are of primary concern since their current governance structures are the most advanced, thereby offering significant insight into any potential geoengineering liability regime. The following Subchapters examine ocean fertilisation (a biological process), artificial upwelling/downwelling (a physical process) as well as carbon capture and storage (also a physical process). Given that many of the CDR methods associated with such processes are oceanbased, it is important to highlight that the governance regime established by the UNCLOS will, to a greater or lesser degree, always be relevant to the CDR methods discussed in this Subchapter.

Ocean Fertilisation

35

The ocean sequesters approximately one-third of anthropogenic CO_2 emissions and is a major carbon sink.⁹⁶ The sequestration of carbon by the ocean is done in a number of ways, however, its role as a 'biological carbon pump' is the most pertinent for ocean fertilisation. As a biological process, the carbon pump can be summarised as follows:

The starting point for this process is the fixation of dissolved inorganic CO2 in shallow ocean waters by phytoplankton in the process of photosynthesis, converting the CO2 into an organic form. While the bulk of fixed organic carbon is remineralized in the upper layers of the ocean and released to the atmosphere, a portion is transported downwards by the sinking of dead phytoplankton biomass and zooplankton fecal pellets into the deep ocean and sediments (i.e., ocean floor). Carbon sinking to the level of sediments can be sequestered for decades to centuries, or even longer.⁹⁷

36

With this process in mind, the aim of ocean fertilisation is to add nutrients to the ocean to increase biological production which, in turn, should increase the "subsequent sequestration in the deep ocean or sea floor sediments" of carbon.⁹⁸ It should be noted that ocean fertilisation also refers to methods that are aimed at enhancing fish stocks—i.e. the fertilisation of offshore waters to increase fish numbers.⁹⁹ However, this form of ocean fertilisation is not aimed at addressing anthropogenic

⁹⁴Rickels et al. (2011), p. 47.

⁹⁵Rickels et al. (2011), p. 44.

⁹⁶Brent et al. (2019), p. 9.

⁹⁷Brent et al. (2019), p. 10.

⁹⁸de Connick et al. (2018), p. 346; the "biological carbon pump" is defined as the "transport of carbon containing biomass from the surface to the deep ocean" (Rickels et al. 2011, p. 47).

⁹⁹For a detailed discussion of this and other ocean fertilisation methods, see GESAMP (2019), pp. 42–48.

climate change and is, therefore, not considered in this Subchapter as a geoengineering method. Rather, this Subchapter refers to the deliberate fertilisation of the ocean with micronutrients such as iron (ocean iron fertilisation) or macronutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus. Ocean iron fertilisation seeks to increase iron nutrients available to phytoplankton and thereby increase the amount of carbon that can be exported via the biological carbon pump (more phytoplankton means more dead phytoplankton sinking to the bottom of the ocean).¹⁰⁰As a geoengineering method, ocean iron fertilisation has generated substantial interest in recent years and is one of the few geoengineering proposals that has progressed to the field testing stage.¹⁰¹

Some claims have suggested that increasing the growth of phytoplankton in areas such as the Southern Ocean or the equatorial Pacific (as areas where phytoplankton growth is limited by iron deficiencies), may have the potential to offset as much as 25% of the world's annual carbon emissions.¹⁰² However, more recent assessments have concluded that even large-scale use of ocean iron fertilisation may only sequester "a few gigatons of CO₂ annually, even with fertilisation of the entire Southern Ocean".¹⁰³

The large-scale of the proposed field testing has created considerable environ-38 mental concern as ocean fertilisation, whether by micro- or macronutrients, is expected to affect the entire food web since it is primarily aimed at the organisms at the very foundation of that web.¹⁰⁴ Any method that deliberately impacts the food web, thereby modifying systems in the global commons, is likely to have a transboundary impact regardless of its scale of application.¹⁰⁵ Certain studies have also linked ocean fertilisation to accelerated ocean acidification,¹⁰⁶ eutrophication and the production of toxin-producing dinoflagellates.¹⁰⁷ Additional environmental concerns include the fact that extensive and uncontrollable algal blooms will result in dead or oxygen-deficient zones (in both shallow and deep water), which could result in catastrophic consequences for biodiversity.¹⁰⁸ Societal risks associated with ocean fertilisation include the fact that by increasing the growth of phytoplankton, certain downstream ecosystems could be denied critical nutrients which are key to the continued survival of other marine resources, such as fish.¹⁰⁹ Any negative impacts on fisheries will have obvious and potentially dire consequences for the livelihoods of downstream communities and food security.

¹⁰⁰McGee et al. (2017), p. 68.

¹⁰¹McGee et al. (2017), pp. 68–70.

¹⁰²See Brent et al. (2019), p. 10 referencing Powell (2008), p. 4.

¹⁰³Keller (2018), p. 261.

¹⁰⁴ de Connick et al. (2018), p. 346.

¹⁰⁵Schäfer et al. (2015), pp. 27–28.

¹⁰⁶Oschlies et al. (2010), p. 4026.

¹⁰⁷ Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2009), p. 32.

¹⁰⁸ de Connick et al. (2018), p. 346.

¹⁰⁹See Brent et al. (2019), p. 11.

39 The long-term effectiveness of ocean fertilisation as a geoengineering method is also questionable with some experts concluding that the extra absorbed carbon would be "returned to the atmosphere relatively rapidly, rather than being transported and stored in the deep ocean or in sea-floor sediments".¹¹⁰ However, the comparatively advanced scientific understanding of this method, compared to other geoengineering methods, together with the fact that ocean fertilisation has progressed to the field testing stage, has resulted in the establishment of the first geoengineering governance regime (¶ 91 *et seq*). This set of circumstances means that ocean fertilisation necessarily requires consideration in any study assessing the potential liability of geoengineering activities.

Artificial Upwelling/Downwelling

40

As with ocean fertilisation, artificial upwelling aims to stimulate the growth of phytoplankton by providing traditionally nutrient-poor marine regions with additional nutrients.¹¹¹ However, unlike ocean fertilisation, nutrient increases are not achieved by physically adding elements (such as iron or nitrogen), rather, artificial upwelling involves pumping large amounts of deeper ocean water (generally rich in nutrients) to the ocean's surface. This stimulates phytoplankton growth and, subsequently, the uptake of CO₂ from the atmosphere.¹¹² Secondary benefits associated with artificial upwelling include increases in fish production,¹¹³ the cooling of coral reefs¹¹⁴ and the general cooling of ambient surface waters—potentially countering the effects of global warming at local or regional scales.¹¹⁵

41 To date, a wide range of devices have been proposed to enable the upwelling process, including airlift pumps¹¹⁶ and wave-powered systems,¹¹⁷ however, artificial upwelling remains controversial and is currently not at the forefront of discussions considering feasible CO_2 removal techniques. There are a number of reasons for this, the first being that "nutrient-rich deeper ocean water is also rich in CO_2 , which is brought up to the surface and consequently counteracts the fertilisation effect".¹¹⁸ The second reason is that any climatic benefits associated with artificial upwelling will require large scale projects involving a very large number of pumps.¹¹⁹ Additional environmental risks include possible disruptions to the 'ocean thermocline' which will alter cloud cover and atmospheric circulation

¹¹⁰Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012), p. 58; see also Royal Society (2009), p. 17.

¹¹¹German Research Foundation (DFG) (2019), p. 35.

¹¹²German Research Foundation (DFG) (2019), p. 35; GESAMP (2019), p. 61.

¹¹³See generally Kirke (2003).

¹¹⁴See generally Hollier et al. (2011).

¹¹⁵GESAMP (2019), p. 61; Brent et al. (2019), p. 11.

¹¹⁶For airlift pump systems see Fan et al. (2013), p. 48; see also generally Meng et al. (2013).

¹¹⁷For wave powered systems generally see Kenyon (2007) and Fan et al. (2016).

¹¹⁸German Research Foundation (DFG) (2019), p. 35.

¹¹⁹Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2016), p. 65.

patterns, meaning any initial cooling benefits may be followed by an increase in average global temperatures, increased risks of ocean acidification and the restructuring of marine ecosystems.¹²⁰

In contrast to artificial upwelling, the idea behind artificial downwelling is to pump cold surface waters (saturated in CO_2) to the ocean depths.¹²¹ This would allow for 'downwelled' waters to laterally replace "warmer surface waters that subsequently cool and, in this process, take up CO_2 via cooling-enhanced solubility".¹²² At present, there is very limited knowledge of the environmental side-effects of downwelling, however, both artificial upwelling and downwelling have been described as having:

geo-political implications, which are related to where they might be deployed and the scale of the proposed operations. How they would intersect with present day oceanic resource extraction (e.g. fisheries) or proposed marine geoengineering approaches is not known. There is a widespread lack of information for most of these methods, which at present are at the 'drawing board' stage of an initial idea underpinned with some technological [research and development].¹²³

Lastly, proposed deployment zones for artificial downwelling include the Arctic 43Ocean and, since the thickening of ocean ice may be a precursor to increasing successful downwelling, there is reason to believe that this CDR method may be directly or indirectly linked to SRM methods associated with the restoration of sea ice (¶ 25 *et seq*).

Carbon Capture and Storage

Carbon capture and storage (CCS) refers to a variety of different technologies that aim to physically capture carbon from the atmosphere or other CO_2 emitting sources (such as power plants and cement works) and then remotely store such captured CO_2 in human-made or natural reservoirs. Such carbon capture may also be referred to as carbon capture, utilisation and storage (CCUS) when the captured CO_2 is used in other products or services, including enhanced oil recovery. While a thorough review of all available CCS technologies is beyond the scope of the current report,¹²⁴ certain similarities can be drawn between all CCS methods. This includes the fact that most CCS projects will be transboundary in nature since any captured CO_2 is likely to be stored in States or locations other than where it was captured and/or

¹²⁰Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2016), p. 65; Kwiatkowski et al. (2015), p. 1; and Rickels et al. (2011), p. 46. As far as restructuring marine ecosystems go, Brent et al. (2019, p. 12) conclude that artificial upwelling could "substantially restructure ocean ecosystems, including favouring larger phytoplankton, such as diatoms, and resulting in a shift from oligotrophic (nutrient-poor) to eutrophic (nutrient-rich) species".

¹²¹GESAMP (2019), p. 63.

¹²²GESAMP (2019), p. 63.

¹²³GESAMP (2019), p. 24.

¹²⁴Detailed discussion of individual CCS methods can be found in GESAMP (2019), pp. 51–60; German Research Foundation (DFG) (2019), pp. 26–35; and Rickels et al. (2011), pp. 43 *et seq.*

produced.¹²⁵ In this regard, the most attractive and often most available options include offshore storage—whether in/on the seabed, or by way of crop wastes and artificial platforms.¹²⁶

45 Notwithstanding this, there is reason to believe that there may be increasing political interest in changing the current international handling of CCS.¹²⁷ In this regard, the International Energy Agency identifies CCS as the "only technology available to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions from large-scale fossil fuel usage in fuel transformation, industry and power generation".¹²⁸ Similarly, the European Commission has concluded that:

the 2050 target [part of the EU 2050 Energy Roadmap] can only be achieved if the emissions from fossil fuel combustion are eliminated from the system, and here CCS may have an essential role to play, as a technology that is able to significantly reduce CO_2 emissions from the use of fossil fuels in both the power and industrial sectors.¹²⁹

46 Despite the seemingly positive view held by some towards certain CCS technologies, considerable uncertainty surrounding the feasibility, costs, efficiency and environmental impact of storing CO_2 remotely remains. The environmental risks associated with CCS are dependent on the individual CCS technology under discussion. However, as with many CDR methods, the environmental risks associated with CCS technologies are generally rooted in scientific uncertainty, including their biological impacts (connected to ocean acidification and the altering of deep water ecosystems); the increased need for already under strain natural resources (such as freshwater); the stability of liquid CO_2 on/in the ocean floor; risks to both pelagic and deep-sea fishing (associated with both the storage and transport of captured CO_2); risks to ground and river water chemistry; and the fact that CCS facilitates the continuous dependence on fossil fuels.¹³⁰

Unlike SRM methods that are, at this stage, largely dependent on future technology developments, CDR techniques seem to have progressed somewhat further insofar as feasibility studies are concerned. This may, in part, be attributed to the increased discussion surrounding the governance of certain ocean-based CDR methods (¶ 91 *et seq*). However, no CDR method is free of risk, especially considering their potential impact on the marine environment as well as regional and local ecosystems around storage sites.

¹²⁵Langlet (2015), p. 395.

¹²⁶Langlet (2015), p. 395; see also GESAMP (2019), pp. 51–60 for a discussion of different CCS methods.

¹²⁷Langlet (2015), p. 399.

¹²⁸International Energy Agency (IEA) (2013), p. 5.

¹²⁹European Commission, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions on the Future of Carbon Capture and Storage in Europe, COM(2013) 180 Final (Brussels, 2013), p. 11.

¹³⁰GESAMP (2019), pp. 51–60; Langlet (2015), p. 397; Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2016), pp. 52–57; Stenzel et al. (2019).

The above has briefly examined a select group of SRM and CDR geoengineering 48 methods, including a brief consideration of their associated and method-specific risks. With this in mind, the following Subchapter highlights the general risks associated with geoengineering as a whole and provides some examples as to what geoengineering damage scenarios may look like.

9.3.3 Risks Associated with Geoengineering

49 In the absence of large-scale field-testing and deployment, geoengineering intervention has, except for ocean fertilisation, remained largely a theoretical prospect. The lack of experience with "real-world" damage events that have occurred as a result of geoengineering has led academia to envisage and analyse damage scenarios that may materialise from such activities in academic literature. Whether or not these scenarios will ever become a reality is, of course, impossible to establish, taking into account the relatively embryonic Stateof most, if not all, geoengineering methods. Therefore, the following Subchapter starts by accepting that geoengineering activities pose numerous risks of varying degrees to the environment and a wide variety of actors at various stages of implementation.¹³¹ For the present Subchapter, the term 'risk' is understood as referring to the potential for a particular geoengineering activity to have adverse consequences which may result in damage, particularly environmental damage.

The identified risks raise complex questions associated with social, ethical, legal, environmental and political concerns. However, those risks and damage scenarios associated with the environment are of particular importance in the context of the present liability study. Therefore, to evaluate any international liability regime that may potentially be applicable to geoengineering, the following Subchapter briefly outlines all conceivable risks that may be associated with geoengineering, while focussing particularly on the environmental risks associated with the development and/or eventual deployment of SRM and CDR methods.¹³² Whilst focussing on such risks and damage scenarios, this Subchapter nevertheless takes note of the complicated relationship that currently exists between the risks and benefits of one and the same geoengineering method—one method may, for example, pose serious environmental risks but such risks do not exist independently of the benefits that the environmental risks associated with some individual methods have already been

¹³¹This variable risk also includes the scale of at which a particular activity is to be conducted. Large scale field testing and eventual deployment is predicted to cause different and a potentially greater risk of environmental harm than small scale research activities.

¹³²Lawrence et al. (2018), p. 5; see also Scheer and Renn (2014), p. 305.

¹³³See Heyen (2019), p. 91 where Heyen states that solar geoengineering is part of a broader social debate concerning "how to govern novel technologies that simultaneously hold huge promise and substantial danger".

discussed above. The purpose of this Subchapter is thus to compliment those method-specific risks with the general risks that may impact the establishment of geoengineering liability and governance regimes.

51

52

Against this background, the following Subchapter first examines a number of the risks and damage scenarios that are generally applicable to geoengineering, be that during or after development and deployment. The risks and damage scenarios mentioned below should be understood as applying, either wholly or partially, to each of the individual SRM and CDR methods described in this study. After highlighting the general risks associated with these specific methods, the environmental risks associated with SRM and CDR, as the two categories of geoengineering, are then briefly discussed.

General Risks Associated with Geoengineering

It must be stressed from the outset that all risks associated with geoengineering activities are grounded in scientific uncertainty-that is to say that individual risks associated with geoengineering cannot be separated from the uncertainties within which such risks operate and materialise.¹³⁴ Societal, political and other risks are often predicated on the uncertainty surrounding the associated environmental side effects. As research into these side effects advance, it may become clearer which States stand to benefit and which States stand to be more at risk from the deployment of geoengineering techniques. This increasing clarity has the potential to negate continued research into specific geoengineering activities as well as reduce the incentive for States to cooperate in the deployment or development of geoengineering activities generally.¹³⁵ However, "no amount of research will reduce uncertainty to zero", and even where net benefits associated with a particular method can be measured, there remains a degree of difficulty in correctly attributing observed changes in the climate system to one specific geoengineering methodespecially considering that such a method will be developed or deployed in the presence of other anthropogenic stressors on the climate system (including ocean acidification, pollution and the over-exploitation of natural resources).¹³⁶

53

By way of illustration, consider the following fictional example: The year is 2050 and State A, in an attempt to fulfil its international climate obligations, has recently begun large-scale SAI under the auspices of Project Reduce. Scientists agree that State A should start seeing notable reductions in temperature and precipitation anomalies at a regional level within seven years. State B is known for having volcanic eruptions and has also experienced droughts in the past. Such droughts have never lasted longer than one season and have never occurred more than once every 50 years. State B, located some 2000 kilometres away from State A, protests against the action of State A because climate modellers predict Project Reduce will

¹³⁴See Zeckhauser and Wagner (2019), p. 108 for a general discussion on the relationship between risk and uncertainty in the context of SRM technologies.

¹³⁵Heyen (2019), pp. 92–93.

¹³⁶MacMartin et al. (2019), p. 4.

have a detrimental impact on regional precipitation patterns in State B. Such impacts would adversely affect State B's agricultural industry, which makes up 16% of its GDP. In the wake of what is characterised as "the first drought in 45 years" as well as an increase in volcanic eruptions, State B suffers heavy and unprecedented flooding some six years after the commencement of Project Reduce. Leading up to this event, some climate models suggest that Project Reduce may be altering regional precipitation patterns, whilst other models predict no such link. State B alleges that Project Reduce—ignoring scientific evidence concerning its impact on regional precipitation patterns—is the cause of the flood. For its part, State A alleges that the increased frequency of volcanic eruptions coupled with normal human stressors on the environment is the primary reason for the flooding.

The above example does not present sufficient scientific data to offer a convincing conclusion. However, it demonstrates the problems that may be linked to scientific uncertainty and the difficulties inherent in attributing liability (or a portion thereof) to a specific geoengineering activity. Which international legal regime may govern, or ought to govern, such a scenario is discussed in more detail below (¶ 113 *et seq*).

Given the objectives of this Chapter, it is prudent to shape a primary risk 55 associated with geoengineering in terms of international liability and the concept of scientific uncertainty. Even if a particular geoengineering activity is deployed effectively and marked reductions in the negative effects of climate change are measured, "the salient point from an international law perspective is that geoengineering 'would introduce new risks and would shift the overall burden of risks', and fundamental uncertainties would remain".¹³⁷ With this in mind, it is realistic to assume that in deciding on whether and how to use geoengineering techniques, States may disagree as to the potential uncertainties, risks and benefits that may result from a specific geoengineering activity (as in the example above). The relative speed and ease of deploying certain SRM methods in particular may allow individual States-notwithstanding their disagreement with other States over the extent of risks, benefits and uncertainty-to unilaterally deploy or develop a specific activity.¹³⁸ Due to this, geoengineering may generally increase the potential for international conflict and, therefore, increase conflicts over issues surrounding liability and compensation.¹³⁹ As part of the portfolio of responses to tackle climate change, there is the additional risk that the environmental side effects associated with

¹³⁷See Reichwein et al. (2015, p. 146) busy quoting Irvine et al. (2014), p. 842.

¹³⁸Reichwein et al. (2015), p. 146. Such a situation has the potential to result in a climate "tug-ofwar". If State A's ideal temperature points are far removed from those of State B, these two States may implement climate intervention techniques that oppose one another—each State expending resources to cancel out part (or all) of the other's intervention so as to maintain (or attain) their ideal temperature points.

¹³⁹Lawrence et al. (2018), p. 5.

geoengineering could cause novel conflicts and security implications for the international community.¹⁴⁰

56

The societal risks associated with geoengineering are connected to the dichotomy between negative public perception surrounding the impact of human intervention in the climate system and the potential need to respond to global warming relatively quickly. This becomes particularly salient if at-risk communities and species require swift action to secure their continued existence.¹⁴¹ The way in which the international community perceives geoengineering necessitates (1) open and transparent discussion surrounding the development/deployment of individual geoengineering methods, (2) building public trust in the institutions involved as well as (3) strong political will to formulate and adhere to robust governance and liability regimes.¹⁴² However, the inherent uncertainty in the scope and nature of the environmental risks associated with geoengineering adds to public scepticism and, ultimately, the extent of its acceptance.¹⁴³ Additionally, current governance regimes are scarce and existing mechanisms are either underdeveloped or struggle to find direct application to geoengineering. Another important social risk associated with geoengineering is related to the impact that any large-scale deployment of both SRM and CDR technologies may have on fundamental human rights. Craik and Burns capture this construct in the following manner:

delivery of a relatively modest three gigatons of CO₂ (GT CO₂) equivalent negative emissions annually would require a land area of approximately 380-700 million hectares in 2100, translating into 7%-25% of agriculture land and 25%-46% of arable and permanent crop area. This level of emissions removal would be equivalent to a startling 21% of total current human appropriated net primary productivity. [...] Demands on land of this magnitude could substantially raise food prices on basic commodities. This could imperil food security for many of the world's most vulnerable, with many families in developing countries already expending 70%-80% of their income on food.¹⁴⁴

Such large-scale operations may threaten the minimum standard of living and right to food guaranteed under various international human rights instruments.¹⁴⁵

¹⁴⁰Maas and Scheffran (2012), p. 193; also Rickels et al. (2011, p. 31) mentioned the geopolitical objections to geoengineering—including that geoengineering methods may "serve as weapons of mass destruction".

¹⁴¹For a discussion of the public perception of geoengineering (including Germany in particular), see Rickels et al. (2011), pp. 70–77.

¹⁴²Rickels et al. (2011), p. 71.

¹⁴³For a detailed discussion of some of the ethical risks associated with geoengineering at various stages (including the research/development stage; the large-scale implementation stage; and the post-implementation stage), see University of Montana – Ethics of Geoengineering Online Resource Center (undated).

¹⁴⁴Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,114; see also Corry et al. (2019).

¹⁴⁵See the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, GA Res. 217A(III), Article 25 (1948); the International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights, 16 December 1966, 993 UNTS 3 (entered into force 3 January 1976), Article 11(2); and the Convention on the Rights of the Child, 20 November 1989, 1577 UNTS 3 (entered into force 2 September 1990) Articles 24(2)(c) & (e).

One area of political risk associated with geoengineering is centred on the 'moral hazard debate' and the 'slippery slope argument'. The moral hazard debate proposes that geoengineering will undermine preferred climate mitigation and adaptation efforts.¹⁴⁶ Consequently, the political will to engage in new or already established joint international efforts to achieve emission reductions may be undermined. In other words:

if individual states signal their preparedness to limit climate change by the deployment of a climate engineering technology, then this could bring with it a reduction in the readiness of other states to exercise control over emissions. Put simply, the "rest" of the world would then rely on those states having [climate engineering] technologies ready to be deployed to limit a rise in temperatures. The "rest" of the world would then correspondingly choose lower efforts to control emissions than would optimally be the case in view of the possible occurrence of serious consequences arising from climate change.¹⁴⁷

The slippery slope argument, on the other hand, contends that any research into geoengineering has to be in line with existing emission reduction efforts, including relevant international treaties such as the UNFCCC.¹⁴⁸ The concern here is that failure to embed geoengineering research into existing mechanisms risks setting in motion political or economic forces that may influence future national and international decisions to continue and expand geoengineering research, potentially sliding into full-scale deployment, instead of adequately scrutinising the legitimacy of certain geoengineering activities.¹⁴⁹

The above discussion has highlighted the overarching uncertainties surrounding current geoengineering activities, uncertainties that are compounded by the various techniques available and their specific environmental impacts as well as the variable nature of Earth's climate system in general. Such uncertainties give rise to a number of risks, environmental risks chief amongst them. It must be kept in mind that the above discussion has only highlighted general risks potentially attributable to geoengineering as a whole and that it is impossible to accurately assess and predict every possible risk. In order to complete the discussion on the risks associated with the identified geoengineering methods, the following discussion briefly mentions the environmental risks potentially attributable to both SRM and CDR methods and technologies.

¹⁴⁶For an examination of the moral hazard debate, see Lin (2013a), p. 673.

¹⁴⁷Rickels et al. (2011), p. 112.

 ¹⁴⁸ Rickels et al. (2011), p. 115; United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 9 May
1992, 1771 UNTS 107 (entered into force 21 March 1994) (UNFCCC).

¹⁴⁹Rickels et al. (2011), pp. 115–119.

Risks Associated with Solar Radiation Management

- **60** The recent IPCC Special Report on 1.5 °C Global Warming (2018) concludes that although "some SRM measures may be theoretically effective in reducing an overshoot, they face large uncertainties and knowledge gaps as well as substantial risks and institutional and social constraints to deployment related to governance, ethics, and impacts on sustainable development".¹⁵⁰ There are clearly numerous risks associated with SRM technologies and the general risks highlighted above will apply wholly or in part to the development and deployment of all SRM methods. However, given this Subchapter's focus on conceivable, albeit currently still hypothetical, risks and damage scenarios associated with environmental harm, those risks linked to societal, political and/or international peace and security are not discussed further here.¹⁵¹
- 61 Environmental risks include a vast number of direct and indirect impacts associated with scientific uncertainty and the regional specifics under which the implementation of various SRM methods occur as well as the so-called termination problem. While the limited research done into SRM has led to estimates that indicate the time it takes to deploy different SRM methods will vary considerably, the climate system is expected to react relatively quickly once deployment occurs. With this in mind, the Royal Society explains the termination problem—a risk that would persist during the entire period of implementation—by stating that once an SRM method is deployed, the Earth's surface temperatures would return:

towards their pre-industrial conditions within a few years of deployment, depending on the amount and rate of reduction deployed (since a very rapid reduction might be undesirable). By the same token, however, should such a method, having been implemented for a significant period, subsequently fail or be abruptly stopped, then there would also be a very swift and sustained rise in temperature (an upward 'step', rather than a 'spike') and a rapid transition to the much warmer climate associated with the higher CO₂ levels then pertaining. This is referred to as the 'termination problem', although it cannot be foreseen whether or not such a rapid cessation might ever occur, or under what circumstances.¹⁵²

62 Another environmental risk associated with SRM relates to geographic specifics and, therefore, the impact this has on the uniformity of certain methods. The deployment of a particular SRM method within one region or latitude band (as is the case with SAI, MCB as well as the restoration of ice) has the potential to result in large temperature gradient variations between areas in which such methods are deployed and those where they are not—resulting in, for example, excess cooling

¹⁵⁰Allen et al. (2018), pp. 12–13.

¹⁵¹ For a detailed discussion of the additional risks associated with SRM, see the complete studies of the Royal Society (2009), pp. 23–36; Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012); and Stavins and Stowe (2019).

¹⁵²Royal Society (2009), p. 24.

in the tropics or excess warming in higher latitudes.¹⁵³ While noting that the international community has been able to agree to hold the average global temperature increase to well below 2 °C above pre-industrial levels, MacMartin et al. have highlighted that while "agreeing on one number is hard, agreeing on multiple goals would be harder still".¹⁵⁴ The variable impacts on regional temperatures that may be caused by SRM methods will require States to independently manage multiple goals while acknowledging that "it will not be possible to design a deployment that can achieve every possible goal in every region of the world, and the trade-offs involved will require the ability to agree on more complex choices than simply a number".¹⁵⁵ It is evident that the impacts of certain methods are unlikely to be uniform and certain methods may, therefore, pose significant and undesirable risks to biodiversity as well as to rare and/or fragile ecosystems.

There is also evidence that a reduction in global temperatures will decrease "plant respiration rates and therefore increase [the] net CO_2 uptake by the land biosphere", resulting in "entirely new environmental conditions with impacts on biological systems".¹⁵⁶ In this regard, increased CO_2 levels (affecting land primary productivity and river runoff) may have negative consequences for marine ecosystems due to ocean acidification.¹⁵⁷

All the above potential risks take place in the overarching context of scientific 64 uncertainty. In relation to SRM methods, such uncertainty includes the fact that an 'SRM world' introduces a new dynamic in that the heating effects of greenhouse gases and the cooling effects of sunlight reduction would exist simultaneously. The stability and impact of high concentrations of greenhouse gases in combination with a reduction in light quantity remain uncertain and underdeveloped.¹⁵⁸ Additionally, there is prevailing agreement that for the effectiveness of SRM methods to be adequately measured, large-scale field tests will be required.¹⁵⁹ Such a conclusion is relevant for two reasons. First, the international rules and principles usually associated with research and development, which are precaution-oriented and traditionally require initial research to be done on a small testing scale, may be inadequate if testing SRM via large-scale deployment/implementation causes significant harm. Second, large-scale field testing may be indistinguishable from what could be characterised as the gradual initiation of SRM technology.¹⁶⁰ With this in mind, it bears mention that a number of academics have recently advocated for an "International Non-Use Agreement on Solar Geoengineering", calling for:

¹⁵³Royal Society (2009), p. 34; see also Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012), pp. 26 & 45.

¹⁵⁴MacMartin et al. (2019), p. 10.

¹⁵⁵MacMartin et al. (2019), p. 10.

¹⁵⁶Royal Society (2009), p. 34.

¹⁵⁷Caldeira and Wickett (2003); see also Royal Society (2009), p. 34.

¹⁵⁸Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012), pp. 26 & 46.

¹⁵⁹Robock et al. (2010).

¹⁶⁰Royal Society (2009), p. 39.

immediate political action from governments, the United Nations and other actors, such as civil society organizations, to forestall further normalization of solar geoengineering as a future climate policy option. Governments and the United Nations need to take effective political control and restrict the development of solar geoengineering technologies.¹⁶¹

As a final note to the foregoing, it should be remembered that all SRM methods, while having the potential to rapidly reduce average global temperatures, do not reduce CO_2 and other greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere.

Risks Associated with Carbon Dioxide Removal

65 Despite several recent studies on CDR technologies generally, there remains limited research into the direct impact that NETs may have on ecosystems and biodiversity. For this reason, the environmental risks of CDR enumerated here are discussed in terms of their climatic effectiveness, agricultural impacts and other indirect impacts. The variable nature of different CDR methods, including whether such methods are deployed on land or at sea, means that the following discussion only highlights some of the risks particular to CDR and does not represent an exhaustive list. Furthermore, the general risks associated with geoengineering that were discussed above also apply to CDR methods either wholly or in part.

As with SRM methods, the IPCC Special Report on 1.5 °C Global Warming 66 (2018) also highlights that the risks associated with CDR methods are accentuated by scientific uncertainty. In this regard, the IPCC concludes that limitations "to our understanding of how the carbon cycle responds to net negative emissions increase the uncertainty about the effectiveness of CDR to decline temperatures after a peak".¹⁶² The uncertainties surrounding the effectiveness of negative emissions technologies complicates any understanding of the numerous environmental risks that already surround such technologies. Many concerns associated with CDR methods centre around the fact that their potential benefits are generally slowacting, may eventually prove to be only modestly beneficial or even ineffective and the environmental damage they cause may occur before any benefits are ever realised.¹⁶³ Human intervention in natural biological and chemical processes may have unintended consequences for both biodiversity as well as various ecosystems. These consequences for ecosystems will potentially be amplified when methods are used in particularly vulnerable areas, such as ocean iron fertilisation being used in the fragile Southern Ocean ecosystem. With respect to ocean-based CDR methods, a significant side-effect of increasing oceanic carbon uptake is the associated dissolution of CO_2 in water and the corresponding acidification of the oceans.¹⁶⁴ As atmospheric CO₂ concentrations have increased, surface waters have already

¹⁶¹Biermann et al. (2022), p. 4.

¹⁶²Allen et al. (2018), p. 34.

¹⁶³ Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012), p. 54; see also Keller et al. (2018), p. 1135, where the authors state that "the technical ability of CDR methods to remove such enormous quantities of CO_2 on relatively short timescales (i.e., this century) is doubtful". ¹⁶⁴ Rickels et al. (2011), p. 44.

become more acidic. However, if methods such as ocean fertilisation (¶ 35 *et seq*) or those that involve the sequestration of carbon in the ocean (¶ 40 *et seq*) are deployed, this effect could be reversed since the acidity of the surface ocean would decrease as CO_2 is removed from the atmosphere. Instead, the main problem associated with ocean-based CDR methods is that acidification will occur where the CO_2 is stored (generally at great depths where both the ecosystems and the impacts are largely unknown).¹⁶⁵

Negative Emissions Technologies: Fictitious Damage Scenario

The 'Nautilus' is a German flagged and government-funded research vessel that has recently begun a cooperative ocean iron fertilisation project in the high-seas region of the Pacific Ocean off the coast of South America. Together with Ecuador's support, the Nautilus is set to disperse 250 tons of iron dust over a 10,000-square-kilometre area in order to facilitate a phytoplankton bloom in an area that is known to have iron deficiencies. The experiment is part of the German government's ongoing research into assessing whether substantial CDR projects have the potential to meet global climate stabilisation objectives. There is scientific evidence to suggest that the project will not only increase the uptake of atmospheric CO_2 in the region but also the amount of marine life surrounding the Galapagos Archipelago.

Approximately one year after the Nautilus released the iron dust, Ecuador reported an increase in the number of fish around the Galapagos Archipelago and scientists measured slight decreases in local atmospheric CO_2 . However, Colombia claims that the geoengineering experiment has resulted in a loss of fish in a river that borders Ecuador and Colombia, resulting in food security concerns and economic loss to local fishing communities. Some 1,000 kilometres away, Panama reports an unprecedented increase in toxin-producing dinoflagellates which resulted in the temporary closure of the Panama Canal.

There is some scientific evidence that suggests the reason for the reduction in freshwater fish in the river bordering Ecuador and Colombia is the same reason for the unprecedented dinoflagellates in the Panama Canal. Some other scientific models suggest that, given the flow patterns in the Pacific Ocean, the ocean fertilisation experiment conducted by the Nautilus may have resulted in the dinoflagellates in the Panama Canal, however, it is doubtful whether the experiment had any impact on freshwater fish in regional rivers.

The above scenario highlights important questions that can arise as to where and how to attribute liability for environmental damage; how to define damage in the context of methods such as ocean iron fertilisation; the extent to which damage can

¹⁶⁵Rickels et al. (2011), pp. 44–45.

be apportioned to cooperating but not deploying States (Ecuador in this case); and the rights of third States (such as Panama) affected by an alleged breach of international obligations, such as that to protect and preserve the marine environment.

Additional challenges surrounding current negative emissions technologies include difficulties inherent to establishing and quantifying environmental damage. Such challenges are exacerbated by the fact that most CDR methods are being studied and classified in isolation while there is currently limited discussion on the potential environmental effects that may result due to interactions between methods or "between multiple instances of the same techniques".¹⁶⁶ Being able to attribute liability for environmental damage caused by specific CDR deployment will require detailed understanding and knowledge of the potential interactions between CDR methods that often take place within the same broad environmental context, as in the case with those that are ocean-based. Other environmental risks include the fact that several CDR methods, especially land-based methods, are water and other-resource intensive endeavours that may conflict with Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) associated with the conservation of natural resources.¹⁶⁷ Lastly, although CDR methods reduce atmospheric CO₂, greenhouse gas emission levels are unaffected and successfully storing captured CO₂ will have to overcome environmental hazards associated with issues such as "salinization through the permeation of saline water into aquifers and [the] acidification of drinking water".¹⁶⁸ In the broader context of stabilising the climate, the "climatic benefits of [removing atmospheric CO₂] are likely to be negated through further fossil fuel combustion and CO₂ release" associated with processes such as enhanced oil recovery.¹⁶⁹

70

The risks, be they environmental, ethical, social, political or otherwise, associated with various geoengineering activities are all currently shrouded in uncertainty. For this Subchapter, such uncertainties allow two tentative conclusions to be drawn: first, identifying all the potential side effects and quantifying the damage that each risk poses to the Earth's natural and societal systems is not possible. Second, such uncertainties do not automatically and generally preclude, or even discourage, the use of geoengineering methods. Rather, uncertainty arguably necessitates accepting the plethora of associated risks which will need to be managed by developing a far-reaching and dynamic governance regime where its effectiveness will largely be determined by its ability to hold responsible actors liable. With this in mind, the following Subchapter highlights the current regulatory regime applicable to geoengineering methods. It is important to note that the aim of this analysis is not to make a comprehensive assessment of the international legality or illegality of geoengineering. Rather, it serves to provide clarity for the aggregated results obtained in other relevant studies to provide the basis for a thorough examination into what an effective geoengineering liability regime may include.

¹⁶⁶GESAMP (2019), p. 28.

¹⁶⁷Umweltbundesamt (2019).

¹⁶⁸Umweltbundesamt (2019).

¹⁶⁹Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2016), p. 49.

9.4 Current Regulatory Landscape for Existing Geoengineering Methods

The primarily transboundary and partly global character of geoengineering necessitates that the legality of individual geoengineering methods is examined in accordance with the rules and principles of public international law. Following this, any legal assessment of geoengineering must both consider and, for the purposes of regulation, differentiate between the sources of international law, including international treaties and customary international law. In the context of a study dedicated to liability, understanding the regulatory framework is necessary since the parameters of what is classified as a legal activity constitutes a necessary starting point for evaluating both State responsibility, in cases where an activity violates prescribed regulations or laws, and liability in cases where environmental damage results despite the potential absence of a breach of international laws or regulations.

No international convention has ever been adopted for the specific purpose of regulating geoengineering.¹⁷⁰ Virtually all regimes providing regulation and international governance of geoengineering methods currently contain no norms specifically developed with the research and deployment of such methods in mind. Indeed, the only exception to this is the 2013 Amendment to the London Protocol (¶ 93 et seq). The fact that geoengineering activities are nonetheless to a greater or lesser degree addressed by existing international agreements is partly attributable to the framework approach consistent with international law-making. This is particularly the case in the context of global environmental issues associated with areas such as ozone, climate and biodiversity protection.¹⁷¹ In this regard, framework conventions commonly contain general principles and rules, where generality is overcome by annexes to the convention or in subsequently adopted protocols. This often allows the rules and principles captured in the framework convention to be applied to new phenomena that were unknown when the treaty was first negotiated. This ability of international law to adapt is particularly relevant in this context as many of the implementation risks and opportunities associated with geoengineering will likely be quite different when realised from what is currently understood using today's research models.¹⁷² For this reason, any application of existing international law will have to consider the extent to which such international laws are capable of adapting to and governing what are, at present, somewhat abstract technologies with

¹⁷⁰Proelss (2012b), p. 205. In this regard, Schäfer et al. (2015), p. 89, highlights that due to "(1) the time it would take to negotiate [a geoengineering specific] instrument, (2) that 'commons-based' and 'territorial' climate engineering techniques raise different jurisdictional issues and would thus require different forms of international cooperation and decision-making, and (3) that a clear sense is yet to emerge of what the interests of different actors may be", it seems both unlikely and undesirable that a single international instrument to regulate a variety of different methods under the general term "geoengineering" will, at this stage, be established.

¹⁷¹Proelss (2012b), p. 205; see also Rickels et al. (2011), p. 85.

¹⁷²Brent et al. (2019), p. 17.

unforeseen outcomes. Over and above identifiable treaty-based obligations, any activity that poses a significant risk of harm to the environment is also subject to the broader rules and obligations found within international environmental law generally. Such rules and obligations applicable to the purposes of geoengineering may include the precautionary principle; the duty to cooperate (including the related duties associated with negotiation and information exchange); the principle of prevention; the obligation to undertake environmental impact assessments (EIAs); the principle to give due regard to other users; and the rules regarding State responsibility.¹⁷³

73

The ensuing discussion on the legal regime applicable to geoengineering proceeds with two specific points in mind: (1) there is neither a comprehensive treaty regime in place nor an overarching legally binding definition of geoengineering, and the legality of any geoengineering method must, therefore, be judged according to each technology and based on the international rules and principles specifically applicable to it; (2) taking into account the general objective to limit global average temperature rise to well below 2 °C above pre-industrial levels, and in the absence of any prohibition or moratorium vis-à-vis geoengineering generally, international law cannot be held to be generally opposed to geoengineering research and deployment.¹⁷⁴

74 With these points in mind, this Subchapter first examines conventions and instruments that are or could potentially apply to geoengineering. This discussion also includes a brief mention of the currently ongoing negotiations surrounding biological diversity in areas beyond national jurisdiction as an additional avenue for governing geoengineering in the marine environment (¶ 103 *et seq*). Following this, the applicability of a select number of customary international law rules is examined (¶ 105 *et seq*). The Subchapter concludes with a discussion of existing customary and instrument-specific international law which sets the foundation for the following Subchapter's analysis of the responsibility and liability for geoengineering activities that may cause damage (¶ 113 *et seq*).

9.4.1 Specialised International Instruments (Potentially) Applicable to Geoengineering

75 At the fourth session of the United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA) in March 2019, the Swiss government put forward a draft proposal requesting a limited role for the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) in preparing "an

¹⁷³For a general discussion on some of these rules and obligations, particularly in relation to their applicability to geoengineering methods, see Scott (2013), pp. 333–350.

¹⁷⁴Note though, the 10th COP to the CBD has often been referenced as imposing a general moratorium on research into and the deployment of geoengineering technologies (see Sikka 2020, p. 101).

assessment of the status of geoengineering technologies, in particular, carbon dioxide removal technologies and solar radiation management".¹⁷⁵ After it became evident that there was insufficient support from those States present, Switzerland withdrew the proposal.¹⁷⁶ Craik and Burns argue that this failure to engage with the topic of geoengineering is proof that there is currently "little appetite for new international initiatives on [climate engineering]" while Corry questions whether this reaction has resulted in the global governance of geoengineering stumbling at the first hurdle.¹⁷⁷ This lack of engagement seems to suggest that greater emphasis needs to be placed on existing as well as new and more specific governance regimes to regulate both the research and potential deployment of individual geoengineering methods. With this in mind, geoengineering activities must be measured against the requirements of those treaties that are, depending on the factual situation, particularly affected and with the proviso that the State of origin is a party to them.¹⁷⁸

There are a number of relevant international instruments which may play a direct or indirect role in the governance of geoengineering activities, especially considering that many of them codify various international environmental law principles applicable in various temporal spaces, namely the atmosphere, ocean or on land. The following discussion on the existing legal framework that may govern geoengineering must be read in the context of two specific points. First, the below discussion speaks of governance in general, however, it is important to remember that no CDR or SRM methods are currently being conducted other than small-scale field experiments. Additionally, the regimes discussed below are, to a greater or lesser extent, applicable to the governance of both the pre-deployment stages (research and development) and actual deployment of geoengineering methods.¹⁷⁹ Second, despite the absence of regimes established for the specific purpose of regulating geoengineering, the framework nature of international law-making mentioned above provides that even new phenomena are captured by the existing instruments, and, for this reason, geoengineering does not take place within a "legal black hole".¹⁸⁰ The following discussion first analyses specialised

¹⁸⁰Scott (2013), p. 330.

¹⁷⁵Corry et al. (2019) and Switzerland (2019).

¹⁷⁶Corry et al. (2019).

¹⁷⁷Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,114; Corry et al. (2019).

¹⁷⁸Proelss (2012b), p. 207. Note that according to the principle *pacta tertiis nec nocent nec prosunt* codified in Article 34 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (VCLT), which is also recognised as customary international law, third States are not bound by a treaty to which they have not consented.

¹⁷⁹ In this regard, parallels could be drawn between the current exploration phase taking place within the context of deep seabed mining. This exploration phase (primarily for the purposes of research and understanding the risks and benefits that deep seabed mining presents) is a precursor to the exploitation phase where large-scale mining activities may potentially be implemented (see Annex D). With regards to solar geoengineering research governance specifically, Reynolds (2019a) states that "current solar geoengineering decision-making concerns not deployment but instead – for example – establishing and detailing norms, facilitating responsible and effective research, minimizing any harmful displacement of emissions abatement and preventing undue lock-in".

international instruments applicable to all geoengineering proposals, with those instruments specific to either SRM or CDR methods being emphasised as necessary. The Subchapter ends with a brief mention of the ongoing negotiations surrounding biodiversity beyond national jurisdiction to understand the potential future implications for marine geoengineering governance.

International Climate Change Regime

With 197 States parties, the 1992 UNFCCC is the primary legal instrument regulating the protection of the Earth's climate and is, therefore, an appropriate starting point for evaluating current regulatory regimes vis-à-vis their applicability to geoengineering. The ultimate aim of the UNFCCC is to stabilise greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the global climate system.¹⁸¹ As a framework convention, the UNFCCC contains broad obligations mainly limited to procedural requirements associated with obligations to document and communicate information concerning emissions, national policies and best practices. In line with any framework convention, the UNFCCC is given more impetus by both the 1997 Kyoto Protocol¹⁸² as well as the 2015 Paris Agreement.

- 78 The Kyoto Protocol, in operationalising the objectives of the UNFCCC, requires that the industrialised States listed in Chap. 11 of the UNFCCC ensure that their greenhouse gas emissions do not exceed the individually determined reduction commitments contained in Annex B to the Protocol itself.¹⁸³ Article 3(3) of the Kyoto Protocol provides two strategies to achieve the goal of stabilising atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases required under the UNFCCC, namely the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions at source and the removal of greenhouse gases through sinks. Relevant for the Kyoto Protocol and the present discussion is Article 1(8) of the UNFCCC, which defines a sink as "any process, activity or mechanism which removes a greenhouse gas, an aerosol or a precursor of a greenhouse gas from the atmosphere". This definition covers geoengineering activities that are associated with greenhouse gas removal, most notably CDR methods. ¹⁸⁴ For this reason, the objective of the UNFCCC does not seem to preclude the deployment of most CDR methods as these may serve as mechanisms to support the UNFCCC's overall objective, however, the UNFCCC's objectives appear "incompatible with SRM methods that do not seek to reduce atmospheric concentrations of CO_2 ".¹⁸⁵
- 79

Other potentially applicable UNFCCC provisions include Articles 3(1) and 3(3) which deal with the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities

¹⁸¹UNFCCC Article 2.

¹⁸²Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 11 December 1997, 2303 UNTS 162 (entered into force 16 February 2005) (Kyoto Protocol).

¹⁸³Rickels et al. (2011), p. 87.

¹⁸⁴Schäfer et al. (2015), p. 84; Proelss (2012b), p. 208; Du (2019), p. 44; Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,122; Reynolds (2018), p. 67.

¹⁸⁵Scott (2013), p. 330; see also Winter (2011), pp. 280–281.

and respective capabilities as well as the precautionary principle respectively. Additionally, Article 4(1)(c) may also play a role in the active removal of greenhouse gases by calling on States parties to promote and "cooperate in the development, application and diffusion, including transfer of technologies, practices and processes that control, reduce or prevent anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases". These relatively general guidelines could be particularly relevant in regulating geoengineering activities in those cases where no specific regulation exists.¹⁸⁶ Lastly, it is worth noting that together with the Kyoto Protocol, the UNFCCC also creates a notable institutional structure for governing the Earth's climate and that the climate change secretariat already cooperates with both the CBD secretariat as well as the secretariat of the UNCCD¹⁸⁷ on "mutually supportive activities".¹⁸⁸

Any contemporary assessment of the current climate change regime potentially applicable to geoengineering would be incomplete without mention of the 2015 Paris Agreement. The Paris Agreement is not a protocol as defined in Article 17 of the UNFCCC, however, it does have some of the same basic requirements, including the fact that only States parties to the UNFCCC may be parties to the Paris Agreement.¹⁸⁹ Under the Kyoto Protocol, the emission reduction commitments are tied to a specific time frame, the first of which has expired and the second of which is vet to enter into force.¹⁹⁰ Conversely, the Paris Agreement's 'core obligations' do not expire and require that States commit to certain processes and targets. Therefore, the Paris Agreement, unlike the Kyoto Protocol's period-based commitments, provides for a continuous and ongoing process of national submissions for climate action.¹⁹¹ Pursuant to this, the Paris Agreement sets specific 'climate criteria' with the aim that States limit global temperature increase to well below 2 °C, ideally pursuing efforts to limit the increase to 1.5 °C, and establishes binding commitments for all States parties to prepare, communicate and maintain nationally determined contributions (NDCs).¹⁹² In this regard, States parties "shall pursue domestic mitigation measures, with the aim of achieving the objectives of such contributions".¹⁹³ It should be stressed that the "key substantive elements [of the Paris Agreement] are determined at the discretion of each State and, once set, remain political not legal commitments".¹⁹⁴ The Contracting parties to the Paris Agreement are not legally

¹⁸⁶Proelss (2012b), p. 208.

¹⁸⁷United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in those Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, Particularly in Africa, 14 October 1994, 1954 UNTS 3 (entered into force 26 December 1996).

¹⁸⁸Royal Society (2009), p. 41.

¹⁸⁹Paris Agreement, Article 20(1); Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,117.

¹⁹⁰Craik and Burns (2016), p. 4.

¹⁹¹Sands and Peel (2018), p. 299.

¹⁹²Paris Agreement Articles 2(1)(a) and 4.

¹⁹³Paris Agreement Article 4(2).

¹⁹⁴Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,117.

obliged to achieve the NDCs which they have set for themselves,¹⁹⁵ and it is arguably also not possible to 'apportion' the average temperature goal to be achieved on the global level among the Contracting parties in the sense of an individual obligation or result.¹⁹⁶

81

Other important points to keep in mind concerning geoengineering and the governance regime established by the Paris Agreement include the fact that although geoengineering techniques are not expressly incorporated into the approaches to address climate change, certain CDR methods may have to be integrated into the Paris Agreement's central mechanisms to achieve the Agreement's central aims.¹⁹⁷ This is because Article 1 of the Paris Agreement incorporates the definitions in Article 1 of the UNFCCC, including the definitions of 'sinks' mentioned above, and 'reservoirs'.¹⁹⁸ Given that these definitions are not restricted to naturally occurring processes,¹⁹⁹ this may include certain CDR technologies. Additionally, it seems that, like the UNFCCC. SRM technologies are largely outside the scope of the Paris Agreement and "do not appear to be easily amenable to [its] structure and approach".²⁰⁰ However, the procedural and institutional mechanisms of the Paris Agreement "may provide some opportunity to inform the Parties on the current status of [SRM] research, including its potential to address climate impacts and the associated risks of experimentation and deployment".²⁰¹ This is especially true since SRM methods are aimed at responding to the negative effects of climate change and Articles 7 and 8 frame such responses as being the "collective responsibility" of States parties.²⁰² The extent to which either CDR or SRM methods will be regulated by the Paris Agreement rests on the decisions adopted by the Meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement, the central decision-making body tasked with implementing the Agreement.²⁰³ Lastly, it is particularly important in the present context to mention that Article 8, which deals with loss and damage and specifically refers to the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage, does not include liability and compensation. The decision that accompanied the adoption of the Paris Agreement in 2015 expressly states that Article 8 "does not involve or provide

²⁰²Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,125.

¹⁹⁵Mayer (2018), p. 135; Rajamani (2020), p. 169.

¹⁹⁶Voigt (2016), p. 27.

¹⁹⁷Paris Agreement Article 1 read with Articles 4 & 5.

¹⁹⁸ 'Reservoir' means a component or components of the climate system where a greenhouse gas or a precursor of a greenhouse gas is stored (UNFCCC Article 1(7)).

¹⁹⁹Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,122.

²⁰⁰Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,128.

²⁰¹Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,129. In this regard, see also a recent report commissioned by the Swiss Federal Office for the Environment which highlights that the UNFCCC could contribute to the governance of SRM since, amongst other things, the UNFCCC's scope could be interpreted liberally by focusing on its calls to protect the climate system (Arts 3(1) and 3(4) UNFCCC); SRM could help keep global warming within the Paris Agreement's temperature goals and an amendment or protocol could broaden the UNFCCC's objective (Reynolds 2020).

²⁰³ Paris Agreement Article 16(4); see also Craik and Burns (2019), p. 11,127.
a basis for any liability or compensation".²⁰⁴ This decision resulted in several States submitting declarations (in accordance with Article 20(3) UNFCCC) when ratifying the Paris Agreement that the Agreement does not exclude the applicability of general rules of international law, including those associated with State responsibility and liability.²⁰⁵

The general structure of the international climate change governance regime, the risk preferences of individual States parties, the exclusion of liability and compensation from the Paris Agreement coupled with the various approaches to geoengineering represent a challenging mix of factors. This mix may prove difficult when it comes to coherently managing geoengineering, assuming the current climate change regime can do so at all, and further drives the need to establish an international liability regime for damage caused as a result of geoengineering activities. This is seemingly already being recognised as geoengineering has been a part of the agendas of several climate policy discussions²⁰⁶ and the UNFCCC, together with the Paris Agreement, may prove to be the most obvious frameworks within which States could attempt early and effective governance of certain geoengineering techniques.²⁰⁷

The ENMOD Convention

The United Nations Convention on the Prohibition of Military or Any Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques (ENMOD)²⁰⁸ is probably the instrument most pertinent to geoengineering in terms of its specific subject matter.²⁰⁹ Article II of ENMOD defines "environmental modification techniques" as "any technique for changing—through the deliberate manipulation of natural processes—the dynamics, composition or structure of the Earth, including its biota, lithosphere, hydrosphere and atmosphere, or of outer space". At first glance, this definition seems broad enough to include several geoengineering activities which are, by their very nature, activities that intervene in natural processes. However, Article I of ENMOD limits the environmental modification techniques that are covered by the convention to those that are used for military or hostile purposes. This, coupled with the intention of the parties not to address the question of "whether or not a given use of environmental modification techniques for peaceful purposes is in accordance with

²⁰⁴UNFCCC Decision 1/CP.21, Adoption of the Paris Agreement, UN Doc FCCC/CP/2015/10/ Add.1 (29 January 2016) para. 51.

²⁰⁵These States included the Cook Islands, the Federated States of Micronesia, Nauru, the Philippines, Solomon Islands and Tuvalu (see https://treaties.un.org/pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg_no=XXVII-7-d&chapter=27#EndDec, accessed 1 Apr 2022, for a list of declarations made when ratifying the Paris Agreement). See also Toussaint (2020), pp. 4 & 8.

²⁰⁶As can especially be seen in the IPCC's assessment reports discussing both CDR and SRM geoengineering methods (see Ciais et al. 2013, pp. 546–552).

²⁰⁷Lawrence et al. (2018), p. 13.

²⁰⁸1976 United Nations Convention on the Prohibition of Military or Any Other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques, 10 December 1976, 1108 UNTS 151 (entered into force 5 October 1978) (ENMOD Convention).

²⁰⁹Scott (2013), p. 332.

generally recognized principles and applicable rules of international law",²¹⁰ results in the conclusion that ENMOD is not applicable to geoengineering. This conclusion applies even in cases where the risks associated with geoengineering, environmental or otherwise, materialise into real-world problems, especially given the convention's close connection to the concept of armed conflict which is decisive for the applicability of international humanitarian law.²¹¹

United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea

UNCLOS enjoys broad support and engagement in its efforts to regulate all ocean space by attaining a balance between the various rights and obligations owed to and by a multitude of actors.²¹² Despite the fact that a handful of States have not yet ratified UNCLOS, including the USA, many of its provisions have been accepted as reflecting customary international law. Like the Convention on Biological Diversity discussed below, UNCLOS has far-reaching application and may offer both direct and indirect opportunities to regulate various geoengineering activities, including ocean iron fertilisation, marine cloud brightening and methods associated with the restoration of ice in the polar regions. The UNCLOS framework is supplemented by a large number of regional and international instruments to deal with a variety of issues, including environmental protection, shipping and holding States as well as other actors responsible and/or liable for any harm caused. However, given the far-reaching ambit of UNCLOS and the various rights and obligations contained therein, a detailed analysis is beyond the scope of the current study.²¹³ Instead, the following Subchapter differentiates between ocean space beyond and within national jurisdiction to highlight the framework nature of UNCLOS and mentions those rights and obligations which may find general application to ocean-based geoengineering activities.

85

84

The international law of the sea is founded on the principle of the freedom of the high seas. As an area beyond the jurisdiction of any State, the high seas cannot be made subject to any State's claims of sovereignty (Article 89) and all States are entitled to exercise the non-exhaustive list of freedoms codified in Article 87 UNCLOS. In this regard, the freedom of navigation and the freedom of scientific research are particularly relevant to geoengineering activities.²¹⁴ Given that the freedoms codified in Article 87 are not an exhaustive list, any activity that is not prohibited and does not compromise the reservation of the high seas for peaceful purposes (Article 88) may be subject to the freedom of the high seas principle. Consequently, any geoengineering activity taking place in, on or under the high seas

²¹⁰UN GAOR 1976, Report on the conference of the Committee on Disarmament, Vol. I, 91, Supplement No. 27, 31st Session (A/31/27); see also Rickels et al. (2011), p. 86.

²¹¹Proelss (2012b), p. 208.

²¹²Scott (2015), p. 462.

²¹³For a detailed analysis of the UNCLOS and marine geoengineering see Rickels et al. (2011), pp. 92–97; Scott (2015), pp. 462 *et seq*; and Brent et al. (2019).

²¹⁴Rickels et al. (2011), p. 93.

is arguably subject to the same freedom.²¹⁵ However, this freedom is not absolute, inasmuch as States using the high seas must have due regard for the interests of other States (Article 87(2)). Such qualification of due regard is particularly relevant for geoengineering activities that the placement of ocean pipes or other structures, or that involve the injection of iron into the ocean, or the injection of sea salt particles above the ocean—may hinder the freedom of fishing or navigation, or that could cause pollution. Any geoengineering activity must therefore have due regard for other UNCLOS obligations, including those concerning the Area (Part XI),²¹⁶ the protection and preservation of the marine environment (Part XII) and marine scientific research (Part XIII). As such, these obligations may arguably limit the ability of States to conduct large-scale geoengineering activities on the high seas.²¹⁷

Concerning geoengineering activities that take place in coastal State waters, States benefit from having exclusive jurisdiction over marine scientific research within their territorial sea, as a part of the territory of the State,²¹⁸ and within their exclusive economic zone (EEZ).²¹⁹ This means that coastal States can "consequently control the extent and nature of any marine geoengineering research they choose to carry out or authorize" in such maritime zones.²²⁰ However, certain geoengineering methods, including MCB's dispersal of sea salt particles to form low-level clouds over the ocean, have been identified as falling outside the scope of what is classified as marine scientific research and the deployment of vessels tasked with such sea salt dispersal in another State's EEZ is, therefore, not subject to the consent of the coastal State.²²¹ The reason is that such activities, even when performed on an exploratory basis, do not increase knowledge about the marine environment—a mandatory requirement for any activity to qualify as marine scientific research.²²² Whether classified as marine scientific research or not, all geoengineering activities that take place on the high seas are subject to the principle of due regard.²²³

²¹⁵Scott (2015), p. 462.

²¹⁶Article 1(1) UNCLOS defines the Area as "the seabed and ocean floor and subsoil thereof, beyond the limits of national jurisdiction".

²¹⁷Scott (2015), p. 462.

²¹⁸ Article 245 UNCLOS states that "[c]oastal States, in the exercise of their sovereignty, have the exclusive right to regulate, authorize and conduct marine scientific research in their territorial sea. Marine scientific research therein shall be conducted only with the express consent of and under the conditions set forth by the coastal State". For a detailed discussion in this regard, see Huh and Nishimoto (2017).

²¹⁹ According to Article 246 UNCLOS, "[c]oastal States, in the exercise of their jurisdiction, have the right to regulate, authorize and conduct marine scientific research in their exclusive economic zone and on their continental shelf" and that marine scientific research "in the exclusive economic zone and on the continental shelf shall be conducted with the consent of the coastal State".

²²⁰Scott (2015), pp. 462–463; see Articles 56(b)(ii), 245 & 246 UNCLOS.

²²¹Proelss (2015), pp. 291–294.

²²²Proelss (2015), p. 293. See generally Matz-Lück (2017), para. 13; Soons (1982), p. 124.

²²³As far as EEZs are concerned, it has been suggested by Proelss and Hong (2012), p. 377, that Article 59 UNCLOS applies to any marine geoengineering activities which have left the experimental phase and are carried out for the purpose of CDR. This provision covers economic uses other

In this context, brief mention should be made of the ICJ's decision in the *Whaling Case*.²²⁴ Although this case did not deal with geoengineering, it did deal with an interpretation of the term 'scientific research' which may have future implications for the classification of certain geoengineering activities as scientific research, particularly at their research/development stage. In this case, Australia alleged that Japan's whaling programme in the Southern Ocean (JARPA II) was not for the purposes of scientific research but a guise for commercial whaling.²²⁵ Japan, for its part, argued that that the programme constituted scientific research under Article VIII of the International Convention for the Regulation of Whaling (ICRW).²²⁶ Without providing a definition of 'scientific research', the ICJ ruled that:

an objective test of whether a programme is for purposes of scientific research does not turn on the intentions of individual government officials, but rather on whether the design and implementation of a programme are reasonable in relation to achieving the stated research objectives. [...] The research objectives alone must be sufficient to justify the programme as designed and implemented.²²⁷

88 Following the ICJ's ruling that JARPA II was not for the purposes of scientific research, Japan subsequently withdrew from the ICRW in July 2019.²²⁸ This discussion is important in the present context for two reasons: First, it is an indication of the inherent difficulty in "policing the distinction between scientific research and other types of activity".²²⁹ This is an issue to keep in mind when developing a regulatory regime for geoengineering as the regime's effectiveness will depend on its acceptance by a large number of States. Second, the ICJ's finding in the *Whaling Case* may have implications for the Assessment Framework for Scientific Research Involving Ocean Fertilization under the 1972 Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter (London Convention) and the 1996 London Protocol (¶92 *et seq*). In this regard, certain ocean fertilisation activities may be classified as 'scientific research' and, objectively, may fulfil their stated research objectives (as per the ICJ's reasoning in the *Whaling Case*).

than those mentioned in Articles 56(1) and 58(1) as well as other non-economic uses of an EEZ. Given that Article 59 constitutes a conflict rule rather than assigning sovereign rights or jurisdiction to any of the groups of States concerned, activities covered by its terms are, in absence of a user conflict, generally to be considered as lawful.

²²⁴ICJ Whaling in the Antarctic (Australia v Japan; New Zealand Intervening) [2014] ICJ Rep 226 [the Whaling Case].

²²⁵ICJ Whaling in the Antarctic (Australia v Japan; New Zealand Intervening) [2014] ICJ Rep 226, para. 130.

²²⁶ICJ *Whaling in the Antarctic* (Australia v Japan; New Zealand Intervening) [2014] ICJ Rep 226, para. 49; International Convention for the Regulation of Whaling, 2 December 1946, 161 UNTS 72 (entered into force 10 November 1948) [ICRW].

²²⁷ICJ Whaling in the Antarctic (Australia v Japan; New Zealand Intervening) [2014] ICJ Rep 226, para. 97.

²²⁸Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan (2018).

²²⁹Brent et al. (2019), p. 21.

However, whether such activities will be viewed as 'legitimate scientific research' for the purposes of the London Convention/London Protocol remains to be seen. Needless to say, the harmonious application of the freedom to conduct marine scientific research as guaranteed in the UNCLOS with the London Convention's/London Protocol's current ban on ocean fertilisation activities for any reason other than legitimate scientific research would be desirable when establishing a uniform geoengineering governance framework.

Convention on Biological Diversity

With 196 States parties, the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) enjoys nearly universal adherence and has been interpreted as forming "part of the corpus of general international law".²³⁰ The CBD is a multilateral environmental treaty whose broad mandate, strong institutional support and near-universal participation means that parties to the convention have the opportunity to address a wide range of projects that may have an impact on the environment.²³¹ Tasked with protecting and conserving biodiversity, the various environmental impacts associated with geoengineering are clearly matters that fall under the scope of the CBD. In this regard, the CBD has dealt with geoengineering governance in the form of several decisions taken at the conference of the parties (COP), particularly the 2008 decision on ocean fertilisation,²³² the 2010 decision on climate engineering,²³³ several decisions adopted in 2012 related to geoengineering²³⁴ and the 2016 reaffirmation of previous climate engineering decisions.²³⁵ To a greater or lesser degree, all of these decisions have concretised the notion that:

in the absence of science based, global, transparent and effective control and regulatory mechanisms for geo-engineering, and in accordance with the precautionary approach and Article 14 of the Convention, that no climate-related geo-engineering activities that may affect biodiversity take place, until there is an adequate scientific basis on which to justify such activities and appropriate consideration of the associated risks for the environment and biodiversity and associated social, economic and cultural impacts, with the exception of small scale scientific research studies that would be conducted in a controlled setting in accordance with Article 3 of the Convention, and only if they are justified by the need to gather specific scientific data and are subject to a thorough prior assessment of the potential impacts on the environment.²³⁶

²³⁰PCA South China Sea Arbitration (Philipines v China) (2016) 33 RIAA 1, para. 956 [South China Sea Arbitration].

²³¹Reynolds (2017), p. 809.

²³²COP to the CBD, IX/16 Biodiversity and climate change, UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/IX/16 (9 October 2008) (CBD IX/16).

²³³COP to the CBD, X/33 Biodiversity and climate change, UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/X/33 (29 October 2010) (CBD X/33).

²³⁴COP to the CBD, XI/20 Climate-related geoengineering, UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/XI/20 (5 December 2012) (CBD XI/20).

²³⁵COP to the CBD, XIII/14 Climate-related geoengineering, CBD/COP/DEC/XIII/14 (8 December 2016) (CBD XIII/14).

²³⁶CBD X/33, para. 8(w); see also CBD XI/20, para. 1; CBD XIII/14, para. 1.

Notwithstanding the controversial question of whether or not these decisions must be taken into account as interpretative aids when interpreting the CBD.²³⁷ they are relevant for two specific reasons: First, the COP of the CBD has addressed geoengineering generally, coupled with the broad mandate given to the COP (Article 23(4)(i) CBD) and the potential environmental impacts described above, suggest that the CBD is relevant to all activities currently being discussed under the umbrella term 'geoengineering'.²³⁸ Second, the near-universal acceptance of the CBD conveys the strong political will to engage in further discussion on the governance and regulation of geoengineering at the international level²³⁹ even though the COP seems to have assumed an increasingly reserved role on geoengineering-related issues in recent years. Such international discussions will be grounded on the principles enunciated in the Convention, including the obligation to cooperate in areas beyond national jurisdiction and on other matters of mutual interest, for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity (Article 5) as well as the obligation to conduct EIAs where a project is likely to result in significant adverse effects to biodiversity (Article 14). Thus, the decisions of the CBD's COP, together with its broad mandate, could guide the future regulation of geoengineering activities that may have adverse impacts on biodiversity.

London Convention and Protocol

The general aim of both the London Convention and the London Protocol is that all practicable steps are taken to prevent pollution by the dumping of waste and other matter into the sea.²⁴⁰ It must be noted that the Protocol is not a 'traditional international protocol' since it will eventually replace the London Convention.²⁴¹ It provides a more restrictive approach to the regulation of dumping than the Convention by generally prohibiting all forms of dumping.²⁴² In 2006, it was amended to include CO₂ streams from CO₂ capture processes for storage to the list of wastes or other matter that may be considered for dumping. Furthermore, in 2009 a new paragraph was added to Article 6 of the Protocol which has made it possible to export carbon dioxide streams for disposal in accordance with Chap. 11.²⁴³ It is also worth mention in this context that the Protocol also directly

90

²³⁷For a new assessment see Proelss (in print). In the *Whaling Case*, the ICJ made the following pertinent statement: "These recommendations, which take the form of resolutions, are not binding. However, when they are adopted by consensus or by a unanimous vote, they may be relevant for the interpretation of the Convention or its Schedule" (ICJ *Whaling in the Antarctic* (Australia v Japan; New Zealand Intervening) [2014] ICJ Rep 226, para. 46).

²³⁸Bodle (2010), p. 314.

²³⁹Schäfer et al. (2015), p. 113.

²⁴⁰Article I London Convention; Article 2 London Protocol.

²⁴¹Article 23 London Protocol.

²⁴²This is subject to limited exceptions on the so-called 'reverse list' (Article 4 London Protocol).

²⁴³ Resolution LP.3(4) of 30 October 2009 on the Amendment to Article 6 of the London Protocol.

incorporates the precautionary approach, which was not accepted when the London Convention was adopted.²⁴⁴

Whether the introduction of substances are to be qualified as pollution of the marine environment under the London Convention and/or Protocol must be judged on the effects that such substances have on the marine environment rather than the substances' characteristics.²⁴⁵ This is especially pertinent in the case of ocean fertilisation as well as carbon capture and storage (CCS) because their potential to have adverse impacts could lead these activities to be classified as the deliberate disposal at sea of wastes and other matter which, as such, qualifies them as dumping.²⁴⁶ In response to ocean fertilisation specifically, the States parties to the London Convention and the London Protocol initially expressed concern about the activity's environmental impacts in 2007 and, in 2008, adopted Resolution LC-LP.1 agreeing that ocean fertilisation activities, other than those for legitimate scientific research. "should be considered as contrary to the aims of the Convention and Protocol and do not currently qualify for any exemption from the definition of dumping".²⁴⁷ In Resolution LC-LP.2(2010), the States parties went one step further and adopted an Assessment Framework for Scientific Research Involving Ocean Fertilization which "provides criteria for an initial assessment of a proposal and detailed steps for completion of an environmental assessment, including risk management and monitoring".²⁴⁸ In 2014, the ILC concluded in the context of its work on subsequent agreements and practice in relation to the interpretation of treaties that "the Conference of States Parties [sic!] under the London (Dumping) Convention has adopted resolutions interpreting that convention",²⁴⁹ and that "interpretative resolutions by Conferences of States Parties which are adopted by consensus, even if they are not binding as such, can nevertheless be subsequent agreements under article 31, paragraph 3 (a), or subsequent practice under article 31, paragraph 3 (b) [VCLT]".²⁵⁰ In short, Resolution LC-LP.1 expressly recalls the objectives of the London Convention and Protocol in its Preamble and that it introduces, as stated above, a distinction between "legitimate scientific research" and other (i.e., non-legitimate) research that

²⁴⁴ Article 3.1 London Protocol obliges States parties to "apply a precautionary approach to environmental protection from dumping of wastes or other matter" and this article will consequentially be amended to include "placement of matter for marine geoengineering activities which may be considered for permits according to annex 4" when the marine geoengineering amendments come into force (see the discussion below on the 2013 amendments to the Protocol); see also GESAMP (2019), p. 91.

²⁴⁵Rickels et al. (2011), p. 94.

²⁴⁶See Article III(1) London Convention and Article 1(4) London Protocol.

²⁴⁷Resolution LC-LP.1(2008) of 31 October 2008 on the Regulation of Ocean Fertilization.

²⁴⁸Resolution LC-LP.2(2010) of 14 October 2010 on the Assessment Framework for Scientific Research Involving Ocean Fertilization.

²⁴⁹UN Doc A/69/10, Report of the International Law Commission on the Work of its Sixty-Sixth Session (2014), Chapter VII, Commentary to Draft Conclusion 10, para. 12.

²⁵⁰UN Doc A/69/10, Report of the International Law Commission on the Work of its Sixty-Sixth Session (2014), Chapter VII, Commentary to Draft Conclusion 10, para. 38.

is further substantiated by Resolution LC-LP.2(2010). Given this, the argument can be made that the two resolutions can be relied upon as interpretative tools under Article 31(3) VCLT to make it possible for the responsible authorities of the Contracting parties to decide whether an ocean fertilisation experiment can be authorized or not.

93

In 2013, the meeting of the parties of the London Protocol adopted several amendments to the Protocol which provide the first step towards legally binding regulation of ocean fertilisation and, at least potentially, marine geoengineering in general.²⁵¹ However, with only six acceptance instruments currently deposited with the International Maritime Organization (out of the two-thirds of States parties required for adoption), the 2013 amendments are yet to enter into force.²⁵²

94

Despite this current lack of legal effect, a few brief points regarding the 2013 amendments are worth noting. First, for the first time in an international instrument, the 2013 amendments introduce a definition of 'marine geoengineering' (Article 1(5) bis) that is broad enough to include various geoengineering methods rather than just ocean fertilisation.²⁵³ Second, the 2013 amendments introduce a geoengineering regulatory framework which stipulates that States "shall not allow the placement of matter into the sea from vessels, aircraft, platforms or other man-made structures at sea for marine geoengineering activities listed in Chap. 13, unless the listing provides that the activity or the subcategory of an activity may be authorized under a permit" (Article 6bis). Consequently, Article 6bis creates the presumption that geoengineering is not permitted, subject to those limited exceptions which are agreed upon by the States parties and listed in Chap. 13. Third, the regulatory framework instituted by Article 6bis is limited to the "placement of matter into the sea" and the extent to which SRM methods associated with the placement of reflective material onto (as opposed to into) the sea are covered by its terms is highly questionable.²⁵⁴ The same applies with regard to methods that use "the oceans as a tool from which to effect geoengineering but which do not involve the placement of matter therein", as in the case of marine cloud brightening.²⁵⁵

²⁵¹Resolution LP.4(8) of 18 October 2013, Amendment to the London Protocol to Regulate the Placement of Matter for Ocean Fertilization and other Marine Geoengineering Activities. The Amendment is included as Annex 4 in LC 35/15. For an initial assessment see Ginzky and Frost (2014), pp. 82 *et seq;* see generally also Boschen (2015); and Ringbom et al. (2018), pp. 59–63.

²⁵²With 53 States currently party to the London Protocol, 36 States would need to ratify the 2013 amendment for it to be adopted. The most recent acceptance instrument for the 2013 amendment was deposited by Germany in March 2020.

²⁵³The Article 1(5)*bis* of the 2013 Amended London Protocol amendment (not yet in force) defines marine geoengineering as "a deliberate intervention in the marine environment to manipulate natural processes, including to counteract anthropogenic climate change and/or its impacts, and that has the potential to result in deleterious effects, especially where those effects may be widespread, long lasting or severe".

²⁵⁴Scott (2015), p. 459.

²⁵⁵Scott (2015), p. 459; see also Proelss (2015), pp. 291–294. However, see the rather dubious and unfounded view taken in GESAMP (2019), p. 23, stating that the "deposition of salt particles on the ocean surface [could constitute] a deposit of 'wastes or other matter' under the [London Protocol]".

Lastly, it is also worth mentioning that the 2013 amendments, the London 95 Convention and the London Protocol all fail to define what is meant by 'legitimate scientific research'. That said, the 2013 amendments do make specific reference to the Assessment Framework adopted in 2010 which "provides a tool for assessing proposed activities on a case-by-case basis to determine if the proposed activity constitutes legitimate scientific research that is not contrary to the aims of the London Convention or Protocol".²⁵⁶ However, given the previously discussed (¶ 92 et seq) difficulties in distinguishing between scientific research and other legitimate types of activities, the lack of a specific definition of scientific research in both the Convention and the Protocol, even in the latter's 2013 amendment, is regrettable. Related to this last issue is the fact that the 2010 Assessment Framework, as referred to in the 2013 amendments, is only applicable to the governance of geoengineering research but not to its large-scale deployment.²⁵⁷ Given the difficulty in distinguishing between large-scale field testing and what could be characterised as the gradual initiation of a certain geoengineering activity, the parameters of what would classify as 'legitimate scientific research' will need to be developed further in future.

Despite agreement by the Contracting parties to regulate ocean fertilisation and, at least potentially, marine geoengineering more generally, the same agreement has not been forthcoming with regards to the development of procedures concerning responsibility and liability. Both the London Convention and the Protocol make specific reference to responsibility and liability, with Article X of the London Convention stating that:

In accordance with the principles of international law regarding State responsibility for damage to the environment of other States or to any other area of the environment, caused by dumping of wastes and other matter of all kinds, the Contracting Parties undertake to develop procedures for the assessment of liability and the settlement of disputes regarding dumping.

The equivalent in the London Protocol is found in Article 15 which states that:

In accordance with the principles of international law regarding State responsibility for damage to the environment of other States or to any other area of the environment, the Contracting Parties undertake to develop procedures regarding liability arising from the dumping or incineration at sea of wastes or other matter.

Over the years, liability issues have repeatedly been considered by specific **97** groups, as can be seen in the examples of the 'ad hoc group of legal experts on dumping' and the 'Task Team on Liability'. However, disagreements persist concerning the role of civil liability schemes versus a State liability regime, the assessment of the damage resulting from dumping as well as time limitations for the operator's liability and the related question of obtaining insurance cover on

²⁵⁶GESAMP (2019), p. 82.

²⁵⁷GESAMP (2019), p. 78.

the market.²⁵⁸ In 2018, the consultative meetings of the Contracting parties of both the Convention and the Protocol "considered whether the absence of a specific liability regime for LC/LP constituted a barrier to accession and/or harmonised implementation of the treaties and whether there was a need for the governing bodies to develop such procedures".²⁵⁹ Consequently, at the meeting in 2019, numerous options were noted for consideration including (1) nonbinding liability procedures since neither the Convention nor the Protocol obligate States to develop a separate liability protocol or binding procedures; (2) the relevant existent principles of State responsibility that could guide future discussions of the governing bodies and be used as a basis for the development of a State liability regime or procedures regarding liability; and (3) recourse to existing dispute settlement procedures such as those described in Article 16 of the London Protocol.²⁶⁰ Recent meetings have highlighted that establishing international liability procedures could lead to "increased transparency for third parties and the public, access to information, public participation, and access to justice for victims of pollution and eventually be an incentive for further accessions".²⁶¹ However, despite continued inclusion on the meeting agendas, the establishment of procedures related to liability and responsibility under the London Convention and Protocol continues to elude the Contracting parties.

Given that the 2013 amendments have yet to enter into force, the London Convention and the Protocol (without its 2013 amendments) remain the applicable legal regime for ocean pollution caused by dumping. The provisions of these instruments must be read in conjunction with Part XII UNCLOS which distinguishes between different types of pollution and designates corresponding legal obligations for each.²⁶² In view of the fact that the fertilisation of a specific marine area could

²⁵⁸International Maritime Organization, Any Other Business: Liability Issues (Note by the Secretariat), 41st Consultative Meeting of Contracting Parties to the London Convention & 14th Meeting of Contracting Parties to the London Protocol. Doc. No. LC 41/15 (2019), pp. 2–4. See also de La Fayette (1998); de La Fayette (2003), p. 232; Chen (2012).

²⁵⁹International Maritime Organization, Report of the Forty-first Consultative Meeting and the Fourteenth Meeting of Contracting Parties, 41st Consultative Meeting of Contracting Parties to the London Convention & 14th Meeting of Contracting Parties to the London Protocol. Doc. No. LC 41/17 (2019), p. 49; see also Birchenough and Haag (2020), p. 276.

²⁶⁰International Maritime Organization, Report of the Forty-first Consultative Meeting and the Fourteenth Meeting of Contracting Parties, 41st Consultative Meeting of Contracting Parties to the London Convention & 14th Meeting of Contracting Parties to the London Protocol. Doc. No. LC 41/17 (2019), p. 50. Interestingly, the Meeting noted that the Advisory Opinion of ITLOS (ITLOS *Request for an Advisory Opinion Submitted by the Sub-Regional Fisheries Commission (SRFC)* (Advisory Opinion), 2 April 2015, ITLOS Report 2015, 4) could be applied by analogy and Article 16 of the London Protocol could then be used to settle a dispute arising from the breach of an obligation under the Protocol.

²⁶¹ International Maritime Organization, Any Other Business: Liability Issues (Note by the Secretariat), 41st Consultative Meeting of Contracting Parties to the London Convention & 14th Meeting of Contracting Parties to the London Protocol. Doc. No. LC 41/15 (2019), p. 6.

²⁶²Article 210(6) UNCLOS; see Rickels et al. (2011), p. 94.

also be seen as dumping, Article 210 UNCLOS comes into consideration as the pertinent protection norm. Article 210(1) obligates States to adopt regulations to "prevent, reduce and control pollution of the marine environment by dumping", which must be "no less effective [...] than the global rules and standards" (Article 210(6)). Article 210(6) UNCLOS has been accepted as referring to both the London Convention and the London Protocol,²⁶³ while the adoption of the 2013 amendments may bring ocean fertilisation, and potentially other marine geoengineering activities, directly under the purview of the UNCLOS.

The above said, it appears that for the immediate to medium-term future, States will not be subject to any specific marine geoengineering regime established by the London Convention and Protocol. However, given the broad definition of 'marine geoengineering' provided in the 2013 amendments, the London Protocol seemingly offers more potential for future geoengineering governance than any other existing international instrument. The Protocol took ten years to come into force and it would seem realistic that the 2013 amendments will itself take some time to enter into force.²⁶⁴ In the meantime, however, the general obligations associated with environmental protection and marine scientific research, especially as found in the UNCLOS, will continue to (indirectly) govern geoengineering activities taking place in and around ocean space.

Legal Regime for Outer Space

The legality of installing reflectors in outer space (¶ 29 *et seq*) is judged according to the international treaties governing the protection and use of outer space, particularly the 1967 Outer Space Treaty.²⁶⁵ This treaty applies to all SRM methods that aim to reduce solar radiation with reflectors or mirrors that are placed at a distance of more than 120 km from the Earth. This, according to the accepted view of where outer space starts, puts all such objects in outer space rather than in airspaces subject to the sovereignty of States.²⁶⁶ Article I (1) of the Outer Space Treaty qualifies the research and use of outer space as the "province of all mankind" and any State's geoengineering activity in outer space may therefore not adversely impact other States. Such adverse impacts include environmental damage that may be caused as a result of unintended climate consequences associated with the

²⁶³LEG/MISC/3/Rev.1, 6 January 2003, Implications of the Entry into Force of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea for the International Maritime Organization, p. 48; agreeing Wacht (2017), para. 20. However, see Churchill and Lowe (1999), p. 369, interpreting Articles 210 to 216 UNCLOS as incorporating the standards set out in the Convention rather than the Protocol (and therefore not the amendments); see also Proelss (in print), stating that it would seem to be questionable whether it can really be assumed that the States parties to the UNCLOS intended to include in the Convention such a broad reference to future developments, which are, as far as States that decide *not* to participate in these developments are concerned, completely beyond their control. ²⁶⁴GESAMP (2019), p. 21.

²⁶⁵Treaty on Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space Including the Moon and Other Celestial Bodies, 27 January 1967, 610 UNTS 205 (entered into force 10 October 1967) (Outer Space Treaty).

²⁶⁶Rickels et al. (2011), p. 87.

deployment of space-based solar reflectors, damage to orbital assets as a result of collisions; or damage caused as a result of such reflectors falling from space back to Earth.²⁶⁷ The liability which may result if any of these scenarios come to pass is regulated by the Space Liability Convention, which is discussed elsewhere in this book (Chap. 11).

101 Article IX of the Outer Space Treaty further restricts SRM activities in outer space as it requires that States parties conduct research in and use outer space in a way that avoids "harmful contamination and also adverse changes in the environment of the Earth resulting from the introduction of extraterrestrial matter". The stipulation that all "harmful contamination" of outer space is to be prevented applies not just to the contamination itself but also includes every negative modification of outer space, the moon and other celestial bodies. At which point a modification can be qualified as negative is a matter of ongoing interpretation and a full discussion of this is beyond the scope of this study.²⁶⁸ That having been said. Article IX does contain elements of precaution, even though the precautionary principle was unknown in international law at the time the Outer Space Treaty was adopted in the 1960s. The central characteristics of this principle, namely scientific uncertainty, environmental hazard and a duty to consult, can be identified in Article IX. For this reason, particular attention should be paid to the effects of the precautionary principle (¶ 110 et seq) in the context of potential SRM activities in outer space.²⁶⁹

Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution

102

The lawfulness of introducing reflective aerosols or other particles into the stratosphere for various SRM technologies should be assessed based on, *inter alia*, the Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution (CLRTAP).²⁷⁰ CLRTAP has 51 States parties and was negotiated in the 1970s when increasing air pollution and acid rain were particularly salient issues. While this background may prompt the assumption that the CLRTAP does not have direct legal implications for geoengineering, the 'open' character of its norms provides latitude for its potential application to certain SRM activities. Article 2 CLRTAP states that parties "shall endeavour to limit and, as far as possible, gradually reduce and prevent air pollution". Accompanying this, air pollution is defined in Article 1(a) as the "introduction by man [...] of substances or energy into the air", which not only includes sulphur particles but also all other particles and aerosols which are being discussed for introduction into the stratosphere.²⁷¹ Furthermore, Article 1(a) CLRTAP also states that the materials being introduced must result "in deleterious effects of such a nature as to endanger human health, harm living resources and ecosystems and

²⁶⁷Sands and Peel (2018), p. 290.

²⁶⁸For an overview see Rickels et al. (2011), pp. 88–89.

²⁶⁹Rickels et al. (2011), p. 89.

²⁷⁰Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution, 13 November 1979, 1302 UNTS 217 (entered into force 16 March 1983) (CLRTAP).

²⁷¹Proelss (2012b), p. 207.

material property and impair or interfere with amenities and other legitimate uses of the environment". CLRTAP thus requires that a negative impact results from the introduced substances for them to be qualified as air pollution. It should be noted that the 'deleterious effects' must reach a certain threshold, the 'endangerment' a certain magnitude and the effects must have already occurred.²⁷² While such negative consequences of certain SRM methods, specifically SAI, cannot be excluded,²⁷³ CLRTAP contains no indication that the potential to cause damage would be sufficient for the substances used to be classed as pollutants. Due to the lack of reference to features of precaution, it is thus necessary that adverse effects on the environment must be proven for the CLRTAP to be applicable. This becomes somewhat problematic as such evidence may be available for some substances under discussion for atmospheric dispersal, SO₂ for example, but not for others.

Ongoing Negotiations Surrounding Biodiversity Beyond National Jurisdiction

The ongoing negotiations regarding an international legally binding instrument under the UNCLOS on the conservation and sustainable use of marine biological diversity of areas beyond national jurisdiction (BBNJ) require brief mention. Although this instrument has not yet been formally adopted, it presents an opportunity to examine how relevant actors make use of specialised treaty instruments to develop rules, including indirect rules, applicable to geoengineering—specifically marine geoengineering in this case. This is evidenced by several statements made during preparatory committee meetings. In this regard, the African Group indicated in 2016 that marine geoengineering activities that take place on the high seas should automatically be subject to EIAs.²⁷⁴ This sentiment was built on by the High Seas Alliance, which argued that any EIAs relating to geoengineering activities should be subject to an international decision-making process under the BBNJ Agreement.²⁷⁵ Whilst a thorough assessment of the content of this agreement is beyond the scope of the present study, the current draft text includes climate change as a consideration when defining the 'cumulative impacts' which must be taken into account when conducting EIAs. As far as marine geoengineering is concerned, this has led commentators to state that the development of new rules under the BBNJ Agreement has the potential to be "overly restrictive and prevent responsible research and development of marine geoengineering".²⁷⁶ However, it should be noted that even under current customary law, the inclusion of potential negative impacts of oceanrelated activities must always be considered in the context of EIAs. Any failure to do so would not be compatible with the central principles of international environmental law, in particular, the principles of prevention and precaution (¶ 105 et seq).

²⁷²Reynolds (2019b), p. 98.

²⁷³Proelss (2012b), pp. 207–208.

²⁷⁴International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) (2016).

²⁷⁵International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) (2017).

²⁷⁶Brent et al. (2019), p. 51.

104 None of the above-identified treaties provides clear answers as to the legality of individual geoengineering methods, perhaps with the exception of ocean iron fertilisation. However, most treaties seem to indicate that those activities which are likely to have a negative impact, be that environmental or otherwise, should be considered unlawful by the respective State parties. This should be done in accordance with the terms of the specific agreements concerned and after consideration of the impacts of the specific method being proposed. Having considered specialised treaties and their level of applicability to geoengineering, the next Subchapter briefly examines customary international law in a geoengineering context.

9.4.2 Rules and Principles of Customary International Law

- 105 With regards to customary international law and geoengineering, the obligation not to cause significant transboundary harm, namely the prohibitive dimension of what is referred to as the 'no harm rule', and the principle of prevention require specific mention.²⁷⁷ The relationship between these two concepts has a somewhat intricate history. That said, the principle of prevention has generally been accepted as containing a duty of conduct rather than one of result, which obligates a State undertaking an activity to take measures to prevent transboundary harm and thus to act with due diligence.²⁷⁸ In the context of geoengineering, States are similarly required to act with due diligence and any failure to do so may result in the responsibility of that State (¶ 115 et seq). Reference can be made here to the ITLOS SDC advisory opinion which describes the due diligence obligation as variable and susceptible to "change over time as measures considered sufficiently diligent at a certain moment may become not diligent enough in light, for instance, of new scientific or technological knowledge. It may also change in relation to the risks involved in the activity".²⁷⁹ Therefore, as research into certain geoengineering methods advances, the threshold of due diligence may increase or decrease accordingly.
- **106** The obligation not to cause significant transboundary harm was originally elaborated on in the *Trail Smelter Arbitration* which held that "no State has the right to use or permit the use of territory in such a manner as to cause injury [...] to the territory of another".²⁸⁰ It has been argued by commentators that the *Trail Smelter*

²⁷⁷ Saxler et al. (2015), p. 122.

²⁷⁸ ICJ *Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay* (Argentina v Uruguay) [2010] ICJ Rep 14, para. 101; Boyle and Redgwell (2021), pp. 163–167; Viñuales (2020), pp. 116–117. A similar duty of conduct, and therefore an associated duty to act with due diligence, can be found in the liability regime discussed above in relation to deep seabed mining under Part XI UNCLOS (see Annex D of this book).

²⁷⁹ ITLOS *Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area* (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, para. 117. For analysis see Papanicolopulu (2020), pp. 152–154.

²⁸⁰Trail Smelter Case (United States v Canada) (1941) 3 RIAA 1905, 1965.

Arbitration established a duty of result which has not been referred to in international case law since.²⁸¹ In contrast, the ILC seems to have acted on the premise that the decision in the *Trail Smelter Arbitration* did not address a separate obligation not to cause significant transboundary harm as it only relied on what is today called the principle of prevention.²⁸² Both positions indicate that no duty of result can be applied to cases of transboundary damage and that the no harm concept is thus arguably limited to the obligations deriving from the principle of prevention.²⁸³ It may thus be reasoned that a State which causes transboundary harm by conducting a certain activity can generally not be held responsible based on customary international law if it has acted with due diligence.²⁸⁴ In this regard, international courts and tribunals have interpreted the prevention principle, having its origins in the obligation of due diligence, as including certain procedural obligations concerned with EIAs and the duties to consult and notify.²⁸⁵ The ICJ in the *Certain Activities Case* went a step further by recognising a preliminary obligation to ascertain the risks involved, an obligation that needs to be fulfilled prior to conducting an EIA.²⁸⁶

Given the potentially severe consequences that may arise from the deployment or large-scale field tests of most, if not all, geoengineering methods, such 'preliminary risk assessment' seems to indicate that every geoengineering activity will be subject to an EIA. However, it has to be highlighted that although recognition of this need to conduct an EIA as a customary international law obligation is welcome, international jurisprudence has fallen short in providing guidance as to what the minimum content of such an assessment should entail.²⁸⁷ By leaving the determination of the content to the discretion of individual States, the customary international law requirement to conduct an EIA appears to have "no real substantive content".²⁸⁸ This is particularly problematic given that the current understanding of geoengineering and its impacts are grounded in scientific uncertainty, which may be more or less acceptable

²⁸¹Proelss (2012a), p. 621. For in-depth discussion see Krieger and Peters (2020), pp. 356–362.

²⁸²ILC Draft Articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities with Commentaries, Yearbook of the International Law Commission Vol. II Part Two (2001), p. 148, General Commentary, para. 4.

²⁸³For an in-depth assessment see Brunnée (2020), pp. 115–162; see also Proelss (2017a), pp. 81–84.

²⁸⁴Consenting Brunnée (2020), pp. 150–153, clarifying that "[w]hether or not transboundary harm is caused matters, of course, but *not* because harm is an element of the primary obligation. Rather, it is relevant in assessing the consequences of a breach of the preventive duty" (157).

²⁸⁵ICJ Certain Activities Carried Out by Nicaragua in the Border Area (Costa Rica v Nicaragua) and Construction of a Road in Costa Rica along the San Juan River (Nicaragua v Costa Rica) [2015] ICJ Rep 665, para. 168; ICJ Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay (Argentina v Uruguay) [2010] ICJ Rep 14, para. 204; see generally Brent et al. (2015).

²⁸⁶ICJ Certain Activities Carried Out by Nicaragua in the Border Area (Costa Rica v Nicaragua) and Construction of a Road in Costa Rica along the San Juan River (Nicaragua v Costa Rica) [2015] ICJ Rep 665, para. 153.

²⁸⁷ICJ *Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay* (Argentina v Uruguay) [2010] ICJ Rep 14, para. 205; see also Saxler et al. (2015), p. 123.

²⁸⁸Sands and Peel (2018), p. 679.

depending on the specific requirements set for EIAs by the governing domestic legislation.²⁸⁹

108 In this context, mention should also be made of the recent ILC Draft Guidelines on the Protection of the Atmosphere (Atmosphere Guidelines). Provisionally adopted by the ILC in May 2021, Guideline 7 states that:

Activities aimed at intentional large-scale modification of the atmosphere should only be conducted with prudence and caution, and subject to any applicable rules of international law, including those relating to environmental impact assessment.

- **109** The commentaries to the Atmosphere Guidelines make evident that 'activities' in the context of Guideline 7 should be understood as referring to geoengineering, including those technologies classified as either CDR or SRM.²⁹⁰ The commentaries to Guideline 7 also make clear that it does not seek to "authorize or to prohibit such activities" but acknowledges that any benefit generally must be balanced with the potentially "unexpected effects on existing climatic patterns that are not confined by national boundaries".²⁹¹ While legally non-binding, the specific reference to activities aimed at intentional large-scale modification of the atmosphere in the Atmosphere Guidelines of the ILC provides yet another example of the variable nature of due diligence as well as the difficulty in establishing standardised criteria to identify breaches of a State's due diligence obligations.
- 110 In addition to the principle of prevention, the precautionary principle must be taken into account as it has been encapsulated in various international instruments already mentioned, such as the London Protocol, the UNFCCC and the UNCLOS. At its most general level, the precautionary principle means that States:

agree to act carefully and with foresight when taking decisions that concern activities that may have an adverse impact on the environment. A more focused interpretation provides that the principle requires activities and substances, which may be harmful to the environment, to be regulated, and possibly prohibited, even if no conclusive or overwhelming evidence is available as to the harm or likely harm they may cause to the environment.²⁹²

111 The following discussion accepts that there is considerable disagreement concerning the principle's acceptance as either an 'approach' or a 'principle',

²⁸⁹Although the adequacy of domestic legislation may be evaluated in assessing whether or not a State has fulfilled its due diligence obligations (see PCA *South China Sea Arbitration* (Philipines v China) (2016) 33 RIAA 1, para. 990 in this regard).

²⁹⁰UN Doc. A/76/20 (2021), Report on the Work of the ILC of the Seventy-second Session, Chapter 4: Draft Guidelines on the Protection of the Atmosphere, https://legal.un.org/ilc/ reports/2021/english/chp4.pdf, accessed 1 Apr 2022, 33 (Commentary to Guideline 7, para. 3).

²⁹¹UN Doc. A/76/20 (2021), Report on the Work of the ILC of the Seventy-second Session, Chapter 4: Draft Guidelines on the Protection of the Atmosphere, https://legal.un.org/ilc/ reports/2021/english/chp4.pdf, accessed 1 Apr 2022, 34 (Commentary to Guideline 7, paras. 7 & 9).
²⁹²Sands and Peel (2018), p. 234.

however, a consideration of this discussion is beyond the scope of this report.²⁹³ Notwithstanding this, the precautionary principle may prove to be a fundamental component in decision-making processes that involve the implementation and development of geoengineering. This is a realistic view as geoengineering activities are still subject to uncertainty and have the potential for significant detrimental environmental impacts.²⁹⁴ The ITLOS SDC has acknowledged the growing acceptance and application of the precautionary approach by referring, first, to its intrinsic link to a State's due diligence obligation and, second, by highlighting an international ".²⁹⁵

As with the specific international instruments examined above (¶ 75 *et seq*), customary international law finds general application to all geoengineering activities. However, the lack of accepted minimum requirements for EIAs, the variable nature of the due diligence obligation (intrinsically linked to the customary international law obligation not to cause significant transboundary harm) and the uncertainties surrounding the validity, content and legal effects of the precautionary principle/approach results in the conclusion that the relevance of the norms of customary international law in assessing liability or responsibility for geoengineering activities should generally not be overestimated.²⁹⁶ With this in mind, the next Subchapter looks at the potential responsibility and liability that may materialise as a result of damage caused by geoengineering activities.

9.5 Responsibility and Liability for Damage Caused by Geoengineering Activities

Proposals to develop and deploy geoengineering technology call into question the capability of international law to adequately govern and regulate innovative and contemporary technologies.²⁹⁷ To incentivise the behaviour of States, as well as other actors, any legal framework for geoengineering will have to encompass distinct

²⁹⁴Scott (2015), p. 463; Proelss (2017a), pp. 84–96; see also Krieger and Peters (2020), p. 363.

²⁹³Reference to the term 'approach' instead of 'principle' is preferred by commentators who argue in favour of a more flexible handling of environmental risks, the occurrence of which is subject to scientific uncertainty. However, this understanding can arguably not be held to be reflected in binding international law; see Boyle and Redgwell (2021), pp. 172–173; Proelss (2017a), p. 89.

²⁹⁵ ITLOS Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, paras.132 & 135.

²⁹⁶Note, though, that some commentators have advanced the view that the precautionary principle/ approach should be operationalized in a multi-faceted manner under which decisions on geoengineering testing and deployment must be taken on the basis of a balancing of the (environmental) risks involved. See Proelss (2017a), pp. 89–96; Proelss (2010), p. 81; Du (2019), pp. 202–213; Schröter (2015), pp. 293–320.

²⁹⁷Brent (2018), p. 161.

and practical rules for the attribution of liability.²⁹⁸ It is, therefore, surprising that the issue of liability for damage caused by geoengineering research or deployment, unlike the question of the international legality of the activities concerned, has received little attention in legal scholarship to date.²⁹⁹ Of the three recent legal monographs addressing geoengineering,³⁰⁰ only one goes beyond superficially dealing with liability for environmental and other forms of harm.³⁰¹ Therefore, the following observations are intended to contribute to closing this gap in academic literature.

114 In accordance with what has been elaborated on in Chap. 3 of this book, it is necessary to differentiate between situations where a geoengineering activity violates international law and where this is not the case. As has been demonstrated above, while geoengineering as a scientific field is not generally prohibited under international law, individual field experiments and operational activities may well prove to be incompatible with the legal requirements arising from the relevant international agreements or customary international law. Furthermore, it is also crucial to distinguish instances where a geoengineering experiment or deployment is organised and conducted by a State from instances where the relevant activity is carried out by private actors. In addition to these distinctions, the degree of liability arising in a given case as a result of geoengineering activities will depend on the nature of the geoengineering project, the type and extent of damage that such project may allegedly cause and the laws applicable to a specific project.³⁰² The following Subchapters highlight the relationship between geoengineering activities and, on the one hand, State responsibility (¶ 115 et seq) and, on the other hand, State liability (¶ 126 et seq) with the latter discussion distinguishing between specialised and general liability regimes applicable to geoengineering. Subsequent to this discussion, Sect. 9.5.3 addresses the challenges in attributing liability and/or causation to a particular geoengineering activity before turning to an examination of operator liability for damage caused as a result of geoengineering activities (¶ 140 et sea).

9.5.1 State Responsibility

Attribution

115

Irrespective of a given scenario's details, if it involves a geoengineering activity that violates a rule or principle codified in an international treaty, or this is accepted

²⁹⁸Hester (2018), p. 224.

²⁹⁹The few exceptions include: Horton et al. (2015), Saxler et al. (2015), Brent (2018), Hester (2018) and Pfrommer et al. (2019).

³⁰⁰Krüger (2020), Du (2019) and Reynolds (2019b).

³⁰¹Reynolds (2019b), pp. 178–195; Krüger (2020), pp. 114–119, only addresses liability for activities carried out in outer space.

³⁰²Hester (2018), p. 224.

as being valid under customary international law, the activity in question will entail the responsibility of the State if it is attributable to that State. The State concerned is then under an obligation to "make full reparation for the injury caused by the internationally wrongful act" and the scope of compensable damage is, as a matter of principle, directly related to the general rules of State responsibility.³⁰³ Generally speaking, an action is attributable to a State if it has acted through one of its organs.³⁰⁴ In contrast, private behaviour is usually not attributable to a State unless it involves situations where private actors, such as companies or private research institutes, have been empowered by domestic law to exercise governmental authority (see Article 5 ASR). However, even under these circumstances the law on State responsibility only recognises two situations where private conduct must be attributed to a State: First, according to Article 8 ASR, attribution can be established if the State has effectively controlled the activity concerned. Second, the private conduct is attributable to the State if the latter, either expressly or tacitly through its conduct, "acknowledges and adopts the conduct in question as its own" (Article 11 ASR).³⁰⁵

In the current context, it will normally not be possible to assume that either of these two situations exists. Having regard to the case law of the ICJ, the requirements to be met under the aforementioned provisions are very high. In particular, the granting of a permit to a private operator to carry out a certain geoengineering experiment or activity in the context of an authorisation procedure prescribed by law does not lead to that activity being attributable to the State. Indeed, the acts of a private actor cannot be deemed as sovereign acts unless the authorisation or approval concerned allocates the right to exercise elements of governmental authority to the private actor.

While Article 11 ASR "provides for the attribution to a State of conduct that was not or may not have been attributable to it at the time of commission, but which is subsequently acknowledged and adopted by the State as its own",³⁰⁶ it is not sufficient that the State only supports or endorses the activity.³⁰⁷ Rather, Article 11 ASR "makes it clear that what is required is something more than a general acknowledgement of a factual situation, but rather that the State identifies the conduct in question and makes it its own".³⁰⁸

 ³⁰³ Article 31(1) ASR; see also ICJ *Corfu Channel Case* (United Kingdom v Albania) [1949] ICJ Rep 4, 23; ICJ *Gabçikovo-Nagymaros* (Hungary v Slovakia) [1997] ICJ Rep 7, para. 149.
 ³⁰⁴ Article 4 ASR.

³⁰⁵ILC, Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 54, Commentary to Article 11, para. 9.

³⁰⁶ILC, Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 52, Commentary to Article 11, para. 1.

³⁰⁷ILC, Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 53, Commentary to Article 11, para. 6.

³⁰⁸ILC, Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 53, Commentary to Article 11, para. 6.

118 The situation could be assessed differently if a geoengineering experiment is carried out by a public research institute acting under the relevant national legislation. In such cases, the issue of attribution must arguably be addressed in the same way as cases involving State-owned enterprises (SOEs). However, the ILC commentaries on the ASR are of little help as far as acts of SOEs are concerned. In particular, the ILC considered the fact that while "an entity can be classified as public or private according to the criteria of a given legal system" this is not decisive for attribution under Article 5 ASR. From the ILC's perspective, the opposite is true as attribution under the rule codified in Article 5 ASR requires "that these entities are empowered, if only to a limited extent or in a specific context, to exercise specified elements of governmental authority".³⁰⁹ Taking into account that governmental authority usually becomes manifest in the exercise of powers ('empowered') vis-à-vis private actors,³¹⁰ research activities that are undertaken to gain new scientific insight cannot be held to be of such nature. Thus, it must be concluded that even public research institutes should usually be considered as private actors.

Scope of Due Diligence Obligations of States

119 Situations where it is not possible to attribute private conduct to a State must be distinguished from cases where the State may have omitted to properly supervise private actors acting within its sphere of jurisdiction. In such cases, the question is whether the State has violated its own due diligence obligations arising from international law, namely whether a breach of a rule or principle of international law has occurred which gives rise to the international responsibility of the State concerned. In such cases, the relevant conduct of the State giving rise to its responsibility takes the form of an omission, typically regarding aspects of regulation, supervision, monitoring, enforcement and so forth. As far as the scope of due diligence is concerned, the ICJ famously held that:

Due diligence entails not only the adoption of appropriate rules and measures, but also a certain level of vigilance in their enforcement and the exercise of administrative control applicable to public and private operators, such as the monitoring of activities undertaken by such operators.³¹¹

120 This is particularly relevant in the context of geoengineering activities since certain methods, especially those that may be relatively cheap and technically easy to deploy, may be conducted by private operators.³¹² Taking into account that there is no uniform standard of due diligence that would apply independent of the

³⁰⁹ All quotations from ILC, Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 43, Commentary to Article 5, para. 3.

³¹⁰See also ILC, Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 43, Commentary to Article 5, para. 7: "The internal law in question must specifically authorize the conduct as involving the exercise of public authority; it is not enough that it permits activity as part of the general regulation of the affairs of the community".

³¹¹ICJ *Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay* (Argentina v Uruguay) [2010] ICJ Rep 14, para. 197. ³¹²Hubert (2020), p. 51.

circumstances of the specific case,³¹³ it is not easy to identify general criteria for when a State has violated its due diligence obligations in a geoengineering context. That said, it must be borne in mind that as far as the realm of international environmental law is concerned, the obligation to exercise due diligence is conceptually related to the principle of prevention (¶ 106 *et seq*). A State is therefore obliged to take all possible and reasonable measures to avoid likely transboundary environmental damage. This has also been confirmed by the ILC in its Draft Articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities:

The obligation of the State of origin to take preventive or minimization measures is one of due diligence. It is the conduct of the State of origin that will determine whether the State has complied with its obligation under the present articles. The duty of due diligence involved, however, is not intended to guarantee that significant harm be totally prevented, if it is not possible to do so. In that eventuality, the State of origin is required, as noted above, to exert its best possible efforts to minimize the risk. In this sense, it does not guarantee that the harm would not occur.³¹⁴

If applied to the geoengineering context, these authoritative statements can only 121 be understood in such a way that whenever the organs of a State have active knowledge of a geoengineering activity planned by private individuals or corporations which is likely to result in significant transboundary harm and yet fail to prevent the activity concerned, the State violates its due diligence obligation. This also applies when a State does not adequately monitor a geoengineering experiment that has been authorised by one of its agencies.³¹⁵ If a State, by way of regulation, creates incentives (presumed to be lawful) for private behaviour that could lead to transboundary environmental damage, it is obliged to take all possible steps to ensure that no damage occurs in accordance with its international obligations. It is not completely clear whether or not the same can be said in situations where a State makes no effort to regulate certain conduct that, if engaged in, is likely to cause environmental damage. On the one hand, a State cannot be expected, by reference to its duty of care, to regulate all conduct without there being real evidence that the conduct in question will result in environmental damage. Once such evidence exists, because a geoengineering experiment has been publicly announced or the competent authority becomes aware of it by other means, the State is obligated to take preventive action arising from its due diligence obligations.

As far as the specific measures are concerned that must be taken in such a situation, the ICJ clarified in the *Pulp Mills Case* that "due diligence, and the duty

³¹³ ITLOS Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, para. 117. ³¹⁴ ILC, Draft Articles on on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities, Yearbook of the ILC 2001/II-2, p. 148, Commentary to Article 33, para. 7.

³¹⁵See also ICJ *Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay* (Argentina v Uruguay) [2010] ICJ Rep 14, para. 197; ITLOS *Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area* (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, para. 138.

of vigilance and prevention which it implies, would not be considered to have been exercised" if an activity which may potentially affect the environment of another State or BBNJ is not subjected to an EIA on the potential effects of that activity before it is carried out (¶ 106 *et seq*). The standard of due diligence to be applied by a State may also be specified by reference to the relevant documents adopted by international actors such as the COPs/MOPs of the pertinent multilateral environmental agreements whose treaty mandates cover the potential negative effects of geoengineering.³¹⁶ In this respect, CBD Decision X/33 calls upon States parties to the CBD to ensure that no geoengineering activities take place "with the exception of small scale scientific research studies that would be conducted in a controlled setting [...], and only if they are justified by the need to gather specific scientific data and are subject to a thorough prior assessment of the potential impacts on the environment".³¹⁷ While this Decision is not legally binding sensu stricto, the ILC stated in the context of its work on subsequent agreements and subsequent practice in relation to the interpretation of treaties that "interpretative resolutions by Conferences of States Parties which are adopted by consensus, even if they are not binding as such, can nevertheless be subsequent agreements under article 31, paragraph 3 (a), or subsequent practice under article 31, paragraph 3 (b) [VCLT]".³¹⁸ Consequently, there is good case to argue that the requirements contained in this Decision, which was adopted by consensus, can be relied upon when assessing whether or not a State has acted in line with its due diligence obligation to prevent significant transboundary harm. Similarly, States parties to the London Protocol are arguably not free to disregard the resolutions that have been adopted by the MOP vis-à-vis geoengineering (¶ 93 et seq) and future developments in relevant for a will further impact what can be expected from States when analysing whether they have observed the pertinent standard of due diligence. In view of the foregoing, it must be kept in mind that "[t]he standard of due diligence has to be more severe for the riskier activities".³¹⁹ Thus, in light of the environmental and other risks involved, the distinction between testing and deployment of geoengineering cannot as easily be drawn as with other cutting-edge technologies such as seabed mining (Chap. 13). As such, the due diligence standard to be applied in the geoengineering context may indeed need to be stricter and less flexible than with regard to other activities.

Causal Relationship

123

Aside from the issue of attribution in terms of the law on State responsibility, proof of the factual basis of a causal relationship between a geoengineering activity

³¹⁶See also Boyle and Redgwell (2021), pp. 165–166; Dupuy and Viñuales (2015), p. 313. ³¹⁷CBD X/33, para. 8(w).

³¹⁸UN Doc A/69/10, Report of the International Law Commission on the Work of its Sixty-Sixth Session (2014), Chapter VII, Commentary to Draft Conclusion 10, p. 76, para. 38. Note that the ILC made specific reference to resolutions adopted by the parties to the London Convention and protocol vis-à-vis geoengineering; ibid., para. 12.

³¹⁹ITLOS Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, para. 117.

and harm that has occurred afterwards may be particularly difficult given the complexity of climatic systems and the multitude of human stressors currently affecting the environment. For example, one of the environmental risks associated with ice restoration (¶ 25 *et seq*) is ocean acidification but 'attributing', in the sense of establishing a causal nexus, an increase in ocean acidity with ice restoration activities will be difficult since ocean acidification also has multiple sources, including the high levels of atmospheric CO₂ caused by other human activities.³²⁰ As has been alluded to earlier, if a geoengineering activity to restore ice is undertaken by private actors, the fact that a State has authorised such activity does not necessarily mean that any negative consequences of such an activity can be attributed to that State. While the existence of damage is usually *not* a precondition for responsibility under the law of State responsibility, a causal nexus is required when determining the compensation owed by a State due to its violation of international law. This issue will be discussed in more detail in Sect. 9.5.3 below (¶ 140 *et seq*).

Circumstances Precluding Wrongfulness

Finally, even if it is possible in individual cases to establish attribution in connection with geoengineering within the meaning of Articles 4-11 of the ASR and there have been violations of a rule or principle of international law, not all such unlawful acts will necessarily lead to the responsibility of the State. In this regard, the ASR list six circumstances that preclude the wrongfulness of conduct that would otherwise be a breach of the accepted primary obligations of the State concerned. In the context of geoengineering, two of these circumstances require brief mention.³²¹ First, Article 25 ASR provides that a State may rely on necessity as a defence for its conduct if it "is the only way for the State to safeguard an essential interest against a grave and imminent peril" and such conduct "does not seriously impair an essential interest of the State or States towards which the obligation exists, or of the international community as a whole". In the words of the ILC, necessity "arises where there is an irreconcilable conflict between an essential interest on the one hand and an obligation of the State invoking necessity on the other".322 Extrapolated to geoengineering, there is perhaps some scope that a State may invoke necessity to safeguard an essential interest, such as reducing the impact of climate change, which is irreconcilable with a State's international obligations not to cause significant environmental harm. However, the State in question can only invoke the defence of necessity if it did not itself *contribute* to the situation of necessity.³²³ If the ultimate aim is to reduce the impacts of anthropogenic climate change, it seems doubtful that any State will be successful in arguing that it has not contributed to climate change and is therefore entitled to invoke the defence of necessity.³²⁴ That

³²⁰Brent et al. (2019), p. 40.

³²¹For an in-depth discussion see Krüger (2020), pp. 55-60.

³²²ILC, Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 80, Commentary to Article 25, para. 2.

³²³Article 25(2)(b) ASR.

³²⁴Reichwein et al. (2015), p. 174.

said, there arguably remains some restricted scope for a particularly vulnerable State to present creative legal arguments using their limited contribution to climate change and their necessity in developing or deploying a specific geoengineering method.

125 Second, Article 20 ASR provides that consent given by a State "to the commission of a given act by another State precludes the wrongfulness of that act in relation to the former State to the extent that the act remains within the limits of that consent". A full discussion of consent as a basis for precluding wrongfulness is beyond the scope of this study,³²⁵ however, whether or not a State has validly given consent is generally accepted as being a "matter addressed by international law rules outside the framework of State responsibility".³²⁶ In order to rely on consent as a basis for precluding wrongfulness, the consent must be given freely and the responsible State must operate within the ambit of such consent.³²⁷ In the context of geoengineering, contributing to the adoption of either binding/non-binding decisions or recommendations within existing legal frameworks, including the UNFCCC and the London Convention/Protocol, may serve as proof of a particular State's consent.³²⁸ If, for example, the COP of the UNFCCC adopts a decision calling on States to make use of certain CDR methods to reduce global CO₂ concentrations, States which demonstrate a certain amount of political will by supporting such an adoption may be seen as consenting to the adoption of these CDR methods. While the circumstances surrounding such consent will have to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis, it is plausible that one State which suffers damage as a result of another State's geoengineering activity may be precluded from holding the latter State internationally responsible because the injured State previously gave its consent. This is not to say that a State is exempt from any particular primary obligation, such as preventing harm to the environment, rather, "the primary obligation continues to govern the relations between the two States, but it is displaced on the particular occasion or for the purposes of the particular conduct by reason of the consent given".³²⁹

³²⁵For a comprehensive study of consent in the context of State responsibility see Abass (2004), pp. 211–225.

³²⁶ILC, Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 73, Commentary to Article 20, para. 4.

³²⁷ Abass (2004), p. 214.

³²⁸ Although within the context of customary international law, while not viewing consent as a preclusion for wrongfulness, the ICJ held that the "effect of consent to the text of [...] resolutions cannot be understood as merely that of a 'reiteration or elucidation' of [a] treaty commitment [...]. On the contrary, it may be understood as an acceptance of the validity of the rule or set of rules declared by the resolution by themselves" (ICJ *Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua* (Nicaragua v United States of America) [1986] ICJ Rep 14, para. 188).

³²⁹ILC, Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 73, Commentary to Article 20, para. 4.

9.5.2 State Liability

As far as State liability beyond State responsibility is concerned, it is first necessary to analyse whether specific liability regimes applicable to individual geoengineering activities exist before considering whether general international law provides for relevant rules and principles that could be applied in view of the specific nature and potential consequences of geoengineering.

Liability Regimes Specifically Applicable to Geoengineering

Geoengineering activities that are conducted in outer space, which would apply to 127 the deployment of installations or structures such as mirrors, may be covered by the terms of the Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space Objects ("Liability Convention"). As is analysed in Annex B of this book, the Liability Convention is the only existing international agreement that comprehensively provides for State liability and the liability of international organizations for space-based activities. According to the definition of 'space object' enshrined in Article I(d) of the Convention, even components that were a part of a larger object can be classed as space objects and are covered by its terms. Taking into account that the term 'space object' must be understood as including any object that is launched into outer space, whatever its purpose, any geoengineering installations or structure deployed in outer space must be held to fall within the scope of the Convention. Also, with a view to geoengineering activities, the "mixed", or "dual" liability standard on which the agreement is based is of particular interest.³³⁰ Article II imposes absolute State liability on the launching State for damage caused on the Earth's surface as well as to aircraft in flight. In contrast, Article III establishes faultbased liability which applies to damage inflicted on space objects belonging to other launching States which are not located on the Earth's surface. According to Article I (a), the Convention only covers damage to persons and property, not damage to the environment. As far as geoengineering activities in outer space are concerned, this is particularly problematic, since the introduction of installations or structures in space could affect global climate in a manner that negatively impacts parts of the environment on Earth. This problem could potentially be tackled by way of interpreting the term 'damage' in such a way that it also includes environmental harm that specifically affects the territory of a contracting State, and thus the 'property' of that State. In this sense, Canada substantiated its claim for compensation for the damage caused by the crash of the Soviet satellite Cosmos 954,³³¹ however, the fact remains that the Convention has so far not played any prominent role in State practice. This demonstrates that States will remain reluctant to accede to a treaty that provides for strict

³³⁰For assessment see Horton et al. (2015), pp. 245–250.

³³¹See Claim Against the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics for Damage Caused by Soviet Cosmos 954, ILM 18 (1979), p. 899 (905, para. 15); see also Frantzen (1991), p. 619 (with note 127); Gehring and Jachtenfuchs (1988), p. 107.

State liability, a fact that undermines the potential for success of any attempts to make the Liability Convention applicable to geoengineering activities.

- 128 With respect to the other geoengineering activities relevant here, no specific applicable liability regime is in place. As regards the sub-seabed storage of CO₂, the only existing liability regime that could potentially be applicable is enshrined in Part XI UNCLOS and its substantiating instruments (Chap. 13). However, as has been demonstrated above, the pertinent provisions only apply to "activities in the Area", which is defined in Article 1(1)(3) UNCLOS as "all activities of exploration for, and exploitation of, the resources of the Area". The SDC held in its 2011 advisory opinion that such activities need to be directly related to the recovery of minerals from the seabed and their lifting to the water's surface.³³² This would include, as enumerated in Article 145(a) UNCLOS, "drilling, dredging, excavation, disposal of waste, construction and operation or maintenance of installations, pipelines and other devices related to such activities",³³³ although arguably not the sequestration of CO₂ into sub-seabed geological structures which were previously used for purposes related to the exploitation of mineral resources in the Area. In contrast to the disposal of water and materials of no commercial interest that are separated from deep seabed resources during the process of resource exploitation,³³⁴ the activity relevant here constitutes a *separate* activity not *directly* linked to the exploitation of the deep seabed resources.³³⁵ As can be demonstrated by reference to the different purposes, sequestration of CO₂ under the seabed would only take place during or following mineral-exploitation activities in the area.
- **129** Furthermore, neither the 1972 London Convention nor the 1996 Protocol, which specifically apply to both CO_2 sequestration and, subject to the entry into force of the 2013 amendment on marine geoengineering, to ocean iron fertilisation (¶ 92 *et seq*), contain stipulations on State liability. While both the Convention (Article X) and the Protocol (Article 15) require that the Contracting parties "undertake to develop procedures for the assessment of liability", they have so far refrained from implementing this regulatory mandate.³³⁶
- **130** Concerning marine geoengineering experiments, it is worth mentioning that Part XIII of the UNCLOS on marine scientific research (¶ 86 *et seq*) contains a provision

³³² ITLOS Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, para. 94.

³³³ITLOS Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, para. 85.

³³⁴ITLOS Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, paras. 95 & 97.

³³⁵See also Proelss and Güssow (2011), p. 156, arguing that marine CCS activities conducted in areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction are covered by the principle of freedom of the high seas in terms of Article 87(1) UNCLOS and not by the regime of the Area.

³³⁶The 2012 Specific Guidelines for the Assessment of Carbon Dioxide for Disposal into Sub-seabed Geological Formations of 2 November 2012 (IMO Doc. LC 34/15, Annex 8) are also silent on the issue.

that is specifically dedicated to responsibility and liability. In particular, Article 263(3) UNCLOS stipulates that "States and competent international organizations shall be responsible and liable pursuant to article 235 for damage caused by pollution of the marine environment arising out of marine scientific research undertaken by them or on their behalf'. This provision, as well as the other paragraphs of Article 263 UNCLOS, must be read in conjunction with Article 304 UNCLOS that states the "provisions of this Convention regarding responsibility and liability for damage are without prejudice to the application of existing rules and the development of further rules regarding responsibility and liability". Thus, while any new developments to the law on State responsibility are automatically applicable to both the law of the sea in general and Article 263 UNCLOS in particular,³³⁷ the latter provision cannot be interpreted as establishing an autonomous regime of responsibility and liability with regard to activities that qualify as marine scientific research under the UNCLOS.³³⁸ Even though the regime of Part XIII UNCLOS is based on the assumption that every private research project is automatically transformed into a research project of the applying State due to its involvement in the consent application procedure for conducting marine scientific research,³³⁹ the rules of attribution, in particular, the principle of effective control embodied in Article 8 ASR, are not superseded by Article 263(1) UNCLOS.³⁴⁰ Taking the opposite view would confuse both issues of attribution and of due diligence responsibility which, in turn, ignores the clear distinction between these two categories that is generally accepted in international practice and legal doctrine.³⁴¹ The ICJ clarified in the Srebrenica Case that responsibility based on attribution on the one hand and responsibility due to a violation of a due diligence provision on the other must be distinguished and are mutually exclusive.³⁴² Consequently, a State can only be held responsible for infringements of the UNCLOS caused by private actors, such as research entities, if the activity in question is attributable to the State in line with what has been analysed above. Additionally, while Article 263(1) UNCLOS creates "an indirect duty to monitor the activities of actors whose conduct would not be attributable to States and interna-

tional organizations under the regular rules of attribution",³⁴³ the 'researching State' can only be held responsible to the extent that it has violated its due diligence duty to monitor the relevant private actor's conduct.³⁴⁴

³³⁷Hofmann and Proelss (2015), p. 182.

³³⁸See also Stephens (2017), paras. 7, p. 23; Tams and Devaney (2017), paras. 17–19.

³³⁹For reasoning and further references see Hofmann and Proelss (2015), p. 174.

³⁴⁰Contra Wegelein (2005), p. 350.

³⁴¹Hofmann and Proelss (2015), p. 183.

³⁴²ICJ Application of the Convention on Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (Bosnia and Herzegovina v Serbia and Montenegro) [2007] ICJ Rep 43, para. 382.

³⁴³Tams and Devaney (2017), para. 12.

³⁴⁴See ITLOS *Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area* (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, para. 109: "not every violation of an obligation by a sponsored contractor automatically gives

- 131 As far as the introduction of substances with high albedo into the atmosphere is concerned, no special regime is in place which would govern State liability for damage that has arisen in the context of activities that take place or which produce effects in the atmosphere. As previously mentioned, there is still uncertainty with regard to the exact location of the border between air space, which is subject to State sovereignty, and outer space, which has become to be accepted as a common space by virtue of the Outer Space Treaty. However, it is generally accepted that the atmosphere ends at an altitude of somewhere between 80 and 120 km, ³⁴⁵ meaning the geoengineering methods discussed here are not covered by the Liability Convention mentioned above. In contrast, the 1979 Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution (CLRTAP), which is potentially applicable to the geoengineering methods relevant here (see Sect. 9.4.1, § 102), expressly clarifies in a footnote to Article 8 that it "does not contain a rule on State liability as to damage".
- 132

Finally, brief mention should be made of State liability regimes applicable in the polar regions as such liability regimes would be particularly relevant in the context of geoengineering methods associated with the restoration of sea ice. While no specific liability regime exists for the Arctic, the Antarctic Liability Annex (Chap. 12) applies to "environmental emergencies in the Antarctic Treaty area which relate to scientific research programmes, tourism and all other governmental and non-governmental activities". An 'environmental emergency' is defined as "any accidental event that [...] results in, or imminently threatens to result in, any significant and harmful impact on the Antarctic environment". Following this, it is clear that the deliberate act of restoring sea ice would not be covered by the Antarctic Liability Annex. Additionally, the Antarctic Liability Annex is yet to enter into force and the strict liability standard set by the Annex suggests that it faces the same hurdle as the Space Liability Convention, namely that States remain reluctant to ratify international agreements that provide for strict liability.

Are General Liability Rules Applicable to Geoengineering?

133 Notwithstanding the lack of liability regimes specifically applicable to geoengineering, one may ask whether States can still be held liable for any damage in light of the serious environmental, political and social risks involved in the activities concerned (¶ 49 *et seq*). This would require that the standard of strict State liability be generally accepted for such situations. *Prima facie*, the concept of 'ultra-hazardous activities' could potentially be referred to as a legal basis for this liability standard.

rise to the liability of the sponsoring State. Such liability is limited to the State's failure to meet its obligation to "ensure" compliance by the sponsored contractor".

³⁴⁵ Arguably, the fact that "complete and exclusive sovereignty over the airspace" allocated to each State by Article 1 of the Chicago Convention on International Civil Aviation of 7 December 1944 (15 UNTS 295) can only be exercised where aircraft traffic is technically possible, militates in favour of accepting that the delimitation of air space and outer space should be based on the flight dynamic criteria reflected in the "Kármán line" located at an altitude of 83,6 km. See Proelss (2017b), pp. 369–371.

In its Draft Articles on the Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous **134** Activities,³⁴⁶ the ILC regarded as 'ultra-hazardous' any activities that are characterised by "a danger that is rarely expected to materialize but might assume, on that rare occasion, grave (more than significant, serious or substantial) proportions".³⁴⁷ Relevant factors to determine whether the consequences of a certain activity are to be considered as 'grave' include the number of injured persons, the scale of damage to property and the like, the significance of environmental impacts as well as the duration and territorial extent of the damage.³⁴⁸ Examples of relatively commonplace activities where such criteria could apply are the peaceful use of nuclear energy, the bulk transport of oil and the handling of hazardous wastes.³⁴⁹

Current assumptions concerning the potential negative side effects of, say, the introduction of light-reflecting substances into the atmosphere illustrate that large-scale field tests and deployment of this geoengineering method could potentially lead to disastrous consequences for humankind, the climate and ecosystems (¶ 52 *et seq*, 60 *et seq*). Given that even activities with a low probability of causing 'grave' damage can be considered as 'ultra-hazardous', this must *a fortiori* be the case for activities where the probability to cause damage may not easily be determined but if it does occur, has the potential to be catastrophic. It has thus been argued that activities with significant uncertainty regarding the likely occurrence of catastrophic harm should be classed as having a higher level of 'ultra-hazardousness' than activities with a definably low probability of doing so.³⁵⁰ Against this background, there is good case to argue that some SRM geoengineering techniques must be categorised as 'ultra-hazardous'.

However, even with regard to 'ultra-hazardous' activities, State practice does not yet seem to sufficiently support the existence of strict State liability for otherwise lawful acts.³⁵¹ With the single exception of the space liability regime (¶ 100 *et seq*), the pertinent international agreements establish civil liability.³⁵² The operator, shipowner and so forth but not, at least not specifically, State liability.³⁵² The extent to which, or even if, these agreements provide for residual State liability, cannot be held to reflect a general rule of customary international law (Chap. 3 ¶ 14 *et seq* (Sect. 3. 3.2)). As stated by the SDC of the ITLOS, "[a] gap in liability which might occur in

135

³⁴⁶ILC, Draft Articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 148. Article 1 clarifies that the Draft Articles "apply to activities not prohibited by international law which involve a risk of causing significant transboundary harm through their physical consequences".

³⁴⁷ILC, Draft Articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm, Yearbook of the ILC 2001-II/2, p. 149, Commentary to Article 1, para. 2. See also Jenks (1966), p. 107.

³⁴⁸Dederer (2013), p. 16 (note 5).

³⁴⁹Dederer (2013), p. 16.

³⁵⁰Saxler et al. (2015), pp. 125–126.

³⁵¹Saxler et al. (2015), pp. 126–128, referring to Montjoie (2010), p. 507 and Boyle and Redgwell (2021), p. 228.

³⁵²Beyerlin and Marauhn (2010), p. 367; additional arguments against the existence of a customary legal regime of strict State liability are discussed by Montjoie (2010), pp. 507 *et seq*.

such a situation cannot be closed by having recourse to liability of the sponsoring State under customary international law. The Chamber is aware of the efforts made by the International Law Commission to address the issue of damages resulting from acts not prohibited under international law. However, such efforts have not yet resulted in provisions entailing State liability for lawful acts".³⁵³ Similarly, State liability for damage arising from 'ultra-hazardous' activities can also not be regarded as a general principle of law in terms of Article 38(1)(c) of the ICJ Statute. While strict standards of liability for particularly dangerous activities have indeed come to be accepted in several domestic legal systems, as well as international agreements addressing civil liability,³⁵⁴ these instruments are not based on a sufficiently uniform approach so as to regard them as generally accepted.³⁵⁵

Challenges in "Attributing" Responsibility/Liability for Geoengineering Activities

A precursor to establishing the responsibility or liability of a State for damage which has arisen in the context of a geoengineering activity is resolving the crucial issues of the existence of a causal nexus between damage that has occurred and a certain activity, be it unlawful or lawful. Within the realm of 'attribution science', this nexus has come to simply be described by the term attribution,³⁵⁶ however, reference to the term 'causation' is arguably preferable to avoid the issue concerned being confused with attribution in the sense of the law of State responsibility. While the deployment of a particular geoengineering method will usually be relatively easy to allocate to a particular actor, whether that particular deployment is the cause of damage that has occurred would be challenging to prove, especially if the damage occurred on the opposite side of the globe and at a much later date. Nevertheless, making such an attribution will be necessary for the purposes of determining compensation.³⁵⁷ In other words, plaintiffs may face difficult challenges in proving that the deployment of a specific method was the cause of the damage rather than a

³⁵³ ITLOS *Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area* (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, para. 168. By guaranteeing that victims of damage are compensated in cases where the operator cannot provide full compensation, residual State liability could still play a supplementary role with regard to future geoengineering liability regimes. It should be remembered that States are of course still required to fulfil their own due diligence obligations where the standard, according to the SDC of ITLOS, "has to be more severe for the riskier activities" and which require sponsoring States to adopt "'laws and regulations' and to take 'administrative measures which are, within the framework of its legal system, reasonably appropriate for securing compliance by persons under its jurisdiction" (ITLOS *Responsibilities and Obligations of States Sponsoring Persons and Entities with Respect to Activities in the Area* (Advisory Opinion), 1 February 2011, ITLOS Report 2011, 10, paras. 117–119).

³⁵⁴For references see Saxler et al. (2015), p. 127.

³⁵⁵See COM(93)47 of 14 May 1993, Green Paper on Remedying Environmental Damage, para. 2.2.1. For further references see Boyle and Redgwell (2021), pp. 228–230.

³⁵⁶See for example, the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2016).

³⁵⁷Svoboda and Irvine (2014), p. 158; Hester (2018), p. 246; Lin (2013b), p. 140.

natural climate phenomenon or some other human activity. As described above (Chap. 3 \P 64 *et seq* (Sect. 3.4.4)), the issue relevant here was briefly addressed by the ICJ in the *Wetland Compensation Case*,³⁵⁸ although the Court refrained from providing any general guidelines that could be used for 'attribution' of harm in geoengineering cases due to the specificities of that case.

Establishing a causal link between an activity and damage in the context of responsibility and liability has two legal dimensions: First, violations of multinational environmental agreements can sometimes only be determined if a causal relationship exists between pollution and harm. For example, the CLRTAP obliges its States parties to limit, reduce and prevent air pollution as far as possible.³⁵⁹ According to the definition of the term 'air pollution' in Article 1(a), the introduction of substances has to result "in deleterious effects of such a nature as to endanger human health, harm living resources and ecosystems and material property and impair or interfere with amenities and other legitimate uses of the environment". It is thus necessary that a causal link exists between the introduction of substances on the one hand and deleterious effects on the other to assume pollution has occurred.³⁶⁰ Secondly, as can be demonstrated by reference to the Wetland Com*pensation Case*, and notwithstanding the fact that the existence of damage is usually *not* a precondition for responsibility under the law of State responsibility, a causal nexus is required when determining the compensation owed by a State due to a violation of international law attributable to it. In the words of the ICJ:

In order to award compensation, the Court will ascertain whether, and to what extent, each of the various heads of damage claimed by the Applicant can be established and whether they are the consequence of wrongful conduct by the Respondent, by determining 'whether there is a sufficiently direct and certain causal nexus between the wrongful act [...] and the injury suffered by the Applicant.³⁶¹

The difficulty in proving a causal nexus between a particular activity and damage **139** is compounded by the fact that no universally valid standard of proof exists in international law.³⁶² Accepted categories include 'proof beyond a reasonable doubt',³⁶³ '(clear and) convincing evidence',³⁶⁴ 'conclusive evidence',³⁶⁵ and

³⁵⁸ICJ Certain Activities Carried Out by Nicaragua in the Border Area (Costa Rica v Nicaragua) [2018] ICJ Rep 15, para. 34.

³⁵⁹See CLRTAP Article 2.

³⁶⁰Rickels et al. (2011), p. 90; see also Bodle et al. (2014), pp. 61–63; Saxler et al. (2015), p. 120.
³⁶¹ICJ *Certain Activities Carried Out by Nicaragua in the Border Area* (Costa Rica v Nicaragua) [2018] ICJ Rep 15, para. 32.

³⁶²Saxler et al. (2015), p. 120.

³⁶³Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, 17 July 1998, 2187 UNTS 3, Article 66(3); see also ICTY *Prosecutor v Tadic* (Final Judgment) (Appeals Chamber) IT-94-1-A, 15 July 1999, para. 233.

³⁶⁴Trail Smelter Case (United States v Canada) (1941) 3 RIAA 1905, 1965.

³⁶⁵ICJ Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay (Argentina v Uruguay) [2010] ICJ Rep 14, para. 265.

'preponderance of evidence'³⁶⁶ However, even the lowest of these standards ('preponderance of evidence') relies on probabilities and uses a 'more likely than not' threshold.³⁶⁷ In assessing whether particular damage could be caused by a particular geoengineering activity, there is currently no option other than relying on the projections of climate models where their reliability is subject to intense debate. For the time being, it remains unclear whether the 'preponderance of evidence' standard can be used in a way to provide satisfactory proof of a causal link between the damage and certain geoengineering activities for the actors that would be involved. At the same time, the discussion held in Chap. 8 shows that much is in flux here. It has recently been proposed to apply the Fraction of Attributable Risk (FAR) to geoengineering,³⁶⁸ a methodological approach currently used to tackle the problem of causation in climate litigation.³⁶⁹ The reasoning here is that it is possible to operationalise FAR estimates to provide evidence in the context of inter-State court trials by recourse to a slightly modified version of a set of criteria governing the admissibility of evidence, a process which has become accepted in the US legal system in the shape of the Daubert standard.³⁷⁰ According to this standard, which was applied by the US Supreme Court in *Daubert v Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals*, a seemingly new scientific methodology is valid and can thus potentially serve as admissible evidence before a court if: (i) the theory or technique in question can be and has been tested; (ii) it has been subjected to peer review and publication; (iii) its known or potential error rate is considered; (iv) standards controlling its operation exist and are maintained; and (v) it has attracted widespread acceptance within the relevant scientific community.³⁷¹ The details of this standard which, if slightly modified would allow for an assessment of climate models,³⁷² cannot be discussed in detail here. However, the approaches that have been applied in international case law to date, in particular, the 'preponderance of evidence' standard,³⁷³ seem to be flexible enough to make recourse to the Daubert or other potentially relevant criteria possible.³⁷⁴ This view also appears to be justifiable given the lack of both a sophisticated theory of causality and evidence requirements that could be applied

³⁶⁶ICJ *Case concerning the Land, Island and Maritime Frontier Dispute* (El Salvador v Honduras; Nicaragua intervening) [1992] ICJ Rep 351, para. 248. On the variety of the standards of proof referred to by the ICJ see Benzing (2019), p. 1234, para. 108; Del Mar (2012), p. 99.

³⁶⁷This threshold has been applied by domestic courts in the UK and US; for references see Saxler et al. (2015), p. 121.

³⁶⁸Horton et al. (2015), pp. 261–264.

³⁶⁹Allen (2003), p. 891; Allen et al. (2007), pp. 1353–1400.

³⁷⁰Pfrommer et al. (2019), pp. 67–84.

³⁷¹ US Supreme Court *Daubert v Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals* (1993) 509 U.S. 579, pp. 593–594. ³⁷² Pfrommer et al. (2019), pp. 75–80.

³⁷³See also Frank (2014), p. 6, claiming that "preponderance of evidence" should be used as the standard of proof in the context of determining causality between greenhouse gas emissions and environmental damage.

³⁷⁴See Tomka and Proulx (2015), stating that "the Court does not operate on the basis of any preliminary evidentiary filter to weed out inadmissible evidence at the outset; rather, the Court

in proceedings at the international level.³⁷⁵ All this leads to the conclusion that the challenges in 'attributing' responsibility/liability for geoengineering activities can indeed be overcome.

9.5.3 **Operator Liability**

Some of the existing civil liability regimes which address different kinds of 140 transboundary hazardous activities may be applicable to accidents arising from, or in the context of, geoengineering activities. For example, in a scenario where a shipping accident occurs on the high seas in connection with the transfer of liquid CO₂ to a sequestration facility, operator liability could arise, subject to its entry into force under the 1999 Basel Protocol on Liability and Compensation for Damage Resulting from Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal. Article 3(3)(c) of this Protocol clarifies that it is also applicable to certain damage that occurs in areas beyond national jurisdiction, such as the high seas. However, this only applies to 'traditional' forms of damage, namely loss of human life, personal injury and property as well as the costs of taking preventive measures. In contrast, the costs for taking the necessary measures to restore the impacted environment in such areas are not included, probably because it is unclear how such restoration could be carried out on the high seas. As demonstrated above, the Basel Protocol establishes a standard of strict liability for actors subject to the jurisdiction of either the State of export or the State of import and who act as a notifier, exporter, importer or disposer of the wastes concerned. In contrast, the 'carrier', that is any person who merely carries out the transport of hazardous wastes or other wastes, is only subjected to fault-based liability (Chap. 15 ¶ 17 (Sect. 15.2.3)). This standard would thus usually apply in the conceivable scenarios relevant in a geoengineering context.

In contrast, the International Convention on Liability and Compensation for 141 Damage in Connection with the Carriage of Hazardous and Noxious Substances by Sea (HNS Convention),³⁷⁶ which has similarly not yet entered into force, would not be applicable to maritime accidents involving the discharge of liquefied CO₂. While the Convention establishes the liability of the shipowner under its Article 7 and, per se, covers damage caused in the EEZs of any of the States parties³⁷⁷ and to

possesses a wide margin of appreciation in ascribing different weight to different evidentiary elements originating from varied sources" (11).

³⁷⁵Tomka and Proulx (2015), p. 3: "the rigidity of evidentiary rules found in some municipal legal systems has not been transposed integrally to the international legal order. Quite the contrary, the rule of thumb for evidentiary matters before the Court is flexibility".

³⁷⁶Convention on Liability and Compensation for Damage in Connection with the Carriage of Hazardous and Noxious Substances by Sea, 3 May 1996, available at: https://www.hnsconvention. org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/2010-HNS-Convention-Consolidated-text_e.pdf (accessed on \$). ³⁷⁷See Article 3(b) HNS Convention.

the high seas as far as any damage other than the contamination of the environment is concerned.³⁷⁸ However, liquefied CO_2 is not a substance that must be treated as hazardous or noxious under the Convention. Article 1(5) of the Convention defines hazardous and noxious substances by reference to other IMO Conventions and Codes and, as far as can be seen, liquefied CO_2 is not included in any of these documents. Furthermore, it is not mentioned in Chapter 17 of the International Code for the Construction and Equipment of Ships carrying Dangerous Chemicals in Bulk (IBC Code),³⁷⁹ which is referred to by the HNS Convention with respect to dangerous liquid substances, nor is it listed in Chapter 19 of the International Code for the Construction and Equipment of Ships Carrying Liquefied Gases in Bulk (IGC Code),³⁸⁰ which is the relevant document under the HNS Convention concerning liquefied gases.

142 With the exception of the aforementioned treaties, no specific operator liability regime can be envisaged to be applicable to the mitigation of geoengineering-related damage, no matter which damage scenario is involved. As has been demonstrated in Chap. 4 (Chap. 4 ¶ 7 et seq (Sect. 4.2.1)), general international law does not yet accept the concept of direct international liability of private actors, even though the legal situation in this regard is, arguably, evolving. This assessment also applies to geoengineering activities conducted by entities such as private research institutes. Thus, if a geoengineering experiment undertaken and controlled by private actors results in environmental damage, provided that the institution's home State has complied with its due diligence obligation to avoid falling foul of State responsibility, no legal basis for a liability claim exists. While such a legal basis could be created by concluding an international treaty establishing the strict direct liability of private actors, no such agreements have yet come into existence in the context of geoengineering. That said, in line with what has been analysed in Chap. 8 in relation to climate litigation, it is still possible that companies or institutions causing damage may be held liable under the domestic law of their home States via tort litigation even if the damage has occurred in another part of the world.

9.6 The Way Forward: State Responsibility and Liability for Geoengineering Damage

143 Against the background of the analysis undertaken in the preceding Subchapters, this Subchapter discusses potential future developments concerning the development of a liability regime for geoengineering. The development of a suitable liability regime

 $^{^{378}}$ But only if damage has been caused by a substance carried on board a ship registered in a State party or, in the case of an unregistered ship, on board a ship entitled to fly the flag of a State party. See Article 3(c) HNS Convention.

³⁷⁹IMO Resolution MSC.4(48) of 17 June 1983.

³⁸⁰IMO Resolution MSC.5(48) of 17 June 1983.

for geoengineering faces numerous challenges. Besides the problem of establishing a causal relationship between a geoengineering activity on the one hand and damage which has occurred on the other, a problem which does appear to be solvable (¶ 123), these challenges can be summarised into the following six points:

First, what is the 'climate baseline' against which damage, potentially caused by geoengineering, is to be evaluated?³⁸¹ When assessing the harm, it will be necessary to establish a baseline from which to measure the damage. Should the baseline be the preindustrial climate change environment, the climate immediately prior to the deployment of the specific geoengineering method or the climate that would likely exist should the activity in question not have been conducted?

Second, the attribution of responsibility and liability presents societal issues. For example, a State that benefits from or simply prefers a warmer climate may choose to claim for harm suffered by the cooling effects of SRM methods. Alternatively, requiring a developing State with historically low emissions that nevertheless engages in CDR activities to safeguard its own climate change interests to pay compensation to a traditionally high-emitting industrialised State that suffers harm seems incompatible with theories of social justice and fairness.

Third, outcomes that damage one actor may be beneficial to other third actors, 146 creating one victim but several beneficiaries. Would such third-party beneficiaries be required to assist in paying compensation in the absence of an international fund or in the event that the actor deploying the particular geoengineering method is unable to pay the damages awarded? Fourth, disagreement concerning why victims should be compensated has the potential to impact policy-making. In this regard, approaches that "are based on ex post corrective justice, for example, would differ substantially from those based on altering actors' ex ante incentives to encourage socially optimal outcomes".³⁸² Fifth, States are generally reluctant to pay compensation and even less willing to acknowledge international legal liability. Lastly, compensation is almost always provided by means of a monetary remedy. In line with current environmental agreements, State liability for a particular geoengineering activity would typically only result in monetary damages to be paid and, unless the regime of State responsibility applies, would not allow a claimant State to prevent or stop the damaging geoengineering activities of another State.³⁸³ All this has prompted one commentator to take a particularly sobering view concerning the development of a suitable liability regime:

As a result, any liability regime is unlikely to make whole those nations and individuals harmed by geoengineering. For many of the same reasons, an environmental assurance bond requirement similar to that proposed for nanotechnology would not be a suitable primary mechanism for governing geoengineering. The potential harms are simply too irreversible, irremediable, and catastrophic for monetary damages to suffice. Just as common law tort provides for injunctive relief in situations where damages are inadequate, the difficulty of

³⁸¹Lin (2013b), p. 140.

³⁸²Reynolds (2019a).

³⁸³See Lin (2013b), p. 140, holding that "[m]onetary damages are likely to be a poor remedy for many of the harms that result from geoengineering".

establishing, measuring, and making up for adverse consequences calls for a cautious approach to geoengineering. $^{\rm 384}$

Other commentators disagree with this position, arguing that "[h]istorical ante-147 cedents and contemporary methodological and legal innovations provide a strong basis for constructing a liability regime".³⁸⁵ Indeed, while there cannot be any doubt that the call for a cautious approach to geoengineering deserves approval in light of the risks involved in virtually any of the geoengineering approaches discussed above (¶49 et seq), this should not be used as an argument to refrain from efforts to develop an appropriate liability regime. Quite the opposite, it is crucially important that a liability system be modelled in such a way that it provides the right incentives for any actors deciding to carry out geoengineering so the methods used are deployed in a way that ensures the greatest possible protection of other goods and values, including the environment and climate. At the same time, a liability system established at the *international* level requires States to be willing to agree to it and, if the liability risk is too high, no matter for which actor, States may decide to boycott the underlying regime, a possibility that militates in favour of a flexible approach.³⁸⁶ The central challenge is, therefore, that an attempt must be made to 'square the circle': the liability regime must be as strict as possible but as flexible as necessary. The obvious question is, how could the balance between these requirements be achieved? It is submitted that the only feasible option is to ask for lessons that can be learned from legal approaches which have been implemented vis-à-vis activities that are, in one way or the other, comparable to geoengineering, and to follow the historical precedents of those approaches which have succeeded.

148

As regards certain SRM techniques, in particular SAI, it has been argued that the closest similarity is to the regime of peaceful use of nuclear energy, particularly taking into account the risk of potentially catastrophic transboundary consequences involved with the two activities.³⁸⁷ Even though it has to be kept in mind that the impacts of nuclear accidents are, due to the Chernobyl and Fukushima disasters, far better studied than those of SRM, both activities are indeed characterised by complex technological and scientific challenges and uncertainties. More generally, the urgent need to find a balance between the interests of the different actors involved, as well as between what is desirable and what is feasible, militates in favour of a "mixed" liability system under which different standards could be

³⁸⁴Lin (2013b), p. 141; see also Robock (2012), p. 203.

³⁸⁵Horton et al. (2015), p. 227.

³⁸⁶But see Horton et al. (2015), p. 226, arguing that in the "absence of a credible liability system, the international community would (arguably) be unlikely to agree to any form of SAI implementation". If this assumption is correct (what seems debatable), then one may say that the existing reservation to develop an appropriate liability regime represents a political strategy to prevent that geoengineering approaches will be carried out in future.

³⁸⁷The nuclear liability regime consists of two sets of sub-regimes: the Paris Regime developed under the auspices of the Nuclear Energy Agency of the OECD, and the Vienna Regime established by the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA).
applied to different situations and actors. An effective liability regime should also take into account the requirement of providing for financial securities and establishing residual mechanisms such as funds. These basic requirements can be substantiated based on those elements that are common to existing international liability regimes and which could therefore also form the core of a future liability regime for geoengineering.³⁸⁸

With regard to the liable actors, most international liability regimes initially focus on one single type of actor, that is first and foremost, exclusively and strictly liable.³⁸⁹ The actor concerned is usually the entity in control of the activity when an incident occurs, or the entity instituting the transport of hazardous goods respectively.³⁹⁰ These actors, being responsible for the safety of their operations, are the closest related to the activity concerned and thus best suited to appropriately manage the hazards and take action in case of an incident. Furthermore, exclusive liability avoids the complicated task of establishing which of the several actors involved in, for example, the transport of hazardous material, is liable and it may also prevent the fragmentation of insurance capacity as not every actor involved has to take out insurance.³⁹¹ At the same time, all existing regimes acknowledge the existence of exemptions from liability³⁹² and most regimes also allow for a consideration of any 149

³⁸⁸The following description of common liability elements is based on Saxler et al. (2015), pp. 140–145.

³⁸⁹See Horton et al. (2015), p. 244, stating that "it is necessary to recognize that strict liability (as opposed to fault-based) has become the standard in international law, and would almost certainly apply to any SAI liability regime".

³⁹⁰Operator: Art 3 of the Paris Convention on Third Party Liability in the Field of Nuclear Energy of 29 July 1960 (Paris Convention), as amended by the Additional Protocol of 28 January 1964 (956 UNTS 263); Article II(1) of the Vienna Convention on Civil Liability for Nuclear Damage of 21 May 1963 (1063 UNTS 265); Article 3 of the Annex to the Brussels Convention Supplementary to the Convention on Third Party Liability in the Field of Nuclear Energy of 31 January 1963 (Brussels Supplementary Convention), as amended by the Additional Protocol of 28 January 1964 (1041 UNTS 358); Article II(1)(2) of the Convention on the Liability of Operators of Nuclear Ships of 25 May 1962 (Nuclear Ships Convention), American Journal of International Law 57 (1963), p. 268; Articles 6 & 7 of the Lugano Convention. Shipowner: Article III(1) of the Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage of 29 November 1969 (973 UNTS 3), amended by the Protocol to the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage of 19 November 1976 (1225 UNTS 355), and revised by the Protocol to amend the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, of 27 November 1992 (1956 UNTS 255); Article 3(1) of the International Convention on Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage (Bunkers Convention) of 23 March 2001, ILM 40 (2001), 1493; Article 7(1) of the HNS Convention.

³⁹¹See International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) (2017), p. 1.

³⁹²E.g., Article 9 of the Paris Convention; Article IV(3) of the Vienna Convention; Article 3(5) of the Annex to the Supplementary Compensation Convention; Article VIII of the Nuclear Ships Convention; Article III(2) of the Oil Civil Liability Convention; Article 3(3) of the Bunkers Convention; Article 7(2) of the HNS Convention; Article 4(5) of the Basel Protocol.

contributory fault on the part of the victim of harm³⁹³ and fault-based liability of other actors.³⁹⁴

150 As far as the covered damage is concerned, all existent regimes refer to damage to persons and property.³⁹⁵ Treaties that were concluded more recently include certain kinds of economic loss³⁹⁶ and measures of prevention following the occurrence of an incident to minimise and/or prevent further harm.³⁹⁷ These agreements also address damage to the environment, albeit in different ways. While all treaties provide for compensation of measures of reinstatement,³⁹⁸ in most instances this only includes actions necessary to reinstate or restore the harmed environment. In contrast, some regimes go beyond that by referring to the introduction of "equivalent [environment1] components into the environment"³⁹⁹ if the restoration of the original environment is not possible. Furthermore, some regimes, be it expressly or tacitly, include compensation for scientific assessment of the damaged environment.⁴⁰⁰ Compensation for harm to the environment which is unrelated to pure economic loss or damage to persons and property is not regulated by any of the regimes concerned.⁴⁰¹

151

Concerning limitations to liability, all the relevant agreements contain provisions on time limits. In particular, an absolute time limit generally applies which is calculated by referring to the occurrence of the incident in question as the starting

³⁹⁹Article 2(8) of the Lugano Convention.

⁴⁰⁰Article 2(2)(d) of the Basel Protocol.

³⁹³Article IV(2) of the Vienna Convention; Article 3(6) of the Annex to the Supplementary Compensation Convention; Article II(5) of the Nuclear Ships Convention; Article III(3) of the Oil Civil Liability Convention; Article 3(4) of the Bunkers Convention; Article 7(3) of the HNS Convention; Article 4(3) of the Kiev Protocol; Article 9 of the Lugano Convention.

³⁹⁴See Article III(4) of the Oil Civil Liability Convention; Article 7(5) of the HNS Convention; Article 5 of the Basel Protocol.

³⁹⁵E.g., Article 3(a)(i) & (ii) of the Paris Convention; Article I(7) of the Nuclear Ships Convention; Article 1(6)(a) & (b) of the HNS Convention.

 $^{^{396}}$ E.g., Article I(f)(iii), (v) & (vii) of the Supplementary Compensation Convention; Article I(6) (a) of the Oil Civil Liability Convention; Article I(9)(a) of the Bunkers Convention; Article 1(6) (c) of the HNS Convention; Article 2(2)(c)(iii) of the Basel Protocol; Article 2(2)(d)(iii) of the Kiev Protocol.

³⁹⁷E.g., Section I B(vii)(6) & (ix) of the Protocol to Amend the Convention on Third Party Liability in the Field of Nuclear Energy of 29 July 1960, as amended by the Additional Protocol of 28 January 1964 and by the Protocol of 16 November 1982, of 12 February 2004 (2004 Paris Protocol), https://www.oecd-nea.org/law/paris_convention.pdf, accessed 1 Apr 2022; Article I(f) (vi) & (h) of the Supplementary Compensation Convention; Article 1(9)(b) & (7) of the Bunkers Convention; Article I(6)(b) & (7) of the Oil Civil Liability Convention.

 $^{^{398}}$ E.g., Section I B(vii)(4) & (viii) of the 2004 Paris Protocol; Article I(f)(iv) & (g) of the Supplementary Compensation Convention; Article I(6)(a) of the Oil Civil Liability Convention; Article 1(9)(a) of the Bunkers Convention; Article 1(6)(c) of the HNS Convention.

⁴⁰¹ It has been stated that the Lugano Convention, which provides for the introduction of equivalents into the damaged environment, comes "very close to providing compensation for damage to the environment *per se*, for introducing the 'equivalent' into the environment is qualitatively different from restoring the environment to its exact pre-existing state" (de La Fayette 2010, p. 340).

point.⁴⁰² Almost all regimes establish limits concerning monetary compensation, shaped either by way of minimum⁴⁰³ and/or maximum amounts with some agreements foreseeing that the limitation of compensation depends on the establishment of a fund by the liable actor.⁴⁰⁴ Finally, some liability regimes have a general requirement that the operator provides some kind of financial security.⁴⁰⁵ Some agreements contain further obligations relevant to one or several funds that have to be established in advance or establish such funds themselves to provide supplementary compensation. Financial resources are to be provided either by the State party that authorises the activity, by the State party on whose territory the activity is carried out,⁴⁰⁶ by the State parties collectively⁴⁰⁷ or by the recipients of the hazardous material.⁴⁰⁸ With regard to SRM, it has been suggested that operators within the fossil fuel industry should be required to provide funds sufficient for potential future compensation.⁴⁰⁹

⁴⁰²See, e.g., Article 8(a) of the Paris Convention; Article VI(1) of the Vienna Convention; Article 9(1) of the Annex to the Supplementary Compensation Convention; Article V(1) of the Nuclear Ships Convention; Article VIII of the Oil Civil Liability Convention; Article 8 of the Bunkers Convention; Article 37(3) of the HNS Convention.

⁴⁰³ See Article 7(b) & (c) of the Paris Convention; Article V of the Vienna Convention; Article 4 of the Annex to the Supplementary Compensation Convention.

 $^{^{404}}$ Article V(1) – (3) of the Oil Civil Liability Convention; Article 9(1) – (3) HNS Convention.

⁴⁰⁵ Article 10 of the Paris Convention; Article 3(b)(i) of the Brussels Supplementary Convention; Article VII of the Vienna Convention; Article III(2) & (3) of the Nuclear Ships Convention; Article VII of the Oil Civil Liability Convention; Article 7 of the Bunkers Convention; Article 12 of the HNS Convention; Article 14 of the Basel Protocol; Art 11 of and Annex II Part II to the Kiev Protocol. According to Article 12 Lugano Convention, financial security is "[w]here appropriate, taking due account of the risks of the activity", compulsory.

⁴⁰⁶See Section I K (c) of the 2004 Paris Protocol; Article 3(b)(ii) of the Brussels Supplementary Convention.

 $^{^{407}}$ Article 3(b)(iii) & Article 12 of the Brussels Supplementary Convention; Article III(1)(b) & Article IV of the Supplementary Compensation Convention.

⁴⁰⁸ Articles 2(2), 4 & 10 of the Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage (Oil Fund Convention) of 18 December 1971 (1110 UNTS 57), amended by the Protocol to the International Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage of 19 November 1976 (1862 UNTS 509) and revised by the Protocol to amend the International Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage of 27 November 1992 (1953 UNTS 330). In particular due to the existence and specific design of the compensation funds foreseen by the aforementioned agreements, the oil pollution liability regime is strongly advocated as a model for geoengineering by Horton et al. (2015), pp. 250–259.

⁴⁰⁹Horton et al. (2015), p. 258.

9.7 Conclusion

- **152** The aforementioned elements offer some useful insights into how a potential future regime of liability for geoengineering damage could be shaped. In particular, the flexible character of many existent agreements facilitates their continued application to changing circumstances as well as newly emerging knowledge and activities. Furthermore, their very existence is evidence of a certain degree of acceptability concerning their underlying guiding principles and institutional architecture. At the same time, it has to be kept in mind that some of the aforementioned treaties have not yet entered into force, a fact that again indicates the existing reluctance on behalf of the community of States towards accepting *any* general framework establishing their liability for harm arising from engaging in 'ultra-hazardous' activities.
- 153 Therefore, in the absence of an adequately tailored geoengineering liability regime, it can be assumed that the developments identified in Chap. 7 regarding tort litigation will apply to geoengineering activities should any damage occur as a result of a large-scale experiment or deployment. This assumption is justified in view of the comparatively close interrelationship between the climate regime on the one hand and geoengineering on the other, especially considering that the various approaches are all consistent in their aim to contribute to the objectives of the Paris Agreement. This assumption is also reasonable in view of the fact that the challenges posed in the context of climate litigation in connection with establishing a causal nexus between activity and damage are almost equally relevant to geoengineering. Adding to the viability of this approach is the fact that the enforcement of liability claims before national courts does not involve objections that often apply at the level of public international law. In this respect, insofar as the respective tort claims are directed against private actors carrying out the activities in question and in accordance with the polluter-pays principle, it is neither possible to invoke the principle of State immunity nor can the jurisdiction of the courts be challenged by the parties to the dispute. Against this background, geoengineering could, in the future, prove to be a model with regard to international corporate liability for environmental harm.

References

- Abass A (2004) Consent precluding state responsibility: a critical analysis. Int Comp Law Q 53: 211–225
- Ahlm L, Jones A, Stjern CW et al (2017) Marine cloud brightening as effective without clouds. Atmos Chem Phys 17(21):13071–13087
- Alexander L, Allen S, Bindoff NL, Breon FM (2013) Summary for policy makers. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK et al (eds) Climate change 2013: the physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, pp 3–32

Allen M (2003) Liability for climate change. Nature 421:891-892

- Allen M, Pall P, Stone D et al (2007) Scientific challenges in the attribution of harm to human influence on climate. Univ Pa Law Rev 155:1353–1400
- Allen MR, Babiker M, Chen Y et al (2018) Summary for policymakers. In: Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pörtner HO et al (eds) Global warming of 1.5°C, an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty, pp 3–26
- Arctic Ice Project (2021) Ice911 research changes name to Arctic Ice Project. https://www. arcticiceproject.org/weve-changed-our-name/. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Bala G, Caldeira K, Nemani R et al (2010) Albedo enhancement of marine clouds to counteract global warming: impacts on the hydrological cycle. Clim Dyn 37:915–931
- Bay LK, Rocker M, Boström-Einarsson L et al (2019) Reef restoration and adaptation program: intervention technical summary. A report provided to the Australian Government by the Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program
- Benzing M (2019) Evidentiary issues. In: Zimmermann A, Tams CJ, Oellers-Frahm K, Tomuschat C (eds) The Statute of the International Court of Justice – a commentary, 3rd edn. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 1371–1414
- Beyerlin U, Marauhn T (2010) International environmental law. Hart/Beck, London/München
- Biermann F, Oomen J, Gupta A et al (2022) Solar geoengineering: the case for an international non-use agreement. WIREs Clim Change 2022(754):1–8
- Birchenough A, Haag F (2020) The London Convention and London Protocol and their expanding mandate. Ocean Yearb 2020(34):255–278
- Bodansky D (2013) The who, what, and wherefore of geoengineering governance. Climate Change 121:539–551
- Bodle R (2010) Geoengineering and international law: the search for common legal ground. Tulsa Law Rev 46(2):305–322
- Bodle R, Oberthür S, Donat L et al (2014) Options and proposals for the international governance of geoengineering. Umweltbundesamt. https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/optionsproposals-for-the-international-governance. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Boettcher M, Schäfer S (2017) Reflecting upon 10 years of geoengineering research: introduction to the Crutzen + 10 special issue. Earth's Future 5(3):266–277
- Boschen B (2015) The regulation of ocean fertilization and marine geoengineering under the London Protocol. In: Abate R (ed) Climate change impacts on ocean and coastal law. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 367–391
- Boyle A, Redgwell C (2021) Birnie, Boyle & Redgwell's international law and the environment, 4th edn. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Brent K (2018) Solar radiation management geoengineering and strict liability for ultrahazardous activities. In: Craik N, Jefferies CSG, Seck SL, Stephens T (eds) Global environmental change and innovation in international law. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 161–179
- Brent K, McGee J, Maguire A (2015) Does the 'no-harm' rule have a role in preventing transboundary harm and harm to the global atmospheric commons from geoengineering? Climate Law 5(2015):35–63
- Brent K, Burns W, McGee J (2019) Governance of marine geoengineering: special report. Centre for International Governance Innovation (CIGI). https://www.cigionline.org/static/documents/ documents/MarineGov-web.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Brunnée J (2020) Procedure and substance in international environmental law. Brill Nijhoff, Leiden
- Burns W (2010) Geoengineering the climate: an overview of solar radiation management options. Tulsa Law Rev 46(2010):283–304
- Caldeira K, Wickett ME (2003) Anthropogenic carbon and ocean pH. Nature 425(2003):365-368
- Cardwell H (2022) Tonga eruption could have 'cooling effect' on southern hemisphere. Radio New Zealand (RNZ). https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/national/459707/tonga-eruption-could-havecooling-effect-on-southern-hemisphere-scientist. Accessed 1 Apr 2022

- Carnegie Climate Governance Initiative (2019) What's in a name? Why we became C2G. https:// www.c2g2.net/whats-in-a-name-why-we-became-c2g/. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Carnierge Climate Governance Initiative (2020) Putting the Great Barrier Reef marine cloud brightening experiment into context. https://www.c2g2.net/putting-the-great-barrier-reef-marine-cloud-brightening-experiment-into-context/. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Chen CJ (2012) The liability and compensation mechanism under international marine environmental law: adopting the polluter pays principle to control marine pollution under international law from the aspect of international cooperation. Proceedings from the LOSI-KIOST Conference on Securing the Ocean for the Next Generation, held in Seoul, Korea, May 2012
- Churchill RR, Lowe AV (1999) The law of the sea, 3rd edn. Manchester University Press, Manchester
- Ciais P, Sabine C et al (2013) Carbon and other biogeochemical cycles. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK et al (eds) Climate change 2013: the physical science basis, Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 465–570
- Clark JP, Lee S (2019) The role of the tropically excited arctic warming mechanism on the warm arctic cold continent surface air temperature trend pattern. Geophys Res Lett 46(2019): 8490–8499
- Climate Analytics (undated) Climate action tracker. https://climateanalytics.org/what-we-do/ climate-action-tracker/. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Corry O (2017) The international politics of geoengineering: the feasibility of plan B for tackling climate change. Secur Dialogue 48(2017):297–315
- Corry O, Möller I, Horton J et al (2019) Harvard's solar geoengineering research program, perspectives on the UNEA resolution. https://geoengineering.environment.harvard.edu/blog/ perspectives-unea-resolution. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Craik N, Burns W (2016) Climate engineering under the Paris Agreement: a legal and policy primer. Centre for International Governance Innovation (CIGI) Special Report
- Craik N, Burns W (2019) Climate engineering and the Paris Agreement. Environ Law Report 49(2019):11,113–11,129
- Crook JA, Jackson LS, Forster PM (2016) Can increasing albedo of existing ship wakes reduce climate change? JGR Atmos 121(4):1549–1558
- Crutzen PJ (2006) Albedo enhancement by stratospheric sulfur injections: a contribution to resolve a policy dilemma? Clim Change 77:211–252
- de Connick H, Revi A et al (2018) Strengthening and implementing the global response. In: Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pörtner HO et al (eds) Global warming of 1.5°C, an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty, pp 313–444
- de La Fayette LA (1998) The London Convention 1972: preparing for the future. Int J Mar Coast Law 13(1998):515–536
- de La Fayette LA (2003) Compensation for environmental damage in maritime liability regimes. In: Kirchner A (ed) International marine environmental law: institutions, implementation and innovations. Kluwer Law International, The Hague, pp 231–266
- de La Fayette LA (2010) International liability for damage to the environment. In: Fitzmaurice M, Ong DM, Merkouris P (eds) Research handbook on international environmental law. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, pp 320–360
- Dederer HG (2013) Staatenverantwortlichkeit ("State responsibility") and Haftung ("liability") im Bereich der "ultrahzardous activities". In: Hecker B, Hendler R, Proelss A, Reiff P (eds) Verantwortlichkeit und Haftung für Umweltschäden. Erich Schmidt Verlag, Berlin, pp 13–50
- Del Mar K (2012) The International Court of Justice and standards of proof. In: Bannelier K, Christakis T, Heathcote S (eds) The ICJ and the evolution of international law: the enduring impact of the Corfu Channel Case. Routledge, Abingdon, pp 98–123

Desch SJ, Smith N, Groppi C et al (2016) Arctic ice management. Earth's Future 5(2016):107-127

- Du H (2019) An international legal framework for geoengineering: managing the risks of an emerging technology. Routledge, Abingdon
- Dupuy PM, Viñuales J (2015) International environmental law. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Evans JRG, Stride EPJ, Edirisighe MJ et al (2010) Can oceanic foams limit global warming? Clim Change 42(2010):155–160
- Fan W, Chen J, Pan Y et al (2013) Experimental study on the performance of an air-lift pump for artificial upwelling. Ocean Eng 59(2013):47–57
- Fan W, Pan Y, Zhang D et al (2016) Experimental study on the performance of a wave pump for artificial upwelling. Ocean Eng 113(2016):191–200
- Field L, Ivanova D, Bhattacharyya S et al (2018) Increasing arctic sea ice albedo using localized reversible geoengineering. Earth's Future 6(6):882–901
- Frank W (2014) Überlegungen zur Klimahaftung nach Völkerrecht. Neue Zeitschrift für Verwaltungsrecht Extra 11(2014):1–8
- Frantzen B (1991) Umweltbelastungen durch Weltraumaktivitäten. In: Böckstiegel KH (ed) Handbuch des Weltraumrechts. Carl Heymanns Verlag, Cologne, pp 597 *et seq*
- Gehring T, Jachtenfuchs M (1988) Haftung und Umwelt: Interessenkonflikte im internationalen Weltraum-, Atom- und Seerecht. P. Lang, Berlin
- Geoengineering Monitor (2018) The ICE 911 Project: geoengineering experimtent briefing. http:// www.geoengineeringmonitor.org/2018/04/ice-911-geoengineering-experiment-briefing/. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Geoengineering Monitor (2019) Arctic geoengineering experiment is dangerous, lacks community consent: Inupiaq Organizer. http://www.geoengineeringmonitor.org/2019/02/arctic-geoengineering-experiment-is-dangerous-lacks-community-consent-inupiaq-organizer/. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- German Research Foundation (DFG) (2019) Climate engineering and our climate targets a longoverdue debate. Brochure SPP 1689. file:///C:/Users/I359D~1.WAR/AppData/Local/Temp/ climateengineering_spp1689_english.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- GESAMP (2019) High level review of a wide range of proposed marine geoengineering techniques. IMO/FAO/UNESCO-IOC/UNIDO/WMO/IAEA/UN/UN Environment/UNDP/ISA Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection, Rep. Stud. GESAMP No. 98
- Ginzky H, Frost R (2014) Marine geo-engineering: legally binding regulation under the London Protocol. Carbon Climate Law Rev 8(2):82–96
- Heckendorn P, Weisenstein D, Fueglistaler S et al (2009) The impact of geoengineering aerosols on stratospheric temperature and ozone. Environ Res Lett 4(4):1–12
- Hester T (2018) Liability and compensation. In: Gerrard MB, Hester T (eds) Climate engineering and the law: regulation and liability for solar radiation management and carbon dioxide removal. Cambridge University Press, New York, pp 224–268
- Heyen D (2019) Risk governance and the strategic role of uncertainty. In: Stavins RN, Stowe RC (eds) Governance of the deployment of solar geoengineering. Harvard Project on Climate Agreements, Cambridge, pp 91–94
- Heyward C (2015) Time to stop talking about "climate engineering". Forum for Climate Engineering Assessment. https://ceassessment.org/time-to-stop-talking-about-climate-engineering-clareheyward/. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Hofmann T, Proelss A (2015) The operation of gliders under the international law of the sea. Ocean Dev Int Law 46(3):167–187
- Hollier W, Rau GH, Dicks A, Bainbridge S (2011) Reef climate adaptation research and technology. Int J Climate Change: Impacts Responses 2(4):127–142
- Horton J, Parker A, Keith D (2013) Solar geoengineering and the problem of liability. Geoengineering Our Climate Working Paper and Opinion Article Series. https://keith.seas. harvard.edu/publications/solar-geoengineering-and-problem-liability. Accessed 1 Apr 2022

- Horton J, Parker A, Keith D (2015) Liability for solar geoengineering: historical precedents, contemporary innovations, and governance possibilities. NYU Environ Law J 22:225–272
- Hubert AM (2020) International legal and institutional arrangements relevant to the governance of climate engineering technologies. In: Florin MV, Rouse P, Hubert AM, Honegger M, Reynolds J (eds) International governance of climate engineering: information for policymakers. EPFL International Risk Governance Center, Lausanne, pp 48–71
- Huh S, Nishimoto K (2017) Article 245: marine scientific research in the territorial. In: Proelss A (ed) United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea a commentary. C.H. Beck, Munich, pp 1643–1648
- International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) (2017) The 1997 Vienna Convention on Civil Liability for Nuclear Damage and the 1997 Convention on Supplementary Compensation for Nuclear Damage – Explanatory Texts. IAEA International Law Series No. 3
- International Energy Agency (IEA) (2013) Technology Roadmap: Carbon Capture and Storage 2013. https://www.iea.org/reports/technology-roadmap-carbon-capture-and-storage-2013. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) (2016) Summary report, 26 August 9 September 2016: 2nd Session of the BBNJ Preparatory Committee. https://enb.iisd.org/ events/2nd-session-bbnj-preparatory-committee/summary-report-26-august-9-september-2016. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) (2017) Summary report, 10-21 July 2017: 4th Session of the BBNJ Preparatory Committee. https://enb.iisd.org/events/4th-session-bbnj-preparatory-committee/summary-report-10-21-july-2017. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Irvine PJ, Schäfer S, Lawrence MG (2014) Solar radiation management could be a game changer. Nat Climate Change 4:842
- Irvine P, Emanuel K, He J, Horowitz LW, Vecchi G, Keith D (2019) Halving warming with idealized solar geoengineering moderates key climate hazards. Nat Climate Change 9:295–299
- Jenks CW (1966) Liability for ultra-hazardous activities in international law. Recueil des Cours 117:103–200
- Keith D, Morton O, Shyur Y, Worden P, Wordsworth R (2020) Reflections on a meeting about space-based solar geoengineering. Harvard's Solar Geoengieering Research Program. https:// geoengineering.environment.harvard.edu/blog/reflections-meeting-about-space-based-solargeoengineering. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Keller DP (2018) Marine climate engineering. In: Saloman M, Markus T (eds) Handbook on marine environment protection. Springer, Wiesbaden, pp 261–276
- Keller DP, Lenton A, Scott V et al (2018) The Carbon Dioxide Removal Model Intercomparison Project (CDRMIP): rationale and experimental protocol for CMIP6. Geosci Model Dev 11(3): 1133–1160
- Kenyon KE (2007) Upwelling by a wave pump. J Oceanogr 63:327-331
- Kirke B (2003) Enhancing fish stocks with wave-powered artificial upwelling. Ocean Coast Manag 46:901–915
- Kosugi T (2010) Role of sunshades in space as a climate control option. Acta Astronautica 67:241– 253
- Krieger H, Peters A (2020) Conclusion. In: Krieger H, Peters A, Kreuzer L (eds) Due diligence in the international legal order. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 351–390
- Kristijánsson JE, Muri H, Schmidt H (2015) The hydrological cycle response to cirrus cloud thinning. Geophys Res Lett 42(24): 10,807-10,815
- Krüger H (2020) Geoengineering und Völkerrecht. Mohr Siebeck, Tübingen
- Kwiatkowski L, Ricke KL, Caldeira K (2015) Atmospheric consequences of disruption of the ocean thermocline. Environ Res Lett 10:1–10
- Langlet D (2015) Exporting CO2 for sub-seabed storage: the non-effective amendment to the London Dumping Protocol and its implications. Int J Mar Coast Law 30:395–417
- Lawrence MG, Schäfer S, Muri H et al (2018) Evaluating climate geoengineering proposals in the context of the Paris Agreement temperature goals. Nat Commun 9:1–19

Lin AC (2013a) Does geoengineering present a moral hazard? Ecol Law Q 40:673-712

- Lin AC (2013b) Prometheus reimagined: technology, environment, and law in the twenty-first century. University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor
- Lohmann U, Gasparini B (2016) Why cirrus cloud seeding cannot substantially cool the planet. JGR Atmos 121(9):4877–4893
- Lohmann U, Gasparini B (2017) A cirrus cloud climate dial? Science 357(6348):248-249
- Lunt DJ, Ridgwell A, Valdes PJ, Seale A (2008) Sunshade world: a fully coupled GCM evaluation of the climatic impacts of geoengineering. Geophys Res Lett 35:1–5
- Maas A, Scheffran J (2012) Climate conflicts 2.0? Climate engineering as a challenge for international peace and security. Sicherheit und Frieden/Secur Peace 30:193–200
- MacMartin DG, Irvine PJ, Kravitz B, Horton JB (2019) Technical characteristics of a solar geoengineering deployment and implications for governance. Climate Policy 19(10): 1325–1339
- Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pörtner HO et al (eds) (2019) Global warming of 1.5°C: an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable evelopment, and efforts to eradicate poverty. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/06/SR15_Full_Report_Low_Res.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Matz-Lück N (2017) Article 238. In: Proelss A (ed) United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea a commentary. C.H. Beck, Munich, pp 1605–1614
- Mayer B (2018) Obligations of conduct in the international law on climate change: a defence. Rev Eur Community Int Environ Law 27:130–140
- McClaren D (2012) A comparative global assessment of potential negative emissions technologies. Process Saf Environ Protect 90(6):489–500
- McGee J, Brent K, Burns W (2017) Geoengineering the oceans: an emerging frontier in international climate change governance. Aust J Marit Ocean Aff 10(1):67–80
- Meng Q, Wang C, Chen Y, Chen J (2013) A simplified CFD model for air-lift artificial upwelling. Ocean Eng 72:267–276
- Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan (2018) Statement by Chief Cabinet Secretary. 26 December 2018. https://www.mofa.go.jp/ecm/fsh/page4e_000969.html. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Montjoie M (2010) The concept of liability in the absence of an internationally wrongful act. In: Crawford J, Pellet A, Olleson S, Parlett K (eds) The law of international responsibility. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 503–514
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2016) Attribution of extreme weather events in the context of climate change. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC
- Oschlies A, Koeve W, Rickels W, Rehdanz K (2010) Side effects and accounting aspects of hypothetical large-scale Southern Ocean iron fertilization. Biogeosciences 7:4017–4035
- Papanicolopulu I (2020) Due diligence in the law of the sea. In: Krieger H, Peters A, Kreuzer L (eds) Due diligence in the international legal order. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 147–162
- Partanen AI, Keller D, Korhonen H, Matthews H (2016) Impacts of sea spray geoengineering on ocean biogeochemistry. Geophys Res Lett 43:7600–7608
- Pearson J, Oldson J, Eugene L (2006) Earth rings for planetary environment control. Acta Astronautica 58:44–57
- Pfrommer T, Goeschl T, Proelss A et al (2019) Establishing causation in climate litigation: admissibility and reliability. Clim Change 152:67–84
- Powell H (2008) Fertilizing the ocean with iron: should we add iron to the sea to help reduce greenhouse gases in the air? Oceanus 46(1)
- President's Science Advisory Committee (1965) Restoring the quality of our environment: Report of the Environmental Pollution Panel. http://ozonedepletiontheory.info/Papers/Revelle1 965AtmosphericCarbonDioxide.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022

- Proelss A (2010) International environmental law and the challenge of climate change. German Yearb Int Law 53:65–88
- Proelss A (2012a) Das Urteil des Internationalen Gerichtshofs im Pulp Mills-Fall und seine Bedeutung für die Entwicklung des Umweltvölkerrechts. In: Ruffert M (ed) Dynamik und Nachhaltigkeit des Öffentlichen Rechts. Duncker & Humblot, Berlin, pp 612–627
- Proelss A (2012b) Geoengineering and international law. Sicherheit und Frieden/Secur Peace 30: 205–211
- Proelss A (2015) International legal challenges concerning marine scientific research in the era of climate change. In: Scheiber HN, Kraska J, Kwon MS (eds) Science, technology, and new challenges to ocean law. Brill Nijhoff, Leiden, pp 280–295
- Proelss A (2017a) Prinzipien des internationalen Umweltrechts. In: Proelss A (ed) Internationales Umweltrecht. De Gruyter, Berlin, pp 69–104
- Proelss A (2017b) Schutz der Luft und des Weltraums. In: Proelss A (ed) Internationales Umweltrecht. De Gruyter, Berlin, pp 367–393
- Proelss A (in print) Law of the sea and geoengineering. In: Jensen X et al (eds) The law of the sea: normative context and interactions with other legal regimes. Routledge, Cheltenham
- Proelss A, Güssow K (2011) Carbon capture and storage from the perspective of international law. Eur Yearb Int Econ Law 2:151–168
- Proelss A, Hong C (2012) Ocean upwelling and international law. Ocean Dev Int Law 43:371-385
- Rajamani L (2020) Due diligence in climate change law. In: Krieger H, Peters A, Kreuzer L (eds) Due diligence in the international legal order. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 163–182
- Reichwein D, Hubert AM, Irvine PJ, Benduhn F, Lawrence MG (2015) State responsibility for environmental harm from climate engineering. Climate Law 5:142–181
- Reynolds JL (2014) Climate engineering field research: the favorable setting of international environmental law. Wash Lee J Energy Climate Environ 5:417–486
- Reynolds JL (2017) Solar climate engineering, law, and regulation. In: Brownsword R, Scotford R, Yeung K (eds) The Oxford handbook of law, regulation and technology. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 799–822
- Reynolds JL (2018) International law. In: Gerrard MB, Hester T (eds) Climate engineering and the law: regulation and liability for solar radiation management and carbon dioxide removal. Cambridge University Press, New York, pp 57–153
- Reynolds JL (2019a) Solar geoengineering to reduce climate change: a review of governance proposals. Proceedings of the Royal Society A 457. https://royalsocietypublishing.org/ doi/10.1098/rspa.2019.0255. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Reynolds JL (2019b) The governance of solar geoengineering: managing climate change in the anthropocene. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Reynolds JL (2020) Elements and steps for global governance. In: Florin MV, Rouse P, Hubert AM, Honegger M, Reynolds JL (eds) International governance issues on climate engineering. Information for policymakers, EPFL International Risk Governance Center (IRGC), Lausanne, pp 92–108
- Rickels W, Klepper G, Dovern J et al (2011) Large-scale intentional interventions into the climate system? Assessing the climate engineering debate. Scoping report conducted on behalf of the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF), Kiel Earth Institute, Kiel
- Ringbom H, Bohman B, Ilvessalo S (2018) Combatting eutrophication in the Baltic Sea: legal aspects of sea-based engineering measures. Brill Res Perspect: Law Sea 2(4):1–96
- Robock A (2008) 20 reasons why geoengineering may be a bad idea. Bull At Sci 64:14-18
- Robock A (2011) Bubble, bubble, toil and trouble: an editorial comment. Clim Change 105:383– 385
- Robock A (2012) Will geoengineering with solar radiation management ever be used? Ethics Policy Environ 15:203–205
- Robock A, Oman L, Stechnikov GL (2008) Regional climate responses to geoengineering with tropical and arctic SO₂ injections. J Geophys Res 113:1–15

- Robock A, Bunzl M, Kravitz B, Stenchikov GL (2010) A test for geoengineering? Science 327: 530–531
- Robock A, MacMartin DG, Duren R, Christensen MW (2013) Studying geoengineering with natural and anthropogenic analogs. Clim Change 121:453–454
- Rogelj J, den Elzen M, Höhne N et al (2016) Paris Agreement climate proposals need a boost to keep warming well below 2°C. Nature 534:631–639
- Royal Society (2009) Geoengineering the climate: science, governance and uncertainty. https:// royalsociety.org/-/media/Royal_Society_Content/policy/publications/2009/8693.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Sands P, Peel J (2018) Principles of international environmental law. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Saxler B, Siegfried J, Proelss A (2015) International liability for transboundary damage arising from stratospheric aerosol injections. Law Innov Technol 7(1):112–147
- Schäfer S, Lawrence M, Stelzer H, Born W, Low S (eds) (2015) The European Transdisciplinary Assessment of Climate Engineering (EuTRACE): removing greenhouse gases from the atmosphere and reflecting sunlight away from earth. Final report of the FP7 CSA project EuTRACE. European Transdisciplinary Assessment of Climate Engineering. https://www.iass-potsdam.de/ sites/default/files/files/rz_150715_eutrace_digital_0.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Scheer D, Renn O (2014) Public perception of geoengineering and its consequences for public debate. Clim Change 125:305–318
- Schipper LF (2006) Conceptual history of adaptation in the UNFCCC process. Rev Eur Community Int Environ Law 15:82–83
- Schröter J (2015) Strukturprinzipien des Umweltvölkerrechts und ihr Beitrag zur Eindämmung des Klimawandels. Erich Schmidt Verlag, Berlin
- Scott KN (2013) International law in the anthropocene: responding to the geoengineering challenge. Mich J Int Law 34:309–358
- Scott KN (2015) Geoengineering and the marine environment. In: Rayfuse R (ed) Research handbook on international marine environmental law. Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham, pp 451–472
- Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2009) Scientific synthesis of the impacts of ocean fertilization on marine biodiversity. Technical Series No. 45, Montreal
- Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2012) Geoengineering in relation to the convention on biological diversity: technical and regulatory matters. Technical Series No. 66, Montreal
- Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2016) Update on climate geoengineering in relation to the convention on biological diversity: potential impacts and regulatory framework. Technical Series No. 84, Montreal
- Seitz R (2011) Bright water: hydrosols, water conservation and climate change. Clim Change 105: 365–381
- Sikka T (2020) Activism and neoliberalism: two sides of geoengineering discourse. Capital Nat Social 31(1):84–102
- Soons AHA (1982) Marine scientific research and the law of the sea. Kluwer Law and Taxation Publishers, Deventer
- Stavins RN, Stowe RC (eds) (2019) Governance of the deployment of solar geoengineering. Harvard Project on Climate Agreements, Cambridge
- Stenzel F, Gerten D, Werner C, Jägermeyr J (2019) Freshwater requirements of large-scale bioenergy plantations for limiting global warming to 1.5 °C. Environ Res Lett 14
- Stephens T (2017) Article 235. In: Proelss A (ed) United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea a commentary. C.H. Beck, Munich, pp 1586–1592
- Stocker TF, Dahe Q, Plattner GK (2013) Technical summary. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK et al (eds) Climate change 2013: the physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, pp 33–115

- Storelvmo T, Boos WR, Herger N (2014) Cirrus cloud seeding: a climate engineering mechanism with reduced side effects? Philos Trans R Soc 372(2031):1–11
- Svoboda T, Irvine P (2014) Ethical and technical challenges in compensating for harm due to solar radiation management geoengineering. Ethics Policy Environ 17:157–174
- Switzerland (2019) Resolution for consideration at the 4th United Nations Environment Assembly geoengineering and its governance. https://geoengineering.environment.harvard.edu/files/sgrp/ files/draft_unea_resolution.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Taalas P, Msuya J (2018) Forword. In: Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pörtner HO et al (eds) Global warming of 1.5°C an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable evelopment, and efforts to eradicate poverty. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/06/SR15_ Full_Report_Low_Res.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Talberg A, Christoff P, Thomas S, Karoly D (2017) Geoengineering governance-by-default: an earth system governance perspective, international environmental agreements. Polit Law Econ 18:229–253
- Tams C, Devaney J (2017) Article 263. In: Proelss A (ed) United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea a commentary. C.H. Beck, Munich, pp 1749–1756
- Tilmes S, Müller R, Salawitch R (2008) The sensitivity of polar ozone depletion to proposed geoengineering schemes. Science 320:1201–1204
- Tomka P, Proulx VJ (2015) The evidentiary practice of the World Court. Working Paper 2015/010, National University of Singaore. https://law.nus.edu.sg/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/010_201 5-_Vincent-Joel-Proulx_Tomka.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Toussaint P (2020) Loss and damage and climate litigation: the case for greater interlinkage. Rev Eur Community Int Environ Law 29:1–18
- U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Science and Technology (2010) Engineering the climate: research needs and strategies for international coordination. https://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-srv/nation/pdfs/Geongineeringreport.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Umweltbundesamt (2019) Policy brief: governance of geoengineering. https://www. umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/2378/dokumente/policy_brief_governance_of_ geoengineering_0.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2017) Emissions Gap Report 2017. https:// www.unep.org/resources/emissions-gap-report-2017. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- University of Montana Ethics of Geoengineering Online Resource Center (undated) Ethics of geoengineering intro. http://www.umt.edu/ethics/resourcecenter/why_ethics/default.php. Accessed 1 Apr 2022
- Viñuales J (2020) Due diligence in international environmental law. In: Krieger H, Peters A, Kreuzer L (eds) Due diligence in the international legal order. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 111–128
- Voigt C (2016) The Paris Agreement: what is the standard of conduct for parties? Quest Int Law 26: 17–28
- Wacht F (2017) Article 210. In: Proelss A (ed) United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea a commentary. C.H. Beck, Munich, pp 1408–1420
- Wegelein F (2005) Marine scientific research: the operation and status of research vessels and other platforms in international law. Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Leiden
- Winter G (2011) Climate engineering and international law: last resort or the end of humanity? Rev Eur Community Int Environ Law 20:277–289
- Zeckhauser RJ, Wagner G (2019) The implications of uncertainty and ignorance for solar geoengineering. In: Stavins RN, Stowe RC (eds) Harvard project on climate agreements: governance of the deployment of solar geoengineering, Cambridge, pp 107–111

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.

